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The debt instruments issuance programme prospectus (the
Base Prospectus) and the prospectus relatif au programme
d'émission de titres de créance (the Prospectus de Base),
describing the Programme, together constitute the base
prospectus and the programme documentation for the
purposes of Article 54 of Directive 2003/71/EC (the
Prospectus Directive) as amended (which includes the
amendments made by Directive 2010/73/EU (the 2010 PD
Amending Directive) to the extent that such amendments
have been implemented in a Member State of the European
Economic Area (EEA)) and the listing rules of the SIX Swiss
Exchange Ltd (the SIX Swiss Exchange), respectively. The
Prospectus de Base is a direct translation of the Base
Prospectus. The Issuer accepts responsibility for such
translation.

In respect of any issue of Notes the binding language of the
documentation in respect of such issue (including without
limitation this Base Prospectus) shall be specified in the
applicable Final Terms in which case any documents in
relation to such issue in the other language shall be non-
binding and for information purposes only. Accordingly, the
English version of the Base Prospectus shall be the binding
version and prevail in the event of any discrepancy over the
French version thereof in respect of Notes whose Final Terms
specify English as the binding language and the French
version thereof shall be the binding version and prevail in the
event of any discrepancy over the English version in respect of
Notes whose Final Terms specify French as the binding
language.

SG ISSUER

en qualité d'Emetteur
(Société anonyme de droit luxembourgeois)

et

SOCIETE GENERALE
en qualité de Garant
(Société de droit francgais)

Programme d'Emission de Titres de Créance
de 5.000.000.000 €
(le Programme)

Le prospectus relatif au programme d'emission de titres de
créance (le Prospectus de Base) et le debt instruments
issuance programme prospectus (le Base Prospectus),
décrivant le Programme, constituent ensemble le prospectus
de base et la documentation de programme pour les besoins
de l'article 5.4 de la Directive 2003/71/CE (la Directive
Prospectus) telle que modifiée (ce qui inclut les modifications
apportées par la Directive 2010/73/UE (la Directive de 2010
Modifiant la DP) dans la mesure ou ces modifications ont été
transposées dans un Etat-Membre de I'Espace Economique
Européen (EEE)) et des régles de cotation de la SIX Swiss
Exchange SA (la SIX Swiss Exchange), respectivement. Le
Prospectus de Base est une traduction directe du Base
Prospectus. L'Emetteur accepte la responsabilité de cette
traduction.

Pour toute émission de Titres, la langue de la documentation
d'une telle émission (ce qui comprend, sans limitation, le
Prospectus de Base) faisant foi sera indiquée dans les
Conditions Définitives applicables, ce qui signifie que tout
document relatif a une telle émission rédigé dans l'autre
langue ne fera pas foi et ne sera fourni qu'a des fins
d'information. En conséquence, la version en langue francgaise
du Prospectus de Base sera la version faisant foi et prévaudra,
en cas de différence, sur la version anglaise de ce document
pour les Titres dont les Conditions Définitives prévoient le
francais comme langue faisant foi, et la version anglaise de ce
document sera la version faisant foi et prévaudra, en cas de
différence, sur la version frangaise pour les Titres dont les
Conditions Définitives prévoient I'anglais comme langue
faisant foi.
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DEBT INSTRUMENTS ISSUANCE PROGRAMME PROSPECTUS
Dated 26 June 2012

SOCIETE
GENERALE

SG ISSUER

as Issuer
(incorporated in Luxembourg)

and

SOCIETE GENERALE
as Guarantor

(incorporated in France)

€5,000,000,000
Debt Instruments Issuance Programme

Under this €5,000,000,000 Debt Instruments Issuance Programme (the Programme), SG Issuer (the Issuer) may from time to time issue Notes (the Notes such
definition to include CDls, as defined below, where applicable) denominated in any currency agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s) (as defined below). Notes
issued under the Programme may either be secured (Secured Notes) or unsecured (Unsecured Notes), as specified in the applicable Final Terms and as further
described herein.

Payments in respect of the Notes will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Société Générale (the Guarantor).

Subject as set out herein, the Notes will not be subject to any minimum or maximum maturity. The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Notes from time to time
outstanding will not exceed €5,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies calculated as described herein) or such greater amount as is agreed between the parties
to the programme agreement dated 26 June 2012 (the Programme Agreement, which expression includes the same as it may be updated or supplemented from time to
time).

The Notes will be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified in the "General Description of the Programme" and any additional dealer appointed
under the Programme from time to time (each a Dealer and together the Dealers). Notes may also be issued to third parties other than Dealers. Dealers and such third
parties are referred to as Purchasers. The terms and conditions of the English Law Notes (the English Law Notes) and the Uncertificated Notes (the Uncertificated
Notes) are set out herein in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" and the terms and conditions of the
French Law Notes (the French Law Notes) are set out herein in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes".

English Law Notes may be issued in bearer form (Bearer Notes, which include Bearer SIS Notes (as defined in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes")) or registered form (Registered Notes) or in uncertificated form (EUI Notes) or as Uncertificated SIS Notes (as defined in the
section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes"). Bearer Notes and Registered Notes may be represented by one or more
Global Notes (as defined in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes"). Bearer Notes (other than SIS Notes) will
be deposited with a common depositary (Common Depositary) or, in the case of new global notes (New Global Notes or NGNs), a common safekeeper (Common
Safekeeper) on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System (Euroclear) and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (Clearstream,
Luxembourg). Registered Notes will either (i) be deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee of, DTC (in the case of Rule 144A Global Notes
and Regulation S Global Notes (as defined in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes") only) or (ii) be deposited
with @ Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, or, in the case of Registered Global Notes (as defined in the section headed "Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes") issued under the new safekeeping structure (NSS) registered in the name of a nominee of one of the
International Central Securities Depositaries (ICSDs) acting as Common Safekeeper. Bearer SIS Notes (certified in a Permanent Global SIS Note) will be deposited with
the Swiss securities services corporation SIX SIS Ltd (SIS) or any other intermediary recognised for such purposes by the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd. Uncertificated Notes
shall include Uncertificated SIS Notes and EUI Notes (all as defined and further described in the section headed "Form of the Notes"). Uncertificated Notes will be issued
in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form, in each case, as more fully set out in "Form of the Notes" herein. Noteholders may hold EUI Notes through Euroclear
UK & Ireland Limited (formerly known as CRESTCo Limited) (such clearing system, EUI) either directly (CREST Notes) or through the issuance of CREST Depository
Interests (such securities, CDIs) representing underlying Notes (CREST Notes and CDIs together to be known as EUI Notes). CDlIs are independent securities constituted
under English law and transferred through CREST. CDls will be issued by CREST Depository Limited pursuant to a global deed poll dated 25 June 2001 (as subsequently
modified, supplemented and/or restated, the CREST Deed Poll), as all more fully described in the section headed Book Entry Clearance Systems. French Law Notes (as
defined below) may be issued in dematerialised form or materialised form.

English Law Notes and French Law Notes will constitute obligations under French law, within the meaning of Article L.213-5 of the French Code monétaire et financier, if
so specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Application has been made to the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the CSSF) in its capacity as competent authority under the loi relative aux
prospectus pour valeurs mobilieres dated 10 July 2005 which implements the Prospectus Directive (the Luxembourg Act) to approve this document as a base
prospectus. By approving this Base Prospectus, the CSSF gives no undertaking as to the economic or financial opportuneness of the transaction or the quality or
solvency of the Issuer in line with the provisions of article 7(7) of the Luxembourg Act. Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes
issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange. The regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instrument Directive
2004/39/EC of 21 April 2004 (a Regulated Market). Notes issued under the Programme may also be unlisted or listed and admitted to trading on any other market,
including any other Regulated Market in any Member State of the EEA and/or offered to the public in any Member State of the EEA. The relevant final terms in respect of
the issue of any Notes (as defined below) will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed and admitted to trading on any market and/or offered to the public in any
Member State of the EEA and, if so, the relevant market.

Application has also been made to the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd (the SIX Swiss Exchange) to approve this document as an "issuance programme" for the listing of
derivatives and an "issuance programme" for the listing of bonds, both in accordance with the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange. In respect of Notes to be listed on
the SIX Swiss Exchange, this Base Prospectus and the relevant Final Terms will constitute the listing prospectus pursuant to the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and any other terms and conditions not contained
herein which are applicable to each Tranche (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) of Notes will be set out in a final terms document (the Final Terms)
which (except in the case of Private Placement Notes (as defined below)) will be filed with the CSSF. The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to
trading, as the case may be, on such other or further stock exchanges or markets as may be agreed between the Issuer, the Guarantor and the relevant Purchaser. The
Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading on any market.

The Issuer may agree with any Purchaser that Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as set out herein, in which case
a Base Prospectus Supplement, if appropriate, will be made available which will describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such Notes.

The Notes may be rated at the latest on the relevant Issue Date by one or more rating agencies. The rating(s) of the Notes (if any) will be specified in the relevant Final
Terms, including as to whether or not such credit ratings are issued by credit rating agencies established in the European Union, registered (or which have applied for
registration) under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September 2009, as amended by Regulation (EU) No
513/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council dated 11 May 2011 (the CRA Regulation) and are included in the list of registered credit rating agencies
published at the website of the European Securities and Markets Authority (www.esma.europa.eu.).
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In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency established in the
European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation unless the rating is provided by a credit agency operating in the European Union before 7 June 2010 which
has submitted an application for registration in accordance with the CRA Regulation and such registration is not refused. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or
hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change, or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency without notice.

ARRANGER
Société Générale Corporate & Investment Banking

DEALERS
Société Générale Corporate & Investment Banking
Société Générale Bank & Trust
SG Option Europe
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This Base Prospectus comprises a base prospectus in respect of the Issuer for the purpose of Article 5.4
of Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended by Directive 2010/73/EU (the 2010 PD Amending Directive)) (the
Prospectus Directive) and for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer, the Guarantor
and the Notes which is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and
liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Issuer and the Guarantor.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes
in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such
jurisdiction. The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by
law in certain jurisdictions. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers represent that
this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in
compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant
to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution
or offering. In particular, unless specifically indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no
action has been taken by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers which is intended to
permit a public offering of any Notes outside the European Economic Area (EEA) or distribution of this
Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may
be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other
offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that
will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this
Base Prospectus or any Note comes must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions
on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Notes (see the section headed
"Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions").

An investment in Notes does not constitute a participation in a collective investment scheme within the
meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes (CISA). Therefore, the Notes are not
subject to authorisation or supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA
(FINMA) and investors will not benefit from protection under the CISA or supervision by FINMA.

CERTAIN ISSUES OF NOTES MAY NOT BE SUITABLE INVESTMENTS FOR ALL INVESTORS. NO
INVESTOR SHOULD PURCHASE A NOTE UNLESS SUCH INVESTOR UNDERSTANDS, AND IS ABLE TO
BEAR THE YIELD, MARKET LIQUIDITY, STRUCTURE, REDEMPTION AND OTHER RISKS ASSOCIATED
WITH THE NOTE. FOR FURTHER DETAILS, SEE "RISK FACTORS" HEREIN.

The Issuer and the Guarantor (the Responsible Persons) accept responsibility for the information contained in,
or incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer and
the Guarantor (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained
in, or incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit
anything likely to affect the import of such information.

Subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the only persons authorised to use this Base Prospectus in
connection with an offer of Notes are the persons named in the applicable Final Terms as the relevant Purchaser
or the relevant Managers (as identified in the applicable Final Terms) and the persons named in or identifiable
following the applicable Final Terms as the Financial Intermediaries, as the case may be.

Copies of Final Terms will be available free of charge from the head office of the Issuer and the Guarantor and
the specified office of each of the Paying Agents (as defined below), in each case at the address given at the end
of this Base Prospectus (provided that Final Terms relating to Private Placement Notes will only be available for
inspection by a holder of such Notes upon production of evidence satisfactory to the Issuer or Paying Agent as to
its holding of such Notes and identity). This Base Prospectus and any relevant Final Terms will be published on
the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated
herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference"). This Base Prospectus shall be read and
construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated and form part of this Base Prospectus.



Any person (an Investor) intending to acquire or acquiring any securities from any person (an Offeror) should be
aware that, in the context of an offer to the public as defined in the Prospectus Directive, the Issuer may be
responsible to the Investor for the Base Prospectus only if the Issuer is acting in association with that Offeror to
make the offer to the Investor. Each Investor should therefore verify with the Offeror whether or not the Offeror is
acting in association with the Issuer. If the Offeror is not acting in association with the Issuer, the Investor should
check with the Offeror whether anyone is responsible for the Base Prospectus for the purposes of Article 6 of the
Prospectus Directive as implemented by the national legislation of each EEA Member State in the context of the
offer to the public, and, if so, who that person is. If the Investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on the
Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take legal advice.

No person is or has been authorised by any of the Arranger, the Issuer or the Guarantor to give any information
or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other
information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arranger or
any of the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes
(a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be considered as a
recommendation or a statement of opinion (or a report on either of those things) by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Arranger or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme or the Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating
purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its
own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer and the Guarantor. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any
other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or
on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers to any person to subscribe for or to
purchase any Notes.

None of the Arranger or any Dealer has independently verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no
representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility is accepted by any
Dealer or the Arranger as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer or the Guarantor. None of the
Arranger or any Dealer accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or incorporated by reference
in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer or the Guarantor in connection with the
Programme or the Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any
circumstances imply that the information contained herein concerning the Issuer or the Guarantor is correct at
any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme
or the Notes is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same.
None of the Arranger or any Dealer expressly undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer
or the Guarantor during the life of the Programme or to advise any investor in the Notes of any information
coming to their attention.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Dealers or the Arranger accepts any responsibility for the
contents of this Base Prospectus or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Arranger or a
Dealer or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Guarantor or the issue and offering of any Notes. The
Arranger and each Dealer accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in contract or otherwise (save
as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Base Prospectus or any such statement.

The Notes and any guarantee thereof have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of
1933, as amended, (the Securities Act) or under any state securities laws and neither the Issuer nor the
Guarantor have registered or will register as an investment company under the U.S. Investment Company Act of
1940, as amended (the Investment Company Act). Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered or sold in the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except pursuant to an exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act in a transaction that will not cause the Issuer or the Guarantor, as
the case may be, to become required to register under the Investment Company Act. The Permanently Restricted

Notes (as defined below) may not at any time be offered, sold, resold, traded, pledged, redeemed, transferred or
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delivered, directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, any U.S. person, and
may not be legally or beneficially owned at any time by any U.S. person (as defined in Regulation S, a
U.S. Person) and accordingly are being offered and sold outside the United States to persons that are not U.S.
Persons in reliance on Regulation S. By its purchase of a Note (other than a Permanently Restricted Note), each
purchaser will be deemed to have agreed that it may not resell or otherwise transfer the Note held by it except (a)
to the Issuer or any affiliate thereof, (b) inside the United States to a person that is a qualified purchaser within
the meaning of Section 2(a)(51) of the Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder (a QP) reasonably
believed by the Seller to be a qualified institutional buyer, as defined under Rule 144A under the Securities Act (a
QIB), purchasing for its own account or for the account of a QIB that is also a QP in a transaction meeting the
requirements of Rule 144A, (c) outside the United States in compliance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 under the
Securities Act, or (d) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, in each case in
accordance with all applicable U.S. State securities laws. By its purchase of a Permanently Restricted Note, each
purchaser will be deemed to have agreed that it may not resell or otherwise transfer any Permanently Restricted
Note held by it except outside the United States in an offshore transaction to a person that is not a U.S. Person.
Non-U.S. Registered Notes means Registered Notes sold exclusively outside the United States in reliance on
Regulation S and permanently restricted from sale, transfer or delivery in the United States or to a U.S. Person.
Permanently Restricted Notes means Non-U.S. Registered Notes, Uncertificated Notes which are designated
in the Final Terms to be Permanently Restricted Notes and Dematerialised Notes which are designated in the
Final Terms to be Permanently Restricted Notes.

Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the
United States or its possessions or to United States persons, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S.
Treasury regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) and the U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent subparagraph (ii) below may
apply, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the EEA which has implemented the Prospectus Directive
(each, a Relevant Member State) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as
implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes.
Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of Notes which are
the subject of an offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus as completed by final terms in relation to the offer
of those Notes may only do so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to
publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer
has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in
another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State and (in
either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, provided that any such prospectus has
subsequently been completed by final terms which specify that offers may be made other than pursuant to Article
3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State, such offer is made in the period beginning and
ending on the dates specified for such purpose in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable and the Issuer
has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of such offer. Except to the extent subparagraph (ii) above
may apply, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor does it authorise, the making of any offer of
Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a
prospectus for such offer.



U.S. INFORMATION

This Base Prospectus is being submitted on a confidential basis in the United States to a limited number of QIBs
that are also QPs for informational use solely in connection with the consideration of the purchase of the Notes
being offered hereby. lts use for any other purpose in the United States is not authorised. It may not be copied or
reproduced in whole or in part nor may it be distributed or any of its contents disclosed to anyone other than the
prospective investors to whom it is originally submitted.

Registered Notes (other than Permanently Restricted Notes) may be offered or sold within the United States only
to QIBs that are also QPs in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act and that
will not require the Issuer or the Guarantor to register under the Investment Company Act. Each U.S. purchaser
of Registered Notes (other than Permanently Restricted Notes) is hereby notified that the offer and sale of any
Registered Notes (other than Permanently Restricted Notes) to it may be being made in reliance upon the
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A; provided that
Permanently Restricted Notes may not be offered, sold, resold, traded, pledged, redeemed, transferred or
delivered, directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. Person, and any
offer, sale, resale, trade, pledge, redemption, transfer or delivery made, directly or indirectly, within the United
States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. Person will not be recognised.

Each purchaser or holder of Notes represented by a Rule 144A Global Note or a Combined Global Note (each as
defined below) or any Notes issued in registered form in exchange or substitution therefor (together Legended
Notes) and each purchaser or holder of Permanently Restricted Notes will be deemed, by its acceptance or
purchase of any such Legended Notes or Permanently Restricted Notes to have made certain representations
and agreements intended to restrict the resale or other transfer of such Notes as set out in the section headed
"Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions". Unless otherwise stated, terms used in this paragraph have the
meanings given to them in the section headed "Form of the Notes".

The Notes and the Guarantee have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the SEC), any State securities commission in the United States or any other U.S. regulatory
authority, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of the
Notes or the accuracy or adequacy of this Base Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal
offence in the United States.

NOTICE TO NEW HAMPSHIRE RESIDENTS

NEITHER THE FACT THAT A REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR AN APPLICATION FOR A LICENSE HAS
BEEN FILED UNDER CHAPTER 421-B OF THE NEW HAMPSHIRE REVISED STATUTES WITH THE STATE
OF NEW HAMPSHIRE NOR THE FACT THAT A SECURITY IS EFFECTIVELY REGISTERED OR A PERSON
IS LICENSED IN THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE CONSTITUTES A FINDING BY THE SECRETARY OF
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE THAT ANY DOCUMENT FILED UNDER CHAPTER 421-B IS TRUE,
COMPLETE AND NOT MISLEADING. NEITHER ANY SUCH FACT NOR THE FACT THAT AN EXEMPTION
OR EXCEPTION IS AVAILABLE FOR A SECURITY OR A TRANSACTION MEANS THAT THE SECRETARY
OF STATE HAS PASSED IN ANY WAY UPON THE MERITS OR QUALIFICATIONS OF, OR RECOMMENDED
OR GIVEN APPROVAL TO, ANY PERSON, SECURITY OR TRANSACTION. IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE, OR
CAUSE TO BE MADE, TO ANY PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER, CUSTOMER OR CLIENT ANY
REPRESENTATION INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

To permit compliance with Rule 144A in connection with any resales or other transfers of Notes that are
"restricted securities" within the meaning of the Securities Act, the Issuer has undertaken in a deed poll (the
Deed Poll) to furnish, upon the request of a holder of such Notes or any beneficial interest therein, to such holder
or to a prospective purchaser designated by him, the information required to be delivered under Rule 144A(d)(4)
under the Securities Act if, at the time of the request, the Issuer is neither a reporting company under Section 13
or 15(d) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the Exchange Act) nor exempt from
reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder.



SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

The Issuer is a corporation organised under the laws of Luxembourg (the Relevant Jurisdiction). All of the
officers and directors named herein reside outside the United States and all or a substantial portion of the assets
of the Issuer and of such officers and directors are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be
possible for investors to effect service of process in connection with a cause of action under the laws of a
jurisdiction other than England and Wales outside the Relevant Jurisdiction upon the Issuer or such persons, or
to enforce judgments against them obtained in courts outside the Relevant Jurisdiction predicated upon civil
liabilities of the Issuer or such directors and officers under laws other than those of the Relevant Jurisdiction,
including any judgment predicated upon United States federal securities laws.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

The Issuer maintains its financial books and records and prepares its financial statements in accordance with
financial reporting standards which differ in certain important respects from generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (U.S. GAAP).

INTERPRETATION

Capitalised terms which are used but not defined in any particular section of this Base Prospectus shall have the
meaning attributed thereto in the relevant Terms and Conditions or any other section of this Base Prospectus.

All references in this document and any applicable Final Terms to:

(i) "U.S. dollars" or "U.S.$" refer to the lawful currency of the United States of America, those to "Sterling"
or "£" refer to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, those to "Australian dollars" or "A$" refer to the
lawful currency of Australia, those to "Swiss Francs" refer to the lawful currency of Switzerland, those to
"Japanese Yen" or "¥" refer to the lawful currency of Japan, those to "euro", "Euro" or "€" refer to the
lawful currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union
pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended and those to "Yuan " or
"Renminbi" refer to the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China (the PRC), which for the
purpose of this document, excludes Taiwan and the Special Administrative Regions of the PRC: Hong
Kong and Macau;

(i) any three letter alphabetic currency codes, including but not limited to the three letter alphabetic
currency codes set out below, shall have the meaning given to them pursuant to 1ISO 4217 (the
international standard currency code established by the International Organization for Standardization):

Alphabetic code Country Currency
AUD AUSTRALIA Australian Dollar
CAD CANADA Canadian Dollar
CHF SWITZERLAND Swiss Franc
CNY or RMB CHINA Yuan Renminbi
CzZK CZECH REPUBLIC Czech Koruna
EUR EUROPEAN MEMBER Euro
STATESF'F
GBP UNITED KINGDOM Pound Sterling
HKD HONG KONG Hong Kong Dollar
HUF HUNGARY Forint

! European Member States that have adopted the Euro pursuant to the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the

Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.
9



ILS ISRAEL New Israeli Sheqel

JPY JAPAN Yen
MXN MEXICO Mexican Peso
NOK NORWAY Norwegian Krone
NzD NEW ZEALAND New Zealand Dollar
PLN POLAND Zloty
RON ROMANIA Leu
SEK SWEDEN Swedish Krona
SGD SINGAPORE Singapore Dollar
TRY TURKEY Turkish Lira
uUsD UNITED STATES US Dollar
ZAR SOUTH AFRICA Rand

(iii) the "Terms and Conditions" or the "Conditions" shall be to the terms and conditions of the English Law

Notes, the terms and conditions of Uncertificated Notes and/or the terms and conditions of the French
Law Notes, as appropriate; and

(iv) the "Notes" shall be to the English Law Notes, Uncertificated Notes and/or the French Law Notes, as
appropriate. For the avoidance of doubt, in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes", references to the "Notes" shall be to the English Law Notes
and/or Uncertificated Notes, as the context requires, and in the section headed "Terms and Conditions
of the French Law Notes", references to the "Notes" shall be to the French Law Notes.

STABILISATION

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF ANY TRANCHE OF NOTES, THE DEALER OR DEALERS (IF ANY)
NAMED AS THE STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING
MANAGER(S)) IN THE APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS MAY OVER-ALLOT NOTES OR EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL
HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE
THAT THE STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF A STABILISING
MANAGER) WILL UNDERTAKE STABILISATION ACTION. ANY STABILISATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON
OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF
THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES IS MADE AND, IF BEGUN, MAY BE ENDED AT ANY TIME, BUT IT
MUST END NO LATER THAN THE EARLIER OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE RELEVANT
TRANCHE OF NOTES AND 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE RELEVANT
TRANCHE OF NOTES. ANY STABILISATION ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY
THE RELEVANT STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING
MANAGER(S)) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND RULES.



Summary of the Programme

SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME

This Summary must be read as an introduction to this Base Prospectus and any decision to invest in any Notes
should be based on a consideration of this Base Prospectus as a whole, including any documents incorporated
by reference. Following the implementation of the relevant provisions of the Prospectus Directive in each Member
State of the EEA, no civil liability will attach to the Issuer (the Responsible Person) in any such Member State in
respect of this Summary, including any translation hereof, unless it is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when
read together with the other parts of this Base Prospectus. Where a claim relating to information contained in this
Base Prospectus is brought before a court in a Member State of the EEA, the plaintiff may, under the national
legislation of the Member State where the claim is brought, be required to bear the costs of translating the Base
Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.

Words and expressions defined in the sections headed "Form of the Notes", "Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" and/or "Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes" shall
have the same meanings in this Summary.

Issuer: SG Issuer

The Issuer was incorporated on 16 November 2006, for an unlimited
duration as a public limited liability company (société anonyme) under
the laws of Luxembourg under the legal name of Société Générale
d’Arbitrages et de Participations Luxembourg.

The legal name of the Issuer was changed into SG Issuer by a
decision of the sole shareholder taken on 16 April 2012.

SG lIssuer’s registered office is located at 15, boulevard du Prince
Henri, L-1724 Luxembourg. SG Issuer is registered with the
Luxembourg trade and companies register under No. B 121.363.

The purpose and object of SG Issuer is:

- to issue debt securities, bonds, certificates, warrants (stock
warrants) and other debt instruments, loans against
borrowers’ debt or financial securities, accompanied by
sureties or otherwise, with all types of underlying items
including, without restriction, corporate shares, any other
capital or other type of security, an index, currency,
exchange rate, interest rate, dividend, credit risk, share in
equity, investment company stock, fixed-term deposit, life
insurance policy, loan, goods, forward contract, warrant or
stock warrants, allocated precious metals or otherwise, an
account unit, a basket of commodities or any other factor or
other type of underlying instrument or any combination
thereof;

- to acquire, hold, dispose of, loan, borrow or resell, using all
means, including in particular via a trust or delivered pension,
all types of assets whatever the appellation thereof, and their
structure, accompanied by securities or otherwise: in
particular financial instruments (financial securities: shares,
equity holdings, bonds, certificates, warrants or stock
warrants — or financial agreements: swaps, options or
otherwise), or all other debt instruments and securities or
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Summary of the Programme

Guarantor:

equity shares; and

- to receive and grant money loans (including loans convertible
into shares in the Issuer) - within the Group of companies
that the Issuer belongs to — and to provide guarantees using
all forms (security interests in properties — such as pledges,
mortgages or others - personal sureties or any other form of
guarantee), on its own account, on behalf of the Group of
companies to which the Issuer belongs, or for third parties.

SG Issuer has no subsidiaries.

SG Issuer is a 100 per cent. owned subsidiary of Société Générale
Bank & Trust S.A. and is a fully consolidated company.

Société Générale

Société Générale is a public limited limited company (société
anonyme) established under French law incorporated by deed
approved by Decree on May 4, 1864, and is approved as a bank.

The duration of Société Générale, previously fixed at 50 years with
effect from January 1, 1899, was then extended by 99 years with
effect from January 1, 1949.

Under the legislative and regulatory provisions relating to credit
institutions, notably the articles of the French Monetary and Financial
Code that apply to them, Société Générale is subject to the
commercial laws, in particular articles L. 210-1 and following of the
French Commercial Code as well as its current by-laws.

Société Générale's registered office is at 29, boulevard Haussmann,
Paris, 75009.

In accordance with current legislative and regulatory provisions, it
may be transferred in any other location.

The purpose of Société Générale is, under the conditions determined
by the laws and regulations applicable to credit institutions, to carry
out with individuals and corporate entities, in France or abroad:

- all banking transactions;

- all transactions related to banking operations, including in
particular, investment services or allied services as listed by
articles L. 321-1 and L. 321-2 of the French Monetary and
Financial Code;

- all acquisitions of interests in other companies.

Société Générale may also, on a regular basis, as defined in the
conditions set by the French French Financial and Banking
Regulation Committee, engage in all transactions other than those
mentioned above, including in particular insurance brokerage.

Generally, Société Générale may carry out, on its own behalf, on
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Risk Factors:

behalf of a third-party or jointly, all financial, commercial, industrial,
agricultural, security or property transactions, directly or indirectly
related to the abovementioned activities or likely to facilitate the
accomplishment of such activities.

Société Générale is registered in the "Registre du Commerce et des
Sociétés" of Paris under number 552 120 222 RCS Paris.

Société Générale and its consolidated subsidiaries (filiales
consolidées) taken as a whole are hereinafter referred to as the
Société Générale Group or the Group.

There are certain factors that may affect each of the Issuer's and the
Guarantor's ability to fulfil its obligations with respect to Notes issued
under the Programme. These are set out under the section headed
"Risk Factors" and include the creditworthiness of the Issuer and the
Guarantor (including their respective credit ratings, if applicable),
general operational risks, conflicts of interest, the risk that hedging
and trading activity by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their
affiliates may affect the value of Notes and risks associated with the
lack of independence of the Guarantor and the Issuer, credit and
counterparty risk (including country risk), market risk, operational risks
(including accounting and environmental risks), investment portfolio
risk, non-compliance risk (including legal, tax and reputational risks),
structural interest and exchange rate risk, liquidity risk, strategic risk,
business risk, risk related to insurance activities and risk related to
specialised finance activities. Secured Notes will be subject to
additional or further risks as further described in the section headed
"Risk Factors — Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes"
below.

In addition, there are certain factors which are material for the
purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued
under the Programme (see the section headed "Risk Factors").

Risks relating to Notes depend on their features and may include the
following, all of which are more fully described in the section headed
"Risk Factors": (i) limitation on recourse and rights with respect to
underlyings, (ii) any optional redemption of the Notes by the Issuer
where such a feature is applicable, (iii) limited and/or volatile market
value of the Notes, (iv) redemption when reinvestment circumstances
are not advantageous for a Noteholder, (v) reduced or no payment of
interest, (vi) payment of principal or interest at a different time or in a
different currency than expected and/or (vi) loss of all or part of a
Noteholder's initial investment or anticipated return on such
investment which may be due to the Notes (or the payment of
principal or interest under the Notes) being (a) subject to optional
redemption by the Issuer, (b) determined by reference to an index,
formula, asset, other reference factor (such as securities,
commodities, fund units, exchange rates, a specified preference
share of the Preference Share Issuer (as defined herein), a specified
warrant of the Warrant Issuer (as defined herein), etc.) or a portfolio
of assets (basket of funds, single fund or financial instruments
underlying an index), (c) payable in various currencies, (d) payable,
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Programme Size:

Distribution:

Form of Notes:

as to their issue price, in instalments, (e) subject to caps, floors,
leverage or other factors or any combination thereof, (f) subject to an
inverse floating rate of interest, (g) subject to a fixed-to-floating (or
floating-to-fixed) rate of interest, (h) payments of principal or interest
being linked to the occurrence or non-occurrence of certain events
beyond the control of the Issuer and the Guarantor such as credit,
weather or sporting events, (i) issued at a discount to or premium
from their principal amount, (j) subject to decreases in interest or
principal payable depending on changes in the creditworthiness of a
reference entity or reference obligation, (k) linked to currencies and/or
(I) Notes denominated in CNY. Other risks relating to the Notes
include (i) binding decisions of meetings of Noteholders, (ii) no
payment of additional amounts (in certain circumstances) in relation
to taxes withheld from payments under the Notes, (iii) changes in law,
(iv) increased regulation, (v) legality of purchase or legal investment
considerations, (vi) taxation considerations, (vii) lack of a liquid
secondary trading market for the Notes, (viii) Noteholders receiving
payments in currency other than that of their financial activities, (ix)
changes in interest rates, (x) in relation to any issue of Notes which
have a minimum denomination and are tradable in the clearing
systems in amounts above such minimum denomination which are
smaller than it, an investor not receiving all of its entitlement if
definitive Notes are issued, (xi) credit ratings not reflecting all risks
relating to the Notes, (xii) certain investors being subject to laws and
regulations or review or regulation by certain authorities, (xiii) the fact
that the Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors, (xiv)
the fact that the Notes may be subject to certain transfer restrictions
and/or (xv) risks relating to Secured Notes.

€5,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies calculated on the
Agreement Date as defined in the Programme Agreement)
outstanding at any time. The Issuer and the Guarantor may increase
the amount of the Programme in accordance with the terms of the
Programme Agreement.

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and in
each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

English Law Notes

Each Series of Notes (as defined in the section headed "Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes")
specified in the applicable Final Terms to be governed by English law
(any such Notes, English Law Notes) will be either (i) Bearer Notes
including Bearer SIS Notes (with or without Receipts or Coupons
attached) issued outside the United States in reliance on Regulation
S under the Securities Act (ii) Registered Notes (without Receipts or
Coupons attached) issued outside the United States in reliance on the
exemption from registration provided by Regulation S and/or within
the United States in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act,
(iii) EUI Notes or (iv) Uncertificated SIS Notes.

Non-U.S. Registered Notes will only be issued in registered form.

Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and
14
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may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its
possessions or to United States persons, except in certain
transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury regulations. Terms used in
this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) and the U.S. Treasury regulations
promulgated thereunder.

Bearer Notes will on issue be represented by a Temporary Global
Note, a Permanent Global Note or a Permanent Global SIS Note
as specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Temporary Global
Note and the Permanent Global Note will, in each case, be deposited
with a Common Depositary or, in the case of New Global Notes (or
NGNs), a Common Safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg on or before the relevant Issue Date.
Permanent Global SIS Notes will be deposited with the Swiss
securities services corporation, SIX SIS Ltd (SIS) or any other
intermediary recognised for such purposes by the SIX Swiss
Exchange. Interests in a Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable
either for (a) interests in a Permanent Global Note or (b) Definitive
Bearer Notes, as indicated in the applicable Final Terms. Permanent
Global Notes will be exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes, in
limited circumstances, including upon the occurrence of an Exchange
Event, as described in the section "Form of the Notes". Permanent
Global SIS Notes will be exchangeable for Definitive Bearer SIS
Notes only upon the occurrence of a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange
Event.

Registered Notes will on issue be represented by a Registered Global
Note deposited with, and registered in the name of a nominee of, a
Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or,
in the case of Registered Notes which will be exchangeable for
Definitive Registered Notes in certain circumstances set out in such
Registered Global Notes, issued under the new safekeeping structure
(NSS) registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting
as Common Safekeeper. Persons holding beneficial interests in
Registered Global Notes will be entitled or required, as the case may
be, to receive physical delivery of Definitive Registered Notes.

Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes and vice
versa.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Bearer Global
Note or a Registered Global Note held by a Common Depositary or,
in the case of New Global Notes or Registered Global Notes issued
under the NSS, a Common Safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg, each person who is for the time being
shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg
as entitled to a particular nominal amount of Notes shall be deemed
to be the Holder of such nominal amount of Notes for all purposes
other than with respect to the payment of principal, premium (if any),
interest or other amounts on such Notes, for which purpose such
Common Depositary or, in the case of New Global Notes or
Registered Global Notes issued under the NSS, a Common
Safekeeper shall be deemed to be the Holder of such nominal
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amount of Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the
relevant Global Note.

New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes issued under the
NSS may be issued with the intention that such Notes be recognised
as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day
credit operations by the Eurosystem, either upon issue or at any or all
times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction
of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria as specified by the European
Central Bank. However, there is no guarantee that such Notes will be
recognised as eligible collateral. Any other Notes are not intended to
be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy
and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem.

Special procedures apply to Bearer SIS Notes (see the section "Form
of the Notes").

Uncertificated Notes

Each Series of Notes specified in the applicable Final Terms to be in
uncertificated form (Uncertificated Notes) will be in uncertificated
and dematerialised form and will be cleared through a central
securities depositary and clearing institution. Uncertificated Notes
shall include Uncertificated SIS Notes and EUl Notes and special
procedures apply to each such category of Notes (all as further
described in the section "Form of the Notes").

Noteholders may hold EUI Notes through Euroclear UK & Ireland
Limited (formerly known as CRESTCo Limited) (EUI) either directly
(CREST Notes) or through the issuance of CREST Depository
Interests (such securities, CDIs) representing underlying Notes
(CREST Notes).

The CDIs will be issued and settled through CREST.

Neither the Notes nor any rights thereto will be issued, held,
transferred or settled within the CREST system otherwise than
through the issue, holding, transfer and settlement of CDls.

Holders of CDIs will not be entitled to deal directly in Notes and
accordingly all dealings in the Notes will be effected through CREST
in relation to holding of CDls.

French Law Notes

Each Series of Notes specified in the applicable Final Terms to be
governed by French law (French Law Notes) may be issued as
either Dematerialised Notes or Materialised Notes.

Dematerialised Notes may, at the option of the Issuer, be issued in
bearer dematerialised form (au porteur) or in registered
dematerialised form (au nominatif) and, in such latter case, at the
option of the relevant Noteholder, in either fully registered (nominatif
pur) or administered registered (nominatif administré) form. No
physical document of title will be issued in respect of Dematerialised
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Clearing Systems:

Initial Delivery of Notes:

Terms of Notes:

Notes. See the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the French
Law Notes - Form, Denomination, Redenomination and Title".

Materialised Notes will be in bearer materialised form only. A
Temporary Global Certificate will be issued initially in respect of each
Tranche of Materialised Notes. Materialised Notes may only be
issued outside France.

Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear, DTC, EUI or SIS and, in
relation to any Series or Tranche, such other clearing system as may
be agreed between the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, the Registrar and the
relevant Dealers.

On or before the Issue Date for each Series or Tranche, the Global
Note representing Bearer Notes or the certificate representing
Registered Notes may (or, in the case of Notes to be listed on the
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to be admitted to
trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Regulated Market,
shall) be deposited with a Common Depositary or Common
Safekeeper, as applicable, for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg. Global Notes or certificates relating to Registered
Notes that are not listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange may also be deposited with any other clearing system or
may be delivered outside any clearing system provided that the
method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by the Issuer,
the Fiscal Agent, the Registrar and the relevant Dealers. Registered
Notes that are to be credited to one or more clearing systems on
issue will be registered in the name of nominees or a common
nominee for such clearing systems.

Special procedures apply to SIS Notes.

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or a partly-paid basis and at an
Issue Price which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par,
as set out in the applicable Final Terms.

Notes may be denominated in any agreed currency and with any
agreed maturity, subject to any applicable legal or regulatory
restrictions and any requirements of the relevant central bank (or
equivalent body).

The terms of the Notes will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In addition to any other form of Notes agreed by the Issuer and the
relevant Purchaser(s), the following types of Note may be issued: (i)
Fixed Rate Notes; (ii) Partly Paid Notes; (iii) Floating Rate Notes; (iv)
Index Linked Notes (including, without limitation, Equity Linked Notes,
Fund Linked Notes, Credit Linked Notes, Managed Assets Portfolio
Linked Notes, Commodity Linked Notes, Preference Share Linked
Notes or Warrant Linked Notes); (v) Dual Currency Notes; (vi)
Physical Delivery Notes; (vii) Zero Coupon Notes; and (viii) Secured
Notes and Unsecured Notes.

Interest periods, rates of interest and the terms of and/or amounts
payable on redemption may differ depending on the Notes being
17
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Guarantee:

issued and such terms will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the Notes cannot
be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than in specified
instalments, if applicable, or for taxation reasons or following an Event
of Default) or that such Notes (if Physical Delivery Notes) may be
settled at maturity or otherwise by receipt by the holder(s) of a cash
amount and/or by delivery of the relevant Underlying Assets or that
such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer and/or the
Noteholders. The terms of any such redemption, including notice
periods, any relevant conditions to be satisfied and the relevant
redemption dates and prices will be indicated in the applicable Final
Terms.

The applicable Final Terms may provide that Notes may be
redeemable in two or more instalments of such amounts and on such
dates as are indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year from the date of issue
are subject to certain restrictions on their denomination and
distribution.

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s) as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms save that the minimum denomination of each
Note will be such amount as may be allowed or required from time to
time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or
regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency.

The Issuer may from time to time issue further Notes of any Series on
the same terms as existing Notes and such further Notes shall be
consolidated and form a single Series with such existing Notes. Each
Series may be issued in tranches (each a Tranche) on the same or
different issue dates.

The due and punctual payment of any amounts due by the Issuer in
respect of any Notes will be unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed by the Guarantor as provided in the deed of guarantee
dated 26 June 2012 (the Guarantee) in substantially the same form
as set out in the section entitled "Form of Deed of Guarantee"
(provided that the Guarantee shall not apply to any Series of Notes
issued on or after the date of the Guarantee to the extent that, at the
Issue Date of such Series of Notes, the sum of (A) the Aggregate
Nominal Amount of such Series of Notes and (B) the Aggregate
Nominal Amounts of each Series of Notes issued by the Issuer and
outstanding on such Issue Date, in each case, converted into Euro at
the relevant spot rate of exchange on such Issue Date, is equal to an
amount which exceeds €5,000,000,000), all as more specifically set
forth in Condition 3(b) appearing in the section headed "Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes"
and in Condition 2(b) appearing in the section headed "Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes".
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Status of Notes:

Security:

The Notes will either be Unsecured Notes or Secured Notes, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Unsecured Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank pari passu
without any preference among themselves and (save for certain
obligations required to be preferred by law) pari passu with all other
direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of
the Issuer.

Secured Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, secured, limited
recourse and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank
pari passu without any preference among themselves and (save for
certain obligations required to be preferred by law) pari passu with all
other direct, unconditional, secured, Ilimited recourse and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer.

For the avoidance doubt, any payment due from the Issuer under
Unsecured Notes and Secured Notes will be guaranteed by the
Guarantor under the Guarantee.

In relation to each Series of Secured Notes, in order to secure its
obligations in respect of such Notes, the Issuer will either (i) enter into
a Pledge Agreement or (ii) if the applicable Final Terms in respect of
a Series of Secured Notes specify that "Multiple Series Collateral
Pool" will be applicable and a Pledge Agreement in relation to such
Multiple Series Collateral Pool has already been entered into by the
Issuer, extend the Secured Liabilities secured pursuant to such
Pledge Agreement to include the Series of Secured Notes being
issued. Each Pledge Agreement will be governed by the Luxembourg
act dated 5 August 2005 on financial collateral arrangements, as
amended.

Under each Pledge Agreement, the Issuer will grant first ranking
security over the Collateral Assets held in one or more accounts held
by the Issuer with The Bank of New York Mellon (Luxembourg) S.A.
or such other custodian or account bank as is specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

In order to ensure that a Series of Secured Notes is collateralised in
accordance with its terms, the value of the assets on which such
Notes are secured may be tested and the assets securing such Notes
subsequently adjusted on a periodic basis, all as more fully described
in the section "General Description of the Collateral Arrangements in
Respect of Secured Notes" and as set forth in the Collateral Technical
Annex.

Following the occurrence of a Secured Note Acceleration Event (as
defined in the Collateral Conditions), all Noteholders whose Notes
have become immediately due and payable will first be entitled to
claim for any outstanding amounts due to them under the terms of the
Guarantee. If neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor (pursuant to the
terms of the Guarantee) has paid all amounts due to Noteholders
within a period of 20 Collateral Business Days following the
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Limited Recourse and Non-Petition:

Events of Default:

occurrence of a Secured Note Acceleration Event, Noteholders may
send a notice in writing to the Security Trustee (in the case of English
Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes)
requesting that the relevant Pledge Agreement be enforced in
accordance with the terms thereof.

The obligations of the Issuer to the holders of Secured Notes are
limited in recourse to the Collateral Assets contained in the relevant
Collateral Pool securing such Series of Secured Notes. In particular,
the Collateral Assets contained in any other Collateral Pool will not be
available to satisfy amounts due in respect of any Secured Notes
which are not secured by that Collateral Pool.

No Noteholder shall be entitled to take any steps or proceedings to
procure the winding-up, administration or liquidation (or any other
analogous proceeding) of the Issuer.

The terms of the Notes will contain events of default along the
following lines:

(i) the Issuer is in default with respect to the payment of interest
or principal when due or the delivery of Underlying Assets
deliverable in respect of the Notes (save for late delivery in
the circumstances referred to in Condition 5(j) appearing in
the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" and in
Condition 5(f) appearing in the section headed "Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes"), which default, in the
case of any interest payment, has continued, uncorrected for
a specified period of time; or

(ii) the Issuer is in default in the performance of any other
obligation under the Terms and Conditions, which default
has continued uncorrected for a specified period of time; or

(iii) the Issuer institutes or has instituted against it by a regulator,
supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency,
rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the
jurisdiction of its incorporation or the jurisdiction of its head
office, or the Issuer consents to a proceeding seeking a
judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief
under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law
affecting creditors’ rights, or the Issuer consents to a petition
for its winding-up or liquidation by it or by such regulator,
supervisor or similar official, provided that proceedings
instituted or petitions presented by creditors and not
consented to by the Issuer shall not constitute an Event of
Default; or

(iv) the Guarantee ceases to be in full force and effect in respect
of the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons, or notice is given
by the Guarantor which would cause the Guarantee to cease
to be in full force and effect in respect of the Notes, the
Receipts or the Coupons, or is rendered void for any cause
or by any means whatsoever or any legislation is introduced
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Taxation:

Use of Proceeds:

Rating:

Listing and admission to trading:

the result of which would be to remove the benefit of the
Guarantee from the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons, or
terminate or amend the same in a manner materially
adverse to the interests of the Noteholders, the
Receiptholders or the Couponholders, or the Guarantor is
unable to perform its obligations thereunder for any reason;
or

(v) in relation to Secured Notes only, if the Collateral Monitoring
Agent delivers a Required Collateral Default Notice in
relation to a Collateral Pool securing such Secured Notes,

all as more fully described in Condition 9 of the section headed
"Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes" or, as appropriate, Condition 8 of the section
headed "Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes".

All payments in respect of the Notes will be made without deduction
for or on account of withholding taxes imposed by any jurisdiction,
unless such withholding is required by law. In the event that any such
deduction is made for or on account of taxes imposed by any Tax
Jurisdiction, the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, will pay
such additional amounts to cover the amounts withheld in certain
limited circumstances provided in Condition 7 of the section headed
"Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes" and Condition 6 of the section headed "Terms
and Conditions of the French Law Notes", be required to pay
additional amounts to cover the amounts so deducted.

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied for the
general financing purposes of the Société Générale Group, which
include making a profit. If, in respect of any particular issue of Notes,
there is a particular identified use of proceeds, in addition to or other
than the foregoing, this will be stated in the applicable Final Terms.

The rating, if any, of certain Series of Notes to be issued under the
Programme may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms will specify whether such ratings are
issued by credit rating agencies established in the European Union,
and whether such credit rating agency is registered (or has applied for
registration) under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European
Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September 2009, as
amended by Regulation (EU) No 513/2011 of the European
Parliament and of the Council dated 11 May 2011 (the CRA
Regulation) and are included in the list of registered credit rating
agencies published at the website of the European Securities and
Markets Authority (www.esma.europa.eu).

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and
may be subject to suspension, change, or withdrawal at any time by
the assigning rating agency without notice.

Application has been made to the Commission de surveillance du
secteur financier (CSSF) in its capacity as competent authority to
21



Summary of the Programme

Governing Law:

Selling Restrictions:

United States Selling Restrictions:

approve the Base Prospectus as a base prospectus for the purposes
of article 5.4 of the Prospective Directive.

Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
for Notes issued under the Programme during the period of twelve
months from the date of publication of this Base Prospectus to be
admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange. By approving this Base Prospectus, the CSSF does
not assume any responsibility as to the economic or financial
soundness of this transaction or the quality or solvency of the Issuer.

Application has also been made to the SIX Swiss Exchange to
approve the Programme as an "issuance programme" for the listing of
derivatives and an "issuance programme" for the listing of bonds, both
in accordance with the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange. In
respect of Notes to be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, the Base
Prospectus, together with the relevant applicable Final Terms, will
constitute the listing prospectus pursuant to the listing rules of the SIX
Swiss Exchange. As no application has been made to the SIX Swiss
Exchange to approve the Programme as an "issuance programme"
for the listing of exchange traded products (ETPs), products which
classify as ETPs in accordance with the regulations of SIX Swiss
Exchange will not be listed as ETPs but as derivatives.

Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on
other or further stock exchanges or markets agreed between the
Issuer and the relevant Purchaser in relation to the Series. Notes
which are neither listed nor admitted to trading on any market may
also be issued.

In particular, Notes (including EUI Notes) issued may be admitted to
the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and admitted to trading on
the London Stock Exchange.

The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the relevant
Notes are to be listed and/or admitted to trading and, if so, on which
stock exchanges and/or markets.

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with the Notes will be governed by, and shall be construed
in accordance with, English law or French law, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms. The Guarantee and any non-contractual
obligations arising out of or in connection with the Guarantee will be
governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

Restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes are set out in
the section headed "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions".

Regulation S, Category 2. Rule 144A and TEFRA C, TEFRA D or
TEFRA Rules not applicable as specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act. Additional
selling restrictions may apply as specified in the applicable Final
Terms.
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Permanently Restricted Notes, or any interest therein, may not at any
time be offered, sold, resold, traded, pledged, redeemed, transferred
or delivered, directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the
account or benefit of, a U.S. Person.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following General Description does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its
entirety by, the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the Terms and Conditions of any particular
Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms. The Issuer and any relevant Purchaser may agree that Notes shall
be issued in a form other than that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions, in which event, in the case of
listed Notes only, if appropriate, a Base Prospectus Supplement will be published.

This General Description constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3) of
Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 implementing the Prospectus Directive.

Words and expressions defined in the sections headed "Form of the Notes", "Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" or, as the case may be, "Terms and Conditions of the French
Law Notes" shall have the same meanings in this General Description.

Issuer: SG Issuer

Guarantor: Société Générale

Description: Debt Instruments Issuance Programme
Arranger: Société Générale

Dealers: Société Générale

Société Générale Bank & Trust

SG Option Europe

and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the
Programme Agreement.

Certain Restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which
particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which
comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or
reporting requirements in full force (see the section headed
"Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions") including the
following restrictions applicable at the date of this Base
Prospectus.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes having a maturity of less than one year will, if the proceeds
of the issue are accepted in the United Kingdom, constitute
deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting deposits
contained in Section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 unless they are issued to a limited class of professional
investors and have a denomination of at least £100,000 or its
equivalent, see the section headed "Subscription, Sale and
Transfer Restrictions".

Under Part Il of the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 2005 on
prospectuses for securities, which implements the Prospectus
Directive, prospectuses relating to money market instruments
having a maturity at issue of less than twelve months and
complying also with the definition of "securities" are not subject to
the approval provisions of Part Il of such Act.
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Fiscal Agent:

Registrar, Transfer Agent and
Exchange Agent:

Paying Agents:

Programme Size:

Distribution:

Currencies:

Redenomination and/or Consolidation:

Maturities:

Société Générale Bank & Trust

Société Générale Bank & Trust

Société Générale (Paris), Société Générale, New York Branch,
and/or any such additional or successor paying agent appointed in
accordance with Condition 11 of the section headed "Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes"
and Condition 10 of the section headed "Terms and Conditions of
the French Law Notes".

The Issuer may appoint or (as the case may be) maintain an
additional paying agent in each jurisdiction where Uncertificated
Notes (as defined in the section headed "Form of the Notes") are
registered and, if appropriate, for so long as any Uncertificated
Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the Issuer
will maintain a paying agent with a specified office in Luxembourg,
all as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In respect of EUl Notes, particularly all EUI Notes listed on the
London Stock Exchange, the Issuer may appoint or (as the case
may be) maintain an additional paying agent in the United
Kingdom.

In respect of SIS Notes, Société Générale, Paris, Zurich Branch
shall act as Principal Swiss Paying Agent, together with further
additional Swiss Paying Agents which may be specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

€5,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies calculated on
the Agreement Date as defined in the Programme Agreement)
outstanding at any time. The Issuer and the Guarantor may
increase the amount of the Programme in accordance with the
terms of the Programme Agreement.

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and
in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

Notes may be denominated in euro, Sterling, U.S. dollars,
Japanese Yen, Swiss Francs and, subject to compliance with any
applicable laws and regulations, Renminbi or any other currency as
may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s)
as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms may provide that certain Notes may be
redenominated in euro. The relevant provisions applicable to any
such redenomination are contained in Condition 1 of the section
headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes" and Condition 1 of the section headed
"Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes". Notes
denominated in a currency that may be converted into euro may be
subject to consolidation with other Notes denominated in euro.

Any maturity as indicated in the applicable Final Terms subject to
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Issue Price:

Fixed Rate Notes:

Partly Paid Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

Index Linked Notes:

such minimum or maximum maturities as may be allowed or
required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or
equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the Issuer
or the relevant Specified Currency.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year from the date of
issue are subject to certain restrictions on their denomination and
distribution (see the paragraph "Certfain Restrictions — Notes
having a maturity of less than one year" above).

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or a partly-paid basis and at
an issue price (expressed either (i) as a percentage of the
Aggregate Nominal Amount or (ii) as an amount per Note of the
relevant Specified Denomination) which is at par or at a discount
to, or premium over, par (as specified in the applicable Final
Terms).

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s) (as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms) and on redemption and will
be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s) as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

The Issue Price of Partly Paid Notes will be payable in more than
one instalment.

While any part payments of the subscription moneys due from the
holder of Partly Paid Notes are overdue, no interest in a Temporary
or Permanent Global Note representing such Notes may be
exchanged for Definitive Bearer Notes.

If any Noteholder fails to pay any part payment due on any Partly
Paid Notes within the time specified, the Issuer may have a right to
redeem such Notes if so specified, and on the terms set out, in the
applicable Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined (i) on the
same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate swap
transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an
agreement evidenced by a confirmation incorporating the 2006
ISDA Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc. and as amended and updated as at
the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant
Series) or (ii) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on an
agreed screen page of a commercial quotation service or (iii) on
such other basis as may be agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Purchaser(s) (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s) for each issue of
Floating Rate Notes and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Payments of principal and/or of interest in respect of Index Linked

Notes will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula

or to changes in the prices of securities (including, without
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Equity Linked Notes:

Fund Linked Notes:

Commodity Linked Notes:

Credit Linked Notes:

limitation, shares (any such Index Linked Notes, Equity Linked
Notes)) or funds (any such Index Linked Notes, Fund Linked
Notes) or commodities (any such Index Linked Notes, Commodity
Linked Notes) or the creditworthiness of a reference entity or
reference obligation (any such Index Linked Notes, Credit Linked
Notes) or by reference to the performance of certain assets (any
such Index Linked Notes, Managed Assets Portfolio Linked
Notes) or a specified preference share of the Preference Share
Issuer (as defined herein) (any such Index Linked Notes,
Preference Share Linked Notes) or a specified warrant of the
Warrant Issuer (as defined herein) (any such Index Linked Notes,
Warrant Linked Notes) or by reference to futures contracts on the
same or to such other factors as the Issuer and the relevant
Purchaser(s) may agree (as indicated in the applicable Final
Terms) and as more described below.

Payments in respect of Equity Linked Securities will be calculated
by reference to one or more shares, ADRs, indices, SGI indices,
dividends and exchange traded funds as agreed between the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable
Final Terms. Equity Linked Securities may also provide for
redemption by physical delivery of the Underlying Asset(s) as set
out in the Equity Technical Annex. Equity Linked Securities may be
subject to early redemption or adjustment if certain corporate
events, de-listing, merger or de-merger, nationalisation or
insolvency occur in respect of a Share or an ADR, all as more fully
described in the Equity Technical Annex.

Payments in respect of Fund Linked Notes will be calculated by
reference to units, interests or shares in a single fund or basket of
funds on such terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Fund Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical
delivery of the Underlying Asset(s) as set out in the Fund Technical
Annex. Fund Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment or early
redemption, as applicable, or if certain corporate events (such as
insolvency, regulatory events, liquidity modification, merger
occurring with respect to a Fund) occur, all as more fully described
in the Fund Technical Annex.

Payments in respect of Commodity Linked Notes will be calculated
by reference to one or more commodities and/or commodity
indices as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s)
and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Commodity Linked
Notes may be subject to adjustment (including as to valuations) if
certain events occur with respect to a Commodity or Commaodity
Index (such as a trading disruption, disappearance of, or disruption
in publication of, a reference price and in certain circumstances a
change in the formula for calculating a reference price or a change
in the content of a Commodity or Commaodity Index) or an Index
Disruption Event, all as more fully described in the Commodity
Technical Annex.

Payments in respect of Credit Linked Notes will be linked to the
credit of a specified entity or entities and will be issued on such
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Managed Assets Portfolio Linked
Notes:

Other provisions in relation to Floating
Rate Notes and Index Linked Notes:

Dual Currency Notes:

Physical Delivery Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes:

Secured Notes:

Preference Share Linked Notes:

terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. In the event
of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include,
amongst other things, Bankruptcy, Failure to Pay, Obligation
Acceleration, Obligation Default, Repudiation/Moratorium or
Restructuring) in relation to a Reference Entity or, with respect to
Basket Notes and Tranche Notes, Reference Entities, in each case
as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the obligation of the
Issuer to pay principal at maturity may be replaced by (i) an
obligation to pay other amounts which are equal to either certain
fixed amount(s) as specified in the applicable Final Terms or
amounts calculated by reference to the value of the underlying
asset(s) (which may, in each case, be less than the par value of
the Notes at the relevant time) and/or (ii) an obligation to deliver
the underlying asset(s), all as more fully described in the Credit
Technical Annex.

Payments in respect of Managed Assets Portfolio Linked Notes will
be calculated by reference to a portfolio of assets (basket of funds,
funds or financial instruments underlying an index) on such terms
as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s)
and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Managed Assets
Portfolio Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment or early
redemption if certain events occur with respect to the relevant
portfolio of assets, all as more fully described in the Managed
Assets Portfolio Linked Notes Technical Annex.

Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Notes may also have a
maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both, or be
subject to a rate multiplier, in each case as set forth in the
applicable Final Terms.

Payments in respect of Dual Currency Notes (whether in respect of
principal and/or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) will
be made in such currency or currencies, and based on such rate or
rates of exchange, as the Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s)
may agree (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).

Payments in respect of Physical Delivery Notes (whether in respect
of principal and/or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise)
and any delivery of any Underlying Asset(s) in respect of Physical
Delivery Notes will be made in accordance with the terms of the
applicable Final Terms, subject always to applicable securities
laws.

Zero Coupon Notes will not bear interest (other than in the case of
late payment).

See the section "General Description of the Collateral
Arrangements in respect of Secured Notes" below.

The redemption amount payable in respect of Preference Share
Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to the performance of
a single specified preference share of Solentis Investment
Solutions PCC (the Preference Share Issuer).
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Warrant Linked Notes:

Redemption:

Amounts payable in respect of Warrant Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to warrants issued by the Warrant Issuer.

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the Notes
cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than in
specified instalments, if applicable, or for taxation reasons or
following an Event of Default or in the event of an Optional
Outstanding Notes Trigger Call or, in relation to Secured Notes
only, following the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event) or
that such Notes (if Physical Delivery Notes) may be settled at
maturity or otherwise by receipt by the holder(s) of a cash amount
and/or by delivery of the relevant Underlying Assets or that such
Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer and/or the
Noteholders upon giving not less than thirty nor more than forty five
days' irrevocable notice (or such other notice period (if any) as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms) to the Noteholders or the
Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to
such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as
may be agreed between the Issuer and Purchaser(s) as indicated
in the applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms may provide that Notes may be

redeemable in two or more instalments of such amounts and on
such dates as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE COLLATERAL ARRANGEMENTS IN RESPECT OF SECURED NOTES

The following is a summary of the security and collateral arrangements in relation to Notes to which the
additional Terms and Conditions set out in the Collateral Technical Annex (the Collateral Conditions) are
specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms (such Notes being hereinafter referred to as
Secured Notes). Terms used but not otherwise defined in this summary shall have the meaning given to
them in the Collateral Conditions.

General

In relation to each Series of Secured Notes, in order to secure its obligations in respect of such Notes, the Issuer
will enter into a pledge agreement (each a Pledge Agreement) which will be governed by the Luxembourg act
dated 5 August 2005 on financial collateral arrangements, as amended (the Collateral Act 2005). Under each
Pledge Agreement, the Issuer will grant first ranking security over the Collateral Assets (as defined below)
contained in one or more accounts (such accounts together being referred to as the Collateral Account) held by
the Issuer with The Bank of New York Mellon (Luxembourg) S.A. or such other custodian or account bank as is
specified in the applicable Final Terms (the Collateral Custodian), pursuant to the terms of a custodian
agreement between, inter alia, the Issuer and the Collateral Custodian (the Collateral Custodian Agreement).

The security granted under each Pledge Agreement will be granted either in favour of (i) in the case of English
Law Notes, BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited or such other security trustee as is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as security trustee (the Security Trustee) on behalf of itself and the relevant Noteholders
and the other relevant Secured Parties (as defined in the Collateral Conditions) or (ii) in the case of French Law
Notes, directly in favour of the relevant Noteholders and the other relevant Secured Parties as represented by
BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited or such other security agent as is specified in the applicable
Final Terms as security agent (the Security Agent).

In relation to each Series of English Law Notes secured pursuant to a Pledge Agreement, the Security Trustee
appointed as pledgee pursuant to such Pledge Agreement will enter into a security trust deed governed by
English law (a Security Trust Deed). Under the terms of each Security Trust Deed, the Security Trustee will
covenant that it will exercise its rights under the relevant Pledge Agreement on behalf of and as trustee for the
Noteholders and will declare a trust in favour of the Noteholders and the other relevant Secured Parties over the
rights granted to it under the relevant Pledge Agreement.

In relation to each Series of French Law Notes secured pursuant to a Pledge Agreement, the Terms and
Conditions of such Series will provide that the Security Agent will be appointed as agent of the relevant
Noteholders in order to create, manage and enforce the relevant Pledge Agreement and the security created
thereunder in their name and on their behalf pursuant to article 2328-1 of the French Code Civil. The subscription
or purchase of French Law Notes secured by a Pledge Agreement by the Noteholders of the relevant Series will
result in the appointment of the Security Agent in respect thereof. The relevant Noteholders will be deemed to
have notice of the provisions of the relevant Pledge Agreement and the Security Agency Agreement (as defined
below). In addition, the Security Agent has entered into a security agency agreement governed by French law
(the Security Agency Agreement) governing the role of the Security Agent in relation to each Series of Secured
Notes governed by French law.

Nature of Collateral Assets

Assets held in a Collateral Account are referred to as Collateral Assets. The Collateral Assets held in a
Collateral Account and secured pursuant to a Pledge Agreement are together referred to as the Collateral Pool.
Collateral Assets contained in a Collateral Pool may comprise:

- cash;
- debt securities (including, but not limited to, government bonds, corporate bonds, covered bonds and

asset backed securities);
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- equity securities;
- shares, units or interests in a fund; and/or
- any other asset.

In order to be included in the calculation of the Collateral Value (as defined below), Collateral Assets must satisfy
the eligibility criteria (the Eligibility Criteria) specified in the applicable Final Terms relating to such Series of
Secured Notes. Collateral Assets satisfying the relevant Eligibility Criteria are referred to as Eligible Collateral
Assets.

The Eligibility Criteria specified in the applicable Final Terms will set out the criteria which must be met for
Collateral Assets to constitute Eligible Collateral Assets and may include, amongst other things, limitations on the
type of Collateral Assets that may be held, the maturity of the Collateral Assets, the liquidity of the Collateral
Assets, requirements regarding the jurisdiction of the obligor of the Collateral Assets or its guarantor or the credit
rating of the obligor of the Collateral Assets or its guarantor and/or any other limitations, restrictions and/or
requirements concerning the Collateral Assets as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In addition the collateral rules (the Collateral Rules) specified in the applicable Final Terms will set out the rules
which must be satisfied in order for the Collateral Test (as defined below) to be satisfied. The Collateral Rules
may include, amongst other things, requirements relating to the diversification of types of Eligible Collateral
Assets, the geographical location of the Eligible Collateral Assets or the currency of the Eligible Collateral Assets
which may be held in a Collateral Pool and/or any other limitations, restrictions and/or requirements concerning
the Eligible Collateral Assets contained in the relevant Collateral Pool as may be specified in the applicable Final
Terms. For the avoidance of doubt, the Collateral Rules relating to a particular Collateral Pool will be satisfied to
the extent that Eligible Collateral Assets with a Collateral Value (as defined below) at least equal to the Required
Collateral Value (as defined below) together satisfy the Collateral Rules.

Single Series Collateral Pool and Multiple Series Collateral Pool

A Collateral Pool may be either a Single Series Collateral Pool or a Multiple Series Collateral Pool, each as
further provided below.

Where the applicable Final Terms in respect of a Series of Secured Notes specify that "Single Series Collateral
Pool" will be applicable to the Series of Secured Notes, such Series of Secured Notes will be the only Series of
Secured Notes to be secured by the relevant Collateral Pool.

Where the applicable Final Terms in respect of a Series of Secured Notes specify that "Multiple Series Collateral
Pool" will be applicable to the relevant Series of Secured Notes, such Series of Secured Notes may be secured
by a Collateral Pool which secures one or more Series of Secured Notes. In such a scenario, following
enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement, all Series of Secured Notes secured on such Collateral Pool
would share in the distribution of the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets constituting such Collateral
Pool or Notes or, where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, in the delivery of the Collateral Assets contained in such Collateral Pool, in each case on a pari passu
basis.

Each Series of Secured Notes secured pursuant to a Multiple Series Collateral Pool must (i) be subject to the
same governing law (i.e. exclusively either English Law Notes or French Law Notes), (ii) be exclusively either
subject to "Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets" or not subject to "Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets" (as
described below), (iii) be subject to the same Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, (iv) be subject to the same
Haircut value(s) for each type or class of Eligible Collateral Assets, and (v) have the same Collateral Test Dates.

Noteholders acquiring and holding Secured Notes where "Multiple Series Collateral Pool" is applicable will be
deemed to acknowledge, accept and agree to the rights of existing and future Noteholders of different Series of
Secured Notes to share equally in the security created over the Collateral Assets in the Multiple Series Collateral
Pool.
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Limited Recourse and Non-Petition

By acquiring and holding Secured Notes, Noteholders will be deemed to acknowledge and agree that the
obligations of the Issuer to the Noteholders are limited in recourse to the Collateral Assets contained in the
relevant Collateral Pool securing such Series of Secured Notes both in the case of a Single Series Collateral Pool
and a Multiple Series Collateral Pool. In particular, the Collateral Assets contained in any other Collateral Pool
will not be available to satisfy amounts due in respect of any Secured Notes which are not secured by that
Collateral Pool. For the avoidance of doubt, in such a scenario, Noteholders will continue to be able to claim
against the Guarantor for any unpaid amounts under the terms of the Guarantee.

In addition, by acquiring and holding Secured Notes, Noteholders will be deemed to acknowledge and agree that
they shall not be entitled to take any steps or proceedings to procure the winding-up, administration or liquidation
(or any other analogous proceeding) of the Issuer.

Hedging of Issuer obligations

The Issuer may hedge its obligations in relation to a Series of Secured Notes in a number of different ways,
including by entering into repurchase agreements (Repurchase Agreements) or swap agreements (Swap
Agreements) or any other agreements (any Repurchase Agreement, Swap Agreement or any other such
agreement being a Hedging Agreement) with a counterparty which may be Société Générale or an affiliate of
Société Générale or such other entities as the Issuer deems appropriate from time to time (each such entity
being a Counterparty). Such transactions may also include provisions for the transfer to the Issuer of assets
which may be treated as Collateral Assets by the Issuer and used to fulfil its obligations in relation to the Secured
Notes. Where such Hedging Agreements provide for the transfer of assets to the Issuer, such transfer or assets
shall be with full title.

A Swap Agreement may be evidenced by a 1992 ISDA Master Agreement and Schedule or a 2002 ISDA Master
Agreement and Schedule together with the confirmation entered into by the Issuer and the Counterparty in
respect of the relevant Series of Secured Notes. If the Counterparty's obligations under the Swap Agreement are
to be collateralised, the Swap Agreement may be supplemented by a 1995 ISDA Credit Support Annex (Bilateral
Form - Transfer).

A Repurchase Agreement may be substantially in the form of a 2000 TBMA/ISMA Global Master Repurchase
Agreement, a "Convention Cadre FBF aux opérations de pensions livreés", each as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time, or any other agreement having a similar effect.

Valuation of Collateral and Secured Notes

In order to ensure that a Series of Secured Notes is collateralised in accordance with its terms, the aggregate
value of Collateral Assets constituting Eligible Collateral Assets (after taking into account any Haircut applied in
relation thereto, as further described below) (the Collateral Value) and the aggregate value of Non-Waived
Notes (as defined below) of each Series of Secured Notes secured by such Collateral Pool will each be tested on
the Issue Date of such Series of Secured Notes and on a periodic basis thereafter as specified in the Final Terms
(each such test date being a Collateral Test Date). The Collateral Value and the aggregate value of Non-Waived
Notes will be used in order to calculate the required aggregate value of Eligible Collateral Assets which must be
held in a Collateral Account to secure one or more Series of Secured Notes (the Required Collateral Value).

In relation to each Series of Secured Notes, on the Issue Date of such Series of Secured Notes and on each
Collateral Test Date thereafter, Société Générale or such other collateral manager as is specified in the
applicable Final Terms (the Collateral Manager) will calculate the Collateral Value pursuant to the terms of a
collateral management agreement between, inter alia, the Issuer and the Collateral Manager (the Collateral
Management Agreement).

The Collateral Manager shall calculate the Collateral Value in the collateral valuation currency specified in the
applicable Final Terms (the Collateral Valuation Currency) as of the relevant Valuation Point (as described

below) using such valuation method or methods as the Collateral Manager may, acting in good faith and in a
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commercially reasonable manner, determine in its discretion. Where the relevant currency of denomination of a
Collateral Asset is other than the Collateral Valuation Currency, the Collateral Manager shall convert the value of
such Collateral Asset at the relevant spot exchange rate. The relevant spot exchange rate shall be the rate
displayed on the Collateral Currency Screen Page at the Collateral Currency Specified Time, each as specified in
the applicable Final Terms or, if no such Collateral Currency Screen Page is specified in the applicable Final
Terms or such Collateral Currency Screen Page is not available, the relevant spot rate shall be the rate
determined by the Collateral Manager in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.

When calculating the Collateral Value in respect of Eligible Collateral Assets, the Collateral Manager will, if so
specified in the applicable Final Terms, take into account the Haircut (being a percentage amount by which the
value of each type or class of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool is discounted) (as defined in the Collateral
Conditions) specified in the applicable Final Terms. In performing its calculations as described in the section
"Verification by Collateral Monitoring Agent" below, the Collateral Monitoring Agent will also use the relevant
Haircut value(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In addition, on each Collateral Test Date for each Series of Secured Notes (other than Series where NV
Collateralisation is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms), Société Générale or such other note
valuation agent specified in the applicable Final Terms (the Note Valuation Agent) will, pursuant to the terms of
a note valuation agency agreement between, inter alia, the Issuer and the Note Valuation Agent (the Note
Valuation Agency Agreement), calculate one market value applicable to each Secured Note of such Series (the
Secured Note Market Value) and will provide such value to the Collateral Manager and the Collateral Monitoring
Agent. The Secured Note Market Value shall be the market value of the relevant Secured Note determined by the
Note Valuation Agent as of the Valuation Point on the basis of such valuation method as the Note Valuation
Agent may, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner and in accordance with the terms of
the Note Valuation Agency Agreement, determine in its discretion.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Secured Note Market Value determined by the Note Valuation Agent can differ
from the Market Value determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 6(h)(v) of the Terms
and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or Condition 5(h)(v) of the Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes and from the price proposed, as the case may be, by Société Générale or
any affiliate of Société Générale or any other entities acting as market maker on the secondary market for a Note.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Valuation Point shall be the Collateral Business Day
(as defined in the Collateral Conditions) immediately preceding the Issue Date or the relevant Collateral Test
Date, as the case may be, or, if a valuation of the relevant Collateral Asset or Secured Note, as applicable, is not
available on such date, the date of the last available valuation of such Collateral Asset or Secured Note.

Waiver of rights to Collateral Assets

If "Waiver of Rights" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, certain Noteholders intending to hold
Secured Notes (including, but not limited to, in their capacity as a market maker) may waive their rights to receive
the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets securing such Secured Notes (or where Physical Delivery of
Collateral Assets is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, delivery of the Collateral Assets)
following the enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement (any such Secured Notes being Waived Notes). As
a consequence, in such circumstances when calculating the Required Collateral Value in accordance with the
provisions described below, the Collateral Manager and the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall only take into
account the value of the Secured Notes that have not been subject to such waiver (any such Notes being Non-
Waived Notes).

Each holder of Waived Notes shall be required to (i) inform and, upon request from the Collateral Manager,
provide evidence to, the Collateral Manager of the number of Waived Notes that he holds on the Issue Date and
on each Collateral Test Date and (ii) notify the Collateral Manager following any transfer of Waived Notes. The
Collateral Business Day following such notification will be deemed to be a Collateral Test Date and the Collateral
Manager shall notify the Collateral Monitoring Agent of the same.
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On each Collateral Test Date the Collateral Manager shall notify the Issuer and the Collateral Monitoring Agent of
the number of Waived Notes. Upon request of the Issuer or the Collateral Monitoring Agent, the Collateral
Manager shall request a holder of Waived Notes to provide evidence of the number of Waived Notes that he
holds and shall provide a copy of the evidence so provided to the Issuer or the Collateral Monitoring Agent, as
applicable.

None of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Manager, the Collateral Monitoring Agent, the Security Trustee
or the Security Agent shall be responsible for any incorrect, inaccurate or incomplete information relating to the
number of Waived Notes relating to any one or more Series of Secured Notes that may have been provided to
the Collateral Manager by or on behalf of any holder of Waived Notes and none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Collateral Manager, the Collateral Monitoring Agent, the Security Trustee or the Security Agent shall be under
any duty to verify or otherwise confirm the number of Waived Notes so held.

Holders of Waived Notes shall also be deemed to waive their rights to give written notice to the Issuer and the
Guarantor that the Waived Notes are immediately due and repayable at their Early Redemption Amount on the
occurrence of an Event of Default following the delivery of a Required Collateral Default Notice (as described
below).

Required Collateral Value

In relation to a Single Series Collateral Pool, the Required Collateral Value will be calculated by the Collateral
Manager on the Issue Date and on each relevant Collateral Test Date as follows:

(i) where MV Collateralisation is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms applicable to a Series of
Secured Notes, the Required Collateral Value shall be equal to the Secured Note Market Value
multiplied by the number of Non-Waived Notes or, where a Partial Collateralisation Percentage is
specified in the applicable Final Terms, the specified proportion of the Secured Note Market Value
multiplied by the number of Non-Waived Notes;

(ii) where NV Collateralisation is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms applicable to a Series of
Secured Notes, the Required Collateral Value shall be equal to the total aggregate nominal value of the
Non-Waived Notes of such Series or, where a Partial Collateralisation Percentage is specified in the
applicable Final Terms, the specified proportion of the total aggregate nominal value of the Non-Waived
Notes of such Series;

(iii) where Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms applicable to a
Series of Secured Notes, the Required Collateral Value shall be equal to the lower of (a) the Secured
Note Market Value multiplied by the number of Non-Waived Notes or, where a Partial Collateralisation
Percentage is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the specified proportion of the Secured Note
Market Value multiplied by the number of Non-Waived Notes and (b) the total aggregate nominal value
of the Non-Waived Notes of such Series or, where a Partial Collateralisation Percentage is specified in
the applicable Final Terms, the specified proportion of the total aggregate nominal value of the Non-
Waived Notes of such Series; or

(iv) where Max (MV, NV) Collateralisation is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms applicable to a
Series of Secured Notes, the Required Collateral Value shall be equal to the greater of (a) the Secured
Note Market Value multiplied by the number of Non-Waived Notes or, where a Partial Collateralisation
Percentage is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the specified proportion of the Secured Note
Market Value multiplied by the number of Non-Waived Notes and (b) the total aggregate nominal value
of the Non-Waived Notes of such Series or, where a Partial Collateralisation Percentage is specified in
the applicable Final Terms, the specified proportion of the total aggregate nominal value of the Non-
Waived Notes of such Series.

For the avoidance of doubt, except in the case of sub-paragraph (ii) above, the Collateral Manager will be
required to use the Secured Note Market Value determined by the Note Valuation Agent in determining the

Required Collateral Value.
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In relation to a Multiple Series Collateral Pool, the Required Collateral Value will be determined by the Collateral
Manager on the Issue Date and on each relevant Collateral Test Date as the sum of the amounts calculated
pursuant to sub-paragraph (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above in respect of each Series of Secured Notes secured by the
relevant Collateral Pool.

In determining the Required Collateral Value, where the Specified Currency of any Secured Note is other than
the Collateral Valuation Currency specified in the Final Terms, the Collateral Manager shall convert the Secured
Note Market Value and/or the nominal value, as the case may be, of such Secured Note at the relevant spot
exchange rate. The relevant spot exchange rate shall be the rate displayed on the Collateral Currency Screen
Page at the Collateral Currency Specified Time, each as specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such
Collateral Currency Screen Page is specified in the applicable Final Terms or such Collateral Currency Screen
Page is not available, the relevant spot rate shall be the rate determined by the Collateral Manager in good faith
and in a commercially reasonable manner.

Adjustments to Collateral Pool and Collateral Test Notice

On each Collateral Test Date relating to a relevant Series of Secured Notes the Collateral Manager will determine
whether (i) the Collateral Rules relating to such Collateral Pool are satisfied and (ii) the Collateral Value is greater
than or equal to the Required Collateral Value for such Collateral Pool (taking into account any Haircut value(s) to
be applied to the Collateral Assets and the aggregate value of any Waived Notes) (limbs (i) and (ii) above being
referred to as the Collateral Test). When determining whether the Collateral Test is satisfied, Collateral Assets
for which instructions for the transfer to the relevant Collateral Account have been provided on or before such
Collateral Test Date will be included for the purposes of such determination and Collateral Assets for which
instructions for the removal from the relevant Collateral Account have been provided on or before such Collateral
Test Date will be excluded for the purposes of such determination.

If on a Collateral Test Date the Collateral Manager determines that the Collateral Test is not satisfied for a
specific Collateral Pool, the Collateral Manager on behalf of the Issuer will select the type and quantity of
Collateral Assets to be deposited in the Collateral Account (or will select existing Collateral Assets to be replaced
with other Collateral Assets), in order that after such adjustment the Collateral Test will be satisfied.

If on a Collateral Test Date the Collateral Manager determines that the Collateral Test is satisfied for a specific
Collateral Pool and, if on such date, the Collateral Value is greater than the Required Collateral Value, the
Collateral Manager on behalf of the Issuer shall be entitled to select Collateral Assets to be removed from the
Collateral Account (or shall be entitled to select existing Collateral Assets to be replaced with other Collateral
Assets), provided that after such adjustment the Collateral Test continues to be satisfied.

On each Collateral Business Day, if the Collateral Manager on behalf of the Issuer intends to make adjustments
to the Collateral Assets held in a Collateral Pool (including, but not limited to, adjustments in order to ensure that
the Collateral Test will be satisfied), the Collateral Manager will send or cause to be sent a notice (a Collateral
Test Notice) to the Collateral Monitoring Agent and the Collateral Custodian (copied to the Issuer and the
Guarantor, as the case may be) specifying the adjustments to be made to the Collateral Pool (including inter alia
the type and quantity of any Collateral Assets to be deposited and/or removed).

Verification by Collateral Monitoring Agent

On each Collateral Test Date, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch or such other collateral monitoring
agent as is specified in the applicable Final Terms (the Collateral Monitoring Agent) shall, pursuant to the
terms of a collateral monitoring agency agreement between, inter alia, the Issuer and the Collateral Monitoring
Agent (the Collateral Monitoring Agency Agreement), calculate the Collateral Value and the Required
Collateral Value and verify that the Collateral Test is satisfied. For the avoidance of doubt, the Secured Note
Market Value determined by the Note Valuation Agent as described above and the aggregate number of Waived
Notes notified to the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall bind the Collateral Monitoring Agent in its determination of
the Required Collateral Value.
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If on the relevant Collateral Test Date:

0] a Collateral Test Notice has been delivered by the Collateral Manager and the Collateral Monitoring
Agent determines that the Collateral Test will not be satisfied (including after taking into account any
adjustments specified in such Collateral Test Notice); or

(ii) no Collateral Test Notice has been delivered by the Collateral Manager but the Collateral Monitoring
Agent has determined that adjustments need to be made to the Collateral Assets so that the Collateral
Test be satisfied,

then the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall, on the Collateral Business Day immediately following the relevant
Collateral Test Date, notify the Collateral Manager in writing providing details of why it considers that the
Collateral Test is or will not be satisfied (such notice being hereafter referred to as a Collateral Monitoring
Agent Notice).

Following receipt of a Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice, the Collateral Manager will determine whether it is in
agreement with the contents of the Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice. Should the Collateral Manager agree with
the contents of a Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice, the Collateral Manager shall on the Collateral Business Day
immediately following receipt of a Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice send or cause to be sent a revised
Collateral Test Notice (a First Level Revised Collateral Test Notice) to the Collateral Monitoring Agent and the
Collateral Custodian (copied to the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be) specifying the agreed
adjustments to be made to the Collateral Pool (including inter alia the type and quantity of any Collateral Assets
to be deposited and/or removed) such that the Collateral Test will be satisfied.

If the Collateral Manager disputes the contents of a Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice, it shall on the Collateral
Business Day immediately following receipt of a Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice notify the Collateral
Monitoring Agent of such dispute in writing (a Dispute Notice) and the Collateral Monitoring Agent and the
Collateral Manager shall consult with each other in good faith in an attempt to resolve the dispute.

If the Collateral Manager and the Collateral Monitoring Agent are able to resolve the dispute following such
consultation by the second Collateral Business Day following delivery of the Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice,
the Collateral Manager shall send or cause to be sent a revised Collateral Test Notice (a Second Level Revised
Collateral Test Notice) to the Collateral Monitoring Agent and the Collateral Custodian (copied to the Issuer and
the Guarantor, as the case may be) specifying the agreed adjustments to be made to the Collateral Pool
(including inter alia the type and quantity of any Collateral Assets to be deposited and/or removed) such that the
Collateral Test will be satisfied.

If the Collateral Manager and the Collateral Monitoring Agent fail to resolve the dispute by the second Collateral
Business Day following delivery of the Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice, then the Collateral Manager (on behalf
of the Issuer) shall notify the Collateral Monitoring Agent in writing (such notice being a Dispute Resolution
Procedure Notice) that it will commence the following dispute resolution procedure (the Collateral Test Dispute
Resolution Procedure) to determine the adjustments to be made to the Collateral Pool:

(i) utilising any calculations, rules or criteria which the Collateral Manager and the Collateral Monitoring
Agent have agreed are not in dispute;

(i) if such dispute relates to the satisfaction of the Eligibility Criteria or the Collateral Rules, appointing an
independent third person (acting as an expert and not as an arbitrator) selected by the Collateral
Manager and approved by the Collateral Monitoring Agent (such approval not to be unreasonably
withheld) to determine whether such Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules are satisfied with the
determination of any such person being final and binding upon the Collateral Manager and the Collateral
Monitoring Agent; and

(iii) calculating the value of those Collateral Assets the value of which is in dispute by using reasonable
endeavours to seek four actual, firm and executable quotations at mid-market for such Collateral Assets
with contract sizes approximately equal to the value of such Collateral Assets from leading dealers in
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assets of the type of the Collateral Assets who are committed to trade with the Issuer or the
Counterparty, which may include Société Générale, as selected by the Collateral Manager in its sole
discretion acting in a commercially reasonable manner, and taking the weighted average of those
obtained; provided that if four quotations are not available for a particular Collateral Asset, then fewer
than four quotations may be used for that Collateral Asset, and if no quotations are available for a
particular Collateral Asset, then the Collateral Manager’s original calculations will be used for the
Collateral Asset.

Following a recalculation pursuant to the Collateral Test Dispute Resolution Procedure, the Collateral Manager
shall issue a Post Dispute Collateral Test Notice to the Collateral Monitoring Agent and the Collateral
Custodian (copied to the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be) containing the Collateral Value,
Required Collateral Value and any adjustments to be made to the Collateral Pool such that the Collateral Test will
be satisfied, in each case determined in accordance with the Collateral Test Dispute Resolution Procedure, as
soon as possible but in any event not later than the 30th Collateral Business Day following delivery of the
Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice. A Post Dispute Collateral Test Notice issued following the conclusion of a
Collateral Test Dispute Resolution Procedure shall be binding on the Collateral Manager and the Collateral
Monitoring Agent and shall not be subject to further verification by the Collateral Monitoring Agent. For the
avoidance of doubt, the determination of the Collateral Value, Required Collateral Value and the adjustments to
be made to a Collateral Pool in accordance with the Collateral Test Dispute Resolution Procedure will not
constitute an Event of Default.

Required Settlement Period

The delivery of the Collateral Assets for the adjustments to be made to the Collateral Pool in accordance with a
Collateral Test Notice, First Level Revised Collateral Test Notice, Second Level Revised Collateral Test Notice or
Post Dispute Collateral Test Notice, as applicable, shall be settled on or before the tenth Collateral Business Day
following delivery of such Collateral Test Notice or, where such Collateral Test Notice is followed by a Collateral
Monitoring Agent Notice, the First Level Revised Collateral Test Notice, Second Level Revised Collateral Test
Notice or Post Dispute Collateral Test Notice, as applicable (such period the Required Settlement Period);
provided however that this 10 Collateral Business Day period may be extended up to a maximum additional
period of 60 Collateral Business Days (i) if the adjustments to be made to the Collateral Pool have not been
settled as a result of an event beyond the control of the Collateral Manager, the Collateral Monitoring Agent and
the Issuer (including, but not limited to, as a result of a failure or inability of the relevant clearing system to clear
the relevant Collateral Assets) or (ii) in relation to Collateral Assets for which the regular settlement period is
greater than 10 Collateral Business Days under normal market conditions.

Substitutions

If "Substitution of Collateral Assets" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer (or the
Collateral Manager on its behalf) may withdraw and/or replace Collateral Assets from any Collateral Account
provided that following such adjustment the Collateral Test continues to be satisfied. The Issuer (or the Collateral
Manager on its behalf) will send or cause to be sent a Collateral Test Notice to the Collateral Monitoring Agent
and the Collateral Custodian (copied to the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be) specifying the
adjustments to be made to the Collateral Pool (including inter alia the type and quantity of any Collateral Assets
to be deposited and/or removed). The Collateral Business Day immediately following a day on which such
Collateral Test Notice is given by the Issuer (or the Collateral Manager on its behalf) for the substitution of
Collateral Assets as described above will be deemed to be a Collateral Test Date.

Notification of settlement failure

The Collateral Custodian shall notify the Issuer, the Collateral Manager and the Collateral Monitoring Agent if the
settlement of any transfer of Collateral Assets has not completed within the common market practice timeframe
for settlement of the type of Collateral Asset being so transferred. For the avoidance of doubt, such notification
shall be taken into account when assessing whether settlement has occurred during the Required Settlement
Period described above.
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Early Redemption following the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event

If the Issuer or the Collateral Manager determines that a Collateral Disruption Event has occurred, the Issuer may
in its sole and absolute discretion redeem or cancel, as applicable, all of the relevant Secured Notes. In order to
exercise its option to redeem the Notes following the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event, the Issuer shall
forthwith give not more than 30 nor less than 15 days' notice (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final
Terms) to the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French
Law Notes) and the Noteholders and upon expiry of such notice the Issuer shall redeem each Note at the Early
Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Collateral Disruption Events are defined in the Conditions and include, but are not limited to, the Issuer being
unable, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to acquire the necessary Collateral Assets or being subject
to materially increased costs in acquiring Collateral Assets or the Issuer being unable, after using commercially
reasonable efforts, to find a suitable substitute or replacement Collateral Arrangement Party (as defined below)
following the termination of the relevant agreements or resignation or removal for any reason of any Collateral
Arrangement Party.

For the avoidance of doubt, the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event will not constitute an Event of Default.
Default in provision of Collateral Assets

The Issuer shall be deemed to have defaulted in relation to its obligation to provide the required level of collateral
in relation to a particular Collateral Pool if:

0] following receipt of a Collateral Monitoring Agent Notice which indicates that the Collateral Test is not
satisfied (or will not be satisfied after taking into account any adjustments specified in a Collateral Test
Notice):

(A) no First Level Revised Collateral Test Notice or Dispute Notice has been sent; or

(B) no Second Level Revised Collateral Test Notice or Dispute Resolution Procedure Notice has
been sent; or

(C) no Post Dispute Collateral Test Notice has been sent,

in each case on or before the fifth Collateral Business Day following the date on which the Collateral
Manager had the obligation to send such notice to the Collateral Monitoring Agent; or

(ii) the Issuer or the Collateral Manager (on behalf of the Issuer) fails to deliver the additional necessary
Collateral Assets within the Required Settlement Period and such failure results in the Collateral Test
not being satisfied for 5 consecutive Collateral Business Days following the end of such Required
Settlement Period (when determining whether the Collateral Test has been so satisfied, only Collateral
Assets which have been actually been transferred to the relevant Collateral Account shall be taken into
account).

The occurrence of an event specified in paragraph (i) or (ii) above is hereinafter referred to as a Required
Collateral Default.

Following the occurrence of a Required Collateral Default, the Collateral Monitoring Agent will send a notice (a
Required Collateral Default Notice) to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Manager, the Collateral
Custodian, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) and the Security Agent (in the case of French
Law Notes), specifying that a Required Collateral Default has occurred as soon as reasonably practicable and in
any case within two Collateral Business Days. The Issuer or failing which the Security Trustee (in the case of
English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) shall give notice as soon as
reasonably practicable to all relevant Noteholders if a Required Collateral Default Notice has been received.
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Events of Default, Guarantee and Collateral Enforcement

Secured Notes will be subject to the same Events of Default as are applicable to Unsecured Notes. In addition,
Secured Notes will be subject to an additional Event of Default if the Collateral Monitoring Agent delivers a
Required Collateral Default Notice in relation to a Collateral Pool securing such Secured Notes.

Following the occurrence of an Event of Default in relation to a Series of Secured Notes, a Noteholder (or the
Representative of the Masse in the case of French Law Notes acting pursuant to the request of a Noteholder)
may give written notice to the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes)
or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) that the Notes held by such Noteholder (or by a
Noteholder represented by the Representative of the Masse in the case of French Law Notes) are immediately
due and repayable at their Early Redemption Amount (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) (the
delivery of such a notice being hereafter referred to as a Secured Note Acceleration Event). If a Secured Note
Acceleration Event occurs in relation to one or more Secured Notes (such Notes being Accelerated Secured
Notes), all Secured Notes which are secured by the same Collateral Pool as the one securing such Accelerated
Secured Note will also become immediately due and repayable at their Early Redemption Amount. This applies
both in the case of a Single Series Collateral Pool and in the case of a Multiple Series Collateral Pool. The Issuer
or failing which the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of
French Law Notes) shall give notice as soon as reasonably practicable to all relevant Noteholders if a Secured
Note Acceleration Event has occurred in relation to one or more Secured Notes which are secured by the same
Collateral Pool as the relevant Accelerated Secured Notes.

Following the occurrence of a Secured Note Acceleration Event, all Noteholders whose Notes have become
immediately due and payable will first be entitled to claim for any outstanding amounts due to them under the
terms of the Guarantee. If neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor (pursuant to the terms of the Guarantee) has paid
all amounts due to Noteholders within a period of 20 Collateral Business Days following the occurrence of a
Secured Note Acceleration Event, Noteholders (or the Representative of the Masse in the case of French Law
Notes acting pursuant to the request of a Noteholder) may send a notice in writing (a Collateral Enforcement
Notice) to the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French
Law Notes) requesting that the relevant Pledge Agreement be enforced in accordance with the terms thereof.

Following receipt of a Collateral Enforcement Notice, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or
the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) will enforce the relevant Pledge Agreement relating to the
Collateral Pool in accordance with the terms thereof and the Collateral Conditions (as supplemented by the
applicable Final Terms) and will either (i) liquidate or realise or will give instructions to The Bank of New York
Mellon, London Branch or such other disposal agent as is specified in the applicable Final Terms (the Disposal
Agent) pursuant to the terms of a disposal agency agreement between, inter alia, the Issuer and the Disposal
Agent (the Disposal Agency Agreement) to liquidate or realise the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool in
relation to which a Collateral Enforcement Notice has been delivered and subsequently distribute the relevant
Collateral Enforcement Proceeds Share (as defined in the Collateral Conditions) to the relevant Noteholders or
(ii) where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, arrange
for delivery of the relevant Collateral Assets Entitlement (as defined in the Collateral Conditions) to the relevant
Noteholders, in each case in accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the applicable Final Terms. The
payment of any Collateral Enforcement Proceeds Share or the delivery of any Collateral Assets Entitlement, may,
at the request of the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of
French Law Notes), be undertaken by the Substitute Paying Agent (as defined below) or any replacement entity
thereof.

For the avoidance of doubt, following the payment of any Collateral Enforcement Proceeds Share or the delivery
of any Collateral Assets Entitlement, Noteholders will continue to be able to claim under the terms of the
Guarantee against the Guarantor for any due and unpaid amounts.

Although the Pledge Agreement relating to a particular Collateral Pool may only be enforced following a failure by
the Issuer or the Guarantor to pay accelerated amounts due after the occurrence of a Secured Note Acceleration
Event within the 20 Collateral Business Day period referred to above, the security provided pursuant to the
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Pledge Agreement remains security granted by the Issuer in relation to the Issuer's payment obligations under
the Secured Notes and does not secure the payment obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee.

Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event

Where "Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, in certain
circumstances, if, in the opinion of the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law
Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes), delivery of all or some of the Collateral Assets
forming part of the Collateral Assets Entitlement is not possible for a specified period of time, then the Security
Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes), or the
Disposal Agent on their behalf, in lieu of physical settlement, shall sell or realise such undeliverable Collateral
Assets and deliver the proceeds thereof to Noteholders.

Replacement of programme parties

Each of the Collateral Management Agreement, the Collateral Monitoring Agency Agreement, the Collateral
Custodian Agreement, the Note Valuation Agency Agreement, the Substitute Paying Agency Agreement, the
Disposal Agency Agreement and the Security Agency Agreement contain, and each Pledge Agreement and
Security Trust Deed will contain, provisions for the termination of such agreement and, as the case may be, the
removal and/or replacement of the role of any party appointed thereunder (each a Collateral Arrangement
Party). Any such termination, removal and/or replacement will be effected in accordance with the provisions of
such agreements and the Collateral Conditions and may be effected without the consent of Noteholders. In
accordance with the terms of such agreements and/or the Collateral Conditions, the Issuer shall be required to
give notice to Noteholders of any such termination and replacement.

In particular, the replacement of the Collateral Custodian may only be effected when certain conditions relating to
the substitute Collateral Custodian are fulfilled. Such conditions include, but are not limited to a requirement that:
(i) the substitute Collateral Custodian is incorporated in an Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development (OECD) member country, (ii) the substitute Collateral Custodian is a fully licensed credit institution
in Luxembourg, (iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer and the Arranger, the substitute Collateral Custodian
is able to act as Collateral Custodian and fulfil the obligations and duties expressed to be binding on it pursuant
to the terms of the Collateral Custodian Agreement and (iv) the substitute Collateral Custodian is chosen from a
pre-established list of entities (including BBH, Citi, HSBC, JP Morgan, Northern Trust, RBC Dexia Investor
Services, BP2S, State Street or Wells Fargo & Company Inc) or otherwise is a custodian of similar repute and
good standing.

Substitute Paying Agent

The Issuer has appointed The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch or such other substitute paying agent as
is specified in the applicable Final Terms as substitute paying agent in relation to both English Law Notes and
French Law Notes (the Substitute Paying Agent) pursuant to the terms of a substitute paying agency
agreement (the Substitute Paying Agency Agreement) between, inter alia, the Issuer and the Substitute
Paying Agent. Following the delivery of a Collateral Enforcement Notice, the Substitute Paying Agent shall act as
agent pursuant to the terms of the Substitute Agency Agreement solely for the purposes of assisting with the
payment of any Collateral Enforcement Proceeds Share or the delivery of any Collateral Assets Entitlement to
Noteholders (if so requested by the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in
the case of French Law Notes)).
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RISK FACTORS

Prospective purchasers of Notes should carefully consider the following information in conjunction with
the other information contained in this Base Prospectus, any Supplement thereto, the 2012 Registration
Document (Document de référence) of Société Générale and any Final Terms before purchasing Notes.

The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the following factors may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its
obligations under Notes issued under the Programme and/or the Guarantor's ability to fulfil its obligations under
the Guarantee in relation to such Notes, respectively. Most of these factors are contingencies which may or may
not occur and neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such
contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which each of the Issuer and the Guarantor believe are material for the purpose of assessing
the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in
investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer or the Guarantor to pay interest (if
any), principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons which may not
be considered significant risks by the Issuer and the Guarantor based on information currently available to them
or which they may not currently be able to anticipate. Consequently, the risks of investing in the Notes should not
be viewed as exhaustive. The applicable Final Terms in respect of any Notes may contain more detailed
information in relation to issue specific risk factors which have already been described in a general way in this
Base Prospectus and which should be considered before making an investment decision.

The order in which the following risks factors are presented is not an indication of the likelihood of their
occurrence.

General
Independent review and advice

Each prospective investor in the Notes must determine, based on its own independent review and such
professional advice as it deems appropriate under the circumstances, that its acquisition of the Notes is fully
consistent with its financial needs, objectives and condition, complies and is fully consistent with all investment
policies, guidelines and restrictions applicable to it and is a fit, proper and suitable investment for it,
notwithstanding the clear and substantial risks inherent in investing in or holding the Notes.

A prospective investor may not rely on the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealer(s) or any of their
respective affiliates in connection with its determination as to the legality of its acquisition of the Notes or as to
the other matters referred to above.

Assessment of investment suitability

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own financial
circumstances and investment objectives, and only after careful consideration with their financial, legal, tax and
other advisers. In particular, each potential investor should:

have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of
investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any

applicable supplement;

have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial
situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
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- have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes,
including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for
principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;

- understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices
and financial markets; and

- be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic,
interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase
complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a
way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall
portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has
the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing
conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential
investor's overall investment portfolio. Some Notes which are complex financial instruments may be redeemable
at an amount below par in which case investors may lose the value of part or their entire investment.

No legal and tax advice

Each prospective investor should consult its own advisers as to legal, tax and related aspects relating to an
investment in the Notes. A Noteholder's effective yield on the Notes may be diminished by the tax on that
Noteholder of its investment in the Notes.

A. RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER, THE GROUP AND THE GUARANTOR

The Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses.

The Group's risk management focuses on the following main categories of risks, any of which could materially
adversely affect the Group's business, results of operations and financial condition:

. Credit and counterparty risk (including country risk);

. Market risk;

. Operational risks (including accounting and environmental risks);
. Investment portfolio risk;

. Non-compliance risk (including legal, tax and reputational risks);
. Structural interest and exchange rate risk;

. Liquidity risk;

. Strategic risk;

. Business risk;

. Risk related to insurance activities;

. Risk related to specialised finance activities;

. Specific financial information;

. Regulatory ratios; and

. Other risks.

For any further information on the risks relating to the Issuer, the Group and the Guarantor, investors should refer
to the "Risk Management" section in the English translation of the 2012 Registration Document of Société
Générale which is incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.
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Factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes issued under the
Programme and the Guarantor's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Guarantee in relation to such
Notes

Creditworthiness of the Issuer and the Guarantor

Unsecured Notes constitute general and unsecured contractual obligations of the Issuer and of no other person,
which will rank equally with all other unsecured contractual obligations of the Issuer and behind preferred
liabilities, including those mandatorily preferred by law. The Guarantee constitutes general and unsecured
contractual obligations of the Guarantor and of no other person, which will rank equally with all other unsecured
contractual obligations of the Guarantor and behind preferred liabilities, including those mandatorily preferred by
law. The Guarantor issues and guarantees a large number of financial instruments, including the Notes, on a
global basis and, at any given time, the financial instruments outstanding may be substantial. If you purchase the
Notes, you are relying upon the creditworthiness of the Guarantor and the Issuer, and, in relation to Unsecured
Notes, no other person. Where the Notes relate to securities, you have no rights against the company that has
issued such securities, and where the Notes relate to an index, you have no rights against the sponsor of such
index and where the Notes relate to a fund, you have no rights against the manager of such fund. Further, an
investment in the Notes is not an investment in the Underlying Asset(s) and you will have no rights in relation to
voting rights or other entitlements (including any dividend or other distributions). The Notes are not in any way
sponsored, endorsed or promoted by any issuer, sponsor, manager or other connected person in respect of any
Underlying Assets and such entities have no obligation to take into account the consequences of their actions on
any Noteholders.

Prospective investors in Notes should note that the entitlement of Noteholders will be limited to sums obtained by
making a claim against the Issuer or against the Guarantor under the Guarantee, subject to the relevant
provisions of the Guarantee and, in relation to Secured Notes only, from sums obtained following enforcement of
the relevant Pledge Agreement (see "Risk Factors — Additional Risks Associated With Secured Notes — Shortfall
on Realisation of Collateral Assets and Limited Recourse of Noteholders" below). Holders of Unsecured Notes
should note that Collateral Assets contained in a Collateral Pool will not be available to satisfy amounts due to
them in respect of any Unsecured Notes.

The Guarantee is a payment guarantee only and not a guarantee of the performance by the Issuer of any of its
other obligations under the Notes benefiting from the Guarantee. In the case of any Physical Delivery Notes in
respect of which the relevant guaranteed obligation of the Issuer is an obligation to transfer the Underlying
Asset(s) in respect of a Physical Delivery Amount, the Guarantor shall, in lieu of such transfer, be obliged to pay
a cash amount in the relevant Specified Currency equal to the fair market value (as determined by the
Calculation Agent in its sole discretion, but in a commercially reasonable manner, on or about the due date for
transfer of the relevant Underlying Asset(s) in respect of the Physical Delivery Amount) of the Underlying Asset(s)
in respect of the Physical Delivery Amount and (ii) if any payment described above is affected by Currency
Unavailability (as defined in Condition 5(I) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes and Condition 4(h) of the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes), the Guarantor
will be entitled to satisfy its obligations to the relevant Noteholder by making payment in euro or U.S. dollars in
accordance with the above mentioned Condition.

Risks associated with the lack of independence of the Issuer and the Guarantor

Société Générale will act as the Guarantor of the Notes and also as provider of hedging instruments to the
Issuer. As a result, investors will be exposed not only to the credit risk of the Guarantor but also operational risks
arising from the lack of independence of the Guarantor, in assuming its duties and obligations as the Guarantor
and provider of the hedging instruments. The potential conflicts of interests and operational risks arising from
such lack of independence are in part intended to be mitigated by the fact that different divisions within the
Guarantor will be responsible for implementing the Guarantee and providing the hedging instruments and that
each division is run as a separate operational unit, segregated by Chinese walls (information barriers) and run by
different management teams. Whilst compliance procedures require effective segregation of duties and
responsibilities between the relevant divisions within the Guarantor, the possibility of conflicts of interest arising
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cannot be wholly eliminated. See also "Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes - Potential Conflicts of
Interest between Noteholders and the Collateral Manager and Note Valuation Agent" and "Additional Risks
Associated with Secured Notes - Potential Conflicts of Interest between Noteholders and a Counterparty" below.

Conflicts of interest

The Issuer and the Guarantor provide a full array of capital market products and advisory services worldwide
including the issuance of "structured" Notes where interest and/or principal is/are linked to the performance of
underlying assets. The Issuer and the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and affiliates, in connection with
their other business activities, may possess or acquire material information about the underlying assets. Such
activities and information may cause consequences adverse to the Noteholders. Such actions and conflicts may
include, without limitation, the exercise of voting power, the purchase and sale of securities, financial advisory
relationships and exercise of creditor rights. The Issuer, the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and affiliates
have no obligation to disclose such information about the underlying assets or the companies to which they
relate. The Issuer, the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and affiliates and their officers and directors may
engage in any such activities without regard to the Notes or the effect that such activities may directly or indirectly
have on any Note.

In particular, the following potential conflicts of interest could exist in connection with any issue of Notes in the
context of this Programme:

- the Issuer is a subsidiary of Société Générale and is within the scope of application of the corporate
governance of the Group. It is not excluded that potential conflicts of interest between the Issuer and the
Guarantor could affect the Noteholders;

- the Calculation Agent, the Arranger, the Dealers, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agent
and the Exchange Agent are all part of the Group. A deterioration of Société Générale's credit risk
would also affect its affiliated companies and thus have a negative impact on the obligations of each of
the entities listed above in relation to the Notes. If one of these entities does not respect its obligations
towards the Issuer and/or the Guarantor, this could have a negative impact on the Noteholders;

- in the normal course of their activity, Société Générale and its affiliated companies (a) could be required
to carry out transactions for their own account or for the account of their clients and hold long and short
term positions on the Underlying Assets and/or products derived from these assets and (b) could be in
business relationships and act as the financial advisor for companies whose shares or notes are
Underlying Assets and/or Notes and could be deemed to be contrary to the interests of the Noteholders;

- in the normal course of their activity, Société Générale and its affiliated companies could possess or
acquire information which is not public knowledge on the Underlying Assets and which is or could be
important to the Notes. Neither the Calculation Agent, the Arranger, the Dealers, the Paying Agents, the
Registrar, the Transfer Agent nor the Exchange Agent intend to make this information available to the
Noteholders;

- the composition of, and the methodologies used in connection with, certain indices to which Notes are
linked may be determined and selected by Société Générale or one of its affiliates (see "Conflicts of
interest in connection with indices" below);

- the potential for a fund manager to earn performance-based compensation (including a manager that is
affiliated with Société Générale) may encourage such fund manager to trade in a more speculative
manner than it otherwise would (see "Funds managers may be eligible to earn incentive compensation"
below); and

- the Issuer and the Guarantor, or one or more of their affiliates, may engage in trading and other
business activities relating to the underlying fund(s) or their underlying assets that are not for the
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Noteholders' accounts or on behalf of the Noteholders (see "Certain business activities may create
conflicts of interest with Noteholders" below).

See also "Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes - Potential Conflicts of Interest between Noteholders
and the Collateral Manager and Note Valuation Agent" and "Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes -
Potential Conflicts of Interest between Noteholders and a Counterparty” below.

Hedging and trading activity by the Issuer, the Guarantor and their affiliates could potentially affect the value of
the Notes

In the ordinary course of their business, whether or not they will engage in any secondary market making
activities, the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any of their affiliates may effect transactions for their own account or
for the account of their customers and hold long or short positions in the reference asset(s) or related derivatives.
In addition, in connection with the offering of the Notes, the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or their affiliates may enter
into one or more hedging transactions with respect to the reference asset(s) or related derivatives. In connection
with such hedging or any market-making activities or with respect to proprietary or other trading activities by the
Issuer, the Guarantor and/or the Group, the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or their affiliates may enter into
transactions in the reference asset(s) or related derivatives which may affect the market price, liquidity or value of
the reference assets and, consequently, the Notes and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of
the relevant Noteholders.

The above situations may result in consequences which may be adverse to Noteholders. The Issuer and the
Guarantor assume no responsibility whatsoever for such consequences and their impact on Noteholders.

B. RISKS RELATED TO THE STRUCTURE OF A PARTICULAR ISSUE OF NOTES

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which
present particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such features,
which may increase the risk of investing in such Notes:

Limitations on recourse and rights with respect to underlyings assets

There are certain factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the risks associated with an investment
in Notes issued under the Programme. Such factors will vary depending on the type of Notes issued, in particular
in relation to Notes, the interest and/or redemption amount of which is linked to the value of one or more index,
share, inflation index, unit, interest or share in a fund, or the combination of any of the foregoing or such other
underlying or basis of reference.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the Issuer
may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price
at which they can be redeemed. This may also be true prior to any redemption period.

Early redemption

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the
Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective
interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a
significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments
available at that time.

Early Trigger Redemption

In respect of certain issues where so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Notes may be redeemed early
in the event that the outstanding nominal amount falls below 10% of the initial nominal amount of such Notes or
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such other level stipulated in the applicable Final Terms. In such event the Issuer will have the option to redeem
any outstanding Notes early upon the giving of notice. This could lead to investors receiving an amount at
redemption earlier than had been anticipated in circumstances over which the investors have no control and may
affect the value of their investment.

Partly-Paid Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one part payment. Failure to pay any
subsequent part payment could result in an investor losing some or all of his investment.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes or any Note with a fixed rate component involves the risk that subsequent
changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of such Notes.

Variable rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or other
leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related features, their
market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features.

Inverse Floating Rate Notes

Inverse Floating Rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a reference rate
such as LIBOR. The market values of those Notes typically are more volatile than market values of other
conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate (and with otherwise comparable
terms). Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate not only
decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in prevailing interest rates, which further
adversely affects the market value of these Notes.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a
floating rate to a fixed rate. Where the Issuer has the right to effect such a conversion, this will affect the
secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when
it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate in
such circumstances, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing
spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at
any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate in
such circumstances, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.

Notes issued linked to certain events

The interest rate or redemption amount of certain Notes may be linked to the occurrence or non-occurrence of
certain events which are not connected with the Issuer or the Guarantor such as credit, weather or sporting
events. The occurrence of such events is beyond the control of the Issuer and the Guarantor and Noteholders
are exposed to the risk of such event occurring or not, as the case may be.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium
The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount to or premium from their principal amount tend to
fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing

securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared
to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.
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Zero Coupon Notes

The prices at which Zero Coupon Notes, as well as other Notes issued at a substantial discount from their
principal amount payable at maturity, trade in the secondary market tend to fluctuate more in relation to general
changes in interest rates than do the prices for conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable
maturities.

Notes underlying CREST Depository Interests

The CDls will be delivered, held and settled in CREST, by means of the CREST International Settlement Links
Service.

The settlement of the CDIs by means of the CREST International Settlement Links Service may involve the
following risks to investors:

Investors will not be the legal owners of the Notes underlying the CDIs (the Underlying Notes). The CDIs are
separate legal instruments from the Underlying Notes to which they relate and represent an indirect interest in
such Underlying Notes.

The Underlying Notes themselves (as distinct from the CDIs representing indirect interests in such Underlying
Notes) will be held in an account with a custodian. The custodian will hold the Underlying Notes through a
clearing system. Rights in the Underlying Notes will be held through custodial and depositary links through the
appropriate clearing systems. The legal title to the Underlying Notes or to interests in the Underlying Notes will
depend on the rules of the clearing system in or through which the Underlying Notes are held.

The CDIs will be issued by CREST Depository Limited to investors and will be governed by English law. The
CDIs will represent indirect interests in the interest of CREST International Nominees Limited in the Underlying
Notes.

Rights under the Underlying Notes cannot be enforced by investors except indirectly through the intermediary
depositaries and custodians described above. The enforcement of rights under the Underlying Notes will
therefore be subject to the local law of the relevant intermediary. This will include English law. The rights of
investors to the Underlying Notes are represented by the entitiements against the CREST Depository which
(through the CREST Nominee) holds interests in the Underlying Notes.

This could result in an elimination or reduction in the payments that otherwise would have been made in respect
of the Underlying Notes in the event of any insolvency or liquidation of the relevant intermediary, in particular
where the Underlying Notes held in clearing systems are not held in special purpose accounts and are fungible
with other securities held in the same accounts on behalf of other customers of the relevant intermediaries.

The CDls issued to investors will be constituted and issued pursuant to the CREST Deed Poll. Investors in the
CDIs will be bound by all provisions of the CREST Deed Poll and by all provisions of, or prescribed pursuant to,
the CREST Reference Manual dated 22 November 2010 as amended, modified, varied or supplemented from
time to time (the CREST Reference Manual) and the CREST Rules (contained in the CREST Reference
Manual) applicable to the International Settlement Links Service and investors must comply in full with all
obligations imposed on them by such provisions.

Investors should note that the provisions of the CREST Deed Poll, the CREST Reference Manual and the
CREST Rules contain indemnities, warranties, representations and undertakings to be given by holders of the
CDls and limitations on the liability of the Issuer of the CDIs, CREST Depository Limited.

Investors may incur liabilities resulting from a breach of any such indemnities, warranties, representations and
undertakings in excess of the money invested by them. The attention of investors is drawn to the terms of the
CREST Deed Poll, the CREST Reference Manual and the CREST Rules, copies of which are available from
Euroclear UK & Ireland at 33 Cannon Street, London EC4M 5SB or by calling +44 207 849 0000 or under the
CREST section of the website of Euroclear UK & Ireland (www.euroclear.co.uk).
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Investors should note that holders of CDIs may be required to pay fees, charges, costs and expenses to CREST
Depository Limited in connection with the use of the International Settlement Links Service. These will include the
fees and expenses charged by CREST Depository Limited in respect of the provision of services by it under the
CREST Deed Poll and any taxes, duties, charges, costs or expenses which may be or become payable in
connection with the holding of the Notes through the International Settlement Links Service.

Investors should note that neither the Issuer nor any Paying Agent will have any responsibility for the
performance by any intermediaries or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their
respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

Reliance on DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg procedures

Notes issued under the Programme may be represented on issue by one or more Global Notes that may be
deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or may be deposited with a
nominee for DTC (see the section headed "Book Entry Clearance Systems"). Except in the circumstances
described in each Global Note, investors will not be entitled to receive Notes in definitive form. Each of DTC,
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and their respective direct and indirect participants will maintain records
of the beneficial interests in each Global Note held through it. While the Notes are represented by a Global Note,
investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through the relevant clearing systems and their
respective participants.

While the Notes are represented by Global Notes, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligation under the
Notes by making payments through the relevant clearing systems. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global
Note must rely on the procedures of the relevant clearing system and its participants to receive payments under
the Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of,
beneficial interests in any Global Note.

Holders of beneficial interests in a Global Note will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the Notes so
represented. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by the
relevant clearing system and its participants to appoint appropriate proxies.

Special rules apply to SIS Notes.
Notes constituting "Obligations"” under French Law

The Final Terms may specify that the Notes will constitute obligations under French law (within the meaning of
Article L.213-5 of the French Code monétaire et financier). Investors' attention is drawn to the fact that this
characterisation is a legal characterisation and not a prudential one. Each potential investor should consult its
legal advisers and where applicable its regulator(s), accountants, auditors and tax advisers to determine whether
and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of
borrowing, (iii) Notes are eligible as regulated assets (where applicable), (iv) Notes are an appropriate investment
for it from a prudential point of view and (v) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes.
Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate
treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Risk Factors relating to Index Linked Notes
General

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or formula, to changes
in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a
Relevant Factor). In addition, the Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more
currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Potential investors
should be aware that:

- the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
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- they may receive no interest;

- payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected;

- they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;

- a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in
interest rates, currencies or other indices;

- if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains
some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest payable
likely will be magnified;

- the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average
level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor, the
greater the effect on yield; and

- the market price of such Notes may be volatile and may depend on the time remaining to the relevant
redemption date and the volatility of the level of the index or indices.

The historical experience of an index should not be viewed as an indication of the future performance of such
index during the term of any Index Linked Notes. Accordingly, each potential investor should consult its own
financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any Index Linked Notes or Dual Currency
Notes and the suitability of such Notes in light of its particular circumstances.

Investors' yield may be lower than the yield on a standard debt security of comparable maturity

Unlike conventional fixed rate or floating rate debt securities, Index Linked Notes whose payments (whether in
respect of principal and/or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) are calculated by reference to an index,
may not provide investors with periodic payments of interest. Further, with respect to the Final or Early
Redemption Amount, the effective yield to maturity of the Notes may be less than that which would be payable on
a conventional fixed rate or floating rate debt security. The return of only the Final or Early Redemption Amount
of each Note at maturity may not compensate the holder for any opportunity cost implied by inflation and other
factors relating to the value of money over time.

Adjustment or substitution — Early redemption of the Notes

The Calculation Agent may, in certain circumstances, proceed to adjustments or substitutions, or even decide the
early redemption of the Notes, in particular upon the occurrence of events affecting the underlying instrument(s).
In the absence of manifest or proven error, these adjustments, substitutions or early redemption decisions will be
binding upon the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent and the Noteholders. The Issuer may also have a discretionary
right to redeem the Notes early. In all such cases, the early redemption of the Notes may result in the total or
partial loss of the amount invested.

Return does not reflect dividends

Depending upon the calculation methodology of an index, where the performance of an index is taken into
account in order to calculate payments due under the Index Linked Notes the payment of income (such as
dividends for an index that has stocks as underlyings) may not be reflected as the index may be calculated by
reference to the prices of the underlyings comprising the index without taking into consideration the value of any
income paid on those underlying assets. Therefore, the yield to maturity of Index Linked Notes referring to an
index may not be the same as the yield that would be produced if such underlying assets were purchased and
held for a similar period.

Risks relating to an index

Index Linked Notes based on an index are subject to risks broadly similar to those attending any investment in a
broadly-based portfolio of assets including, without limitation, the risk that the general level of prices for such
assets may decline. The following is a list of some of the significant risks associated with an index:

- historical performance of the index does not indicate the future performance of this index. It is

impossible to predict whether the value of the index will fall or rise during the term of the Notes; and
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- the level of the index or indices may be affected by the economic, financial and political events in one or
more jurisdictions, including the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any securities
comprising the index or indices may be traded. The index may reference equities, bonds or other
securities or it may be a property index referencing certain property price data which will be subject to
market price fluctuations. A property index may include valuations only and not actual transactions and
the property data sources used to compile the index may be subject to change, which may adversely
affect the return on the Notes.

The policies of the sponsor of an index (including a sponsor that is affiliated with Société Générale) as regards
additions, deletions and substitutions of the assets underlying the index and the manner in which the index
sponsor takes account of certain changes affecting such underlying assets may affect the value of the index. The
policies of an index sponsor with respect to the calculation of an index could also affect the value of the index. An
index sponsor may discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of information relating to its index. Any
such actions could affect the value of the Notes. See the section headed "Technical Annex" for more details.

In addition, indices may be subject to management fees and other fees as well as charges that are payable to the
index sponsor(s) and which can reduce the Final or Early Redemption Amount payable to Noteholders. Such
fees may be paid to index sponsors that are affiliates of Société Générale.

Conflicts of interest in connection with indices

The composition of, and the methodologies used in connection with, certain indices to which Notes are linked
may be determined and selected by Société Générale or one of its affiliates. In selecting such methodologies,
Société Générale or the relevant affiliate of Société Générale, can be expected to have regard to its own
objectives and interests and/or those of the Group and there is no guarantee that the methodologies selected will
not be less favourable to the interests of investors than methodologies used by other index sponsors in
comparable circumstances.

If the hedging activities of Société Générale or one of its affiliates in connection with a particular index are
disrupted, Société Générale or the relevant affiliate may decide to terminate calculations in relation to such index
sooner than another index sponsor would in comparable circumstances. Such a termination may trigger the early
redemption of the Notes.

Risks relating to Dual Currency Notes (or other Notes linked to currencies)

The Issuer may issue Dual Currency Notes (or other Notes linked to currencies) where the amount of principal
and/or interest payable are dependent upon movements in currency exchange rates or are payable in one or
more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Accordingly an
investment in Dual Currency Notes may bear similar market risks to a direct foreign exchange investment and
potential investors should take advice accordingly.

Potential investors in any such Notes should be aware that, depending on the terms of the Dual Currency Notes,
(i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different
time or in a different currency than expected and (iii) they may lose a substantial portion of their investment. In
addition, movements in currency exchange rates may be subject to significant fluctuations that may or may not
correlate with changes in interest rates or other indices and the timing of changes in the exchange rates may
affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations.

Exchange rates between currencies are determined by factors of supply and demand in the international
currency markets which are influenced by macro economic factors, speculation and central bank and government
intervention (including the imposition of currency controls and restrictions which could result in the receipt of
reduced payment and/or otherwise make it impossible or impracticable for the Issuer to meet its repayment
obligations in the original currency of the Notes). In recent years, rates of exchange between some currencies
have been volatile. This volatility may be expected in the future. Fluctuations that have occurred in any
particular exchange rate in the past are not necessarily indicative, however, of fluctuation that may occur in the

rate during the term of any Note. Fluctuations in exchange rates will affect the value of Dual Currency Notes.
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If the amount of principal and/or interest payable is dependent upon movements in currency exchange rates and
are determined in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one, or by reference to some other leverage factor,
the effect of changes in the currency exchange rates on principal or interest payable will be magnified.

The market price of such Notes may be volatile and, if the amount of principal and/or interest payable are
dependent upon movements in currency exchange rates, may depend upon the time remaining to the relevant
redemption date and the volatility of currency exchange rates. Movements in currency exchange rates may be
dependent upon economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions.

Risk Factors specific to Equity Linked Notes based on shares
No beneficial interest in the underlying shares

A holder of the Notes will not be a beneficial owner of the underlying shares and therefore will not be entitled to
receive any dividends or similar amounts paid on the underlying shares, nor will a Noteholder be entitled to
purchase the underlying shares by virtue of its ownership of the Notes. Moreover, holders of the Notes will not be
entitled to any voting rights or other control rights that holders of the underlying shares may have with respect to
the issuer of such underlying shares. The Final or Early Redemption Amount will not reflect the payment of any
dividends on the underlying shares. Accordingly, the return on the Notes will not reflect the return you would
realise if you actually owned the underlying shares and received dividends, if any, paid on those securities.
Therefore, the yield to maturity based on the methodology for calculating the Final or Early Redemption Amount
will not be the same yield as would be produced if the underlying shares were purchased directly and held for a
similar period.

Limited antidilution protection

The Calculation Agent may make adjustments to elements of the Notes as described in the Technical Annex. The
Calculation Agent is not required to make an adjustment for every corporate event that may affect the underlying
shares. Those events or other actions by the issuer of underlying shares or a third party may nevertheless
adversely affect the market price of the underlying shares and, therefore, adversely affect the value of the Notes.
The issuer of underlying shares or a third party could make an offering or exchange offer or the issuer of
underlying shares could take another action that adversely affects the value of the underlying shares and the
Notes but does not result in an adjustment.

Risks arising from conduct of issuers of shares

The issuers of underlying shares are not involved in the offer of the Notes in any way and have no obligation to
consider your interest as a holder of the Notes in taking any corporate actions that might affect the value of the
Notes. The issuers of underlying shares may take actions that will adversely affect the value of the Notes.

Risk Factors relating to Fund Linked Notes'
The fund units may be issued hedge funds or mutual funds (hereafter the underlying funds).
Investors should investigate the underlying fund(s) as if investing directly

To the extent the underlying(s) of a series of Notes include(s) a fund or portfolio of funds, investors should
conduct their own diligence of the underlying fund(s) as they would if they were directly investing in the
underlying fund(s). The offering of the Notes does not constitute a recommendation by Société Générale or any
of its affiliates with respect to an investment linked to an underlying fund (including in respect of funds that are
managed by managers affiliated with Société Générale). Investors should not conclude that the sale by the Issuer
of the Notes is any form of investment recommendation by the Issuer or any of its affiliates to invest in the
underlying fund(s).

' Statements in this section concerning funds and fund managers also apply to any portfolio or basket of funds and any related portfolio

manager.
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Risks relating to underlying funds that are hedge funds

Fund units, and investments in hedge funds generally, are speculative and involve a high degree of risk. Neither
the Issuer nor the Guarantor gives any assurance as to the performance of fund units.

To the extent the underlying(s) of a series of Notes include(s) a hedge fund or portfolio of hedge funds for a
series of Notes, the Notes of such series will be subject to some of the risks of an investment in a hedge fund or
portfolio of hedge funds. The lack of oversight and regulation associated with funds that are hedge funds may
increase the likelihood of fraud and negligence by the fund's managers and/or the investment advisors, their
brokerage firms or banks.

Hedge funds may involve complex tax structures and delays in distributing important tax information and may
have high fees and expenses that may offset the hedge fund's trading profits.

Substantial redemptions on a hedge fund on a particular day could require such funds to liquidate positions more
rapidly than would be otherwise desirable.

Hedge funds, including the funds on which Index Linked Notes may be indexed, generally do not make
information about their operations and holdings public. Even if the Issuer, the Guarantor or any affiliate of Société
Générale may have arrangements with a fund's managers to obtain information required to calculate the value of
the fund, it may not have access to the activities of the fund on a continuous basis or at all. There are currently no
regulatory requirements compelling funds to release information of the kind that would allow the lIssuer, the
Guarantor or any affiliate of Société Générale to value a fund or to accurately determine the value of the fund
units and, consequently, the Final or Early Redemption Amount of the relevant Notes.

Société Générale and certain of its affiliates from time to time obtain information regarding specific hedge funds
that may not be available to the general public. Any such information is obtained by Société Générale and certain
of its affiliates in the ordinary course of their businesses, and not in connection with the offering of the Notes
(including in respect of funds that are managed by managers affiliated with Société Générale). In connection with
the ordinary course of their businesses, Société Générale and certain of its affiliates may recommend, or
determine not to recommend, specific hedge funds to their clients. Hedge funds as to which Société Générale
and certain of its affiliates have formed investment recommendations may now or may in the future be among the
underlying funds used in the redemption formula of Notes. Any views that may be held by Société Générale and
certain of its affiliates with respect to the expected future performance of one or more of the funds (including in
respect of funds that are managed by managers affiliated with Société Générale) would not be an indication of
the future expected performance of the fund, and neither Société Générale nor any of its affiliates has formed a
view with respect to the expected future performance of a fund.

Volatility of the markets may adversely affect the value of the fund units

Volatility is the term used to describe the size and frequency of market fluctuations. If the volatility of the
underlying fund(s) increases or decreases, the market value of the Notes may be affected.

Funds' performances (especially hedge funds) may be highly volatile. Movements in the net asset value of the
fund tracked by the fund units may vary from month to month. Trades made by fund managers may be based
upon their expectation of price movements as the relevant investments approach and reach maturity several
months following initiation of the trades. In the meantime, the market value of positions may not increase, and
may in fact decrease, and this will be reflected in the net asset value per share.

Investments made by the underlying funds can involve substantial risks. The nature of these investments means
that the value of the fund units may fluctuate significantly during a day or over longer periods. Consequently, the

performance of the fund units over a given period will not necessarily be indicative of future performance.

Market volatility may produce significant losses on the fund units.
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The use of leverage may increase the risk of loss in the value of the fund units

The underlying funds may have recourse to leverage i.e. borrow amounts that represent more than 100 per cent.
of the value of their assets to invest further in assets that involve additional risks. Accordingly, a small downward
movement in the value of a fund's assets may result in a significantly larger loss for the fund.

Funds managers may be eligible to earn incentive compensation

The potential for a fund manager to earn performance-based compensation (including a manager that is affiliated
with Société Générale) may encourage such fund manager to trade in a more speculative manner than it
otherwise would. Therefore, because the incentive compensation of the fund's managers and/or investment
advisors to hedge funds is often directly influenced by the performance of such funds, each fund manager may
consequently have an incentive to take greater risks when making investments that may result in greater profits.
By taking greater risks when making investments consequently there is greater scope for significant losses. In
addition, the fund's managers and/or the investment advisors may receive management, advisory or performance
fees even though the fund has not realised any gains.

Funds managers' investments are not verified

Neither the Issuer, nor Société Générale as Guarantor or as Calculation Agent under the Notes, nor Société
Générale's affiliates is or will be responsible for verifying or ensuring that the fund's managers comply with its
stated trading strategy (including a manager that is affiliated with Société Générale).

The fund's managers (including a manager that is affiliated with Société Générale) do not have any obligations to
the Noteholders, or other role in connection with the Notes, including any obligation to take the needs of the
Noteholders into consideration for any reason. The fund's managers (including a manager that is affiliated with
Société Geénérale) are not responsible for, and have not endorsed or participated in, the offering, placement, sale,
purchase or transfer of the Notes. The fund's managers (including a manager that is affiliated with Société
Générale) are not responsible for, and will not participate in, the determination or calculation of the amounts
receivable by Noteholders.

Underlying funds that are hedge funds are not subject to the same regulatory regime, or regulated to the same
extent as, mutual funds or registered securities or securities offerings. Changes to the current regulatory
environment could affect the investment, operations and structure of the underlying funds and could adversely
affect the performance of the underlying funds.

The underlying funds may invest in assets that involve further risks and such risks may not be fully disclosed at
the time of investment by the Issuer. The fund's managers and/or the investment advisors to hedge funds may
invest in and trade in a variety of financial instruments using sophisticated investment techniques for hedging and
non-hedging purposes. Such financial instruments and investment techniques include but are not limited to the
use of leverage (i.e., borrowing money for investment purposes), short sales of securities, transactions that use
derivatives such as swaps, stock options, index options, futures contracts and options on futures, transactions
that involve the lending of securities to certain financial institutions, the entry into repurchase and reverse
repurchase agreements for securities and the investment in foreign securities and foreign currencies.
Furthermore, hedge funds may borrow an amount of more than 100 per cent. of its assets on a consistent basis
to increase its leverage. While these investment strategies and financial instruments allow the fund's managers
and/or the investment advisors the flexibility to implement a range of strategies in an attempt to generate positive
returns for the fund, they also create the risk of significant losses that may adversely affect the fund.

Hedge funds may invest in securities listed or traded on foreign exchanges. The execution of transactions on

foreign exchanges might involve particular risks including but not limited to: higher volatility, government
intervention, lack of transparency, lack of regulation, currency risk, political risk and economic social instability.
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Reliance on fund's managers and/or investment advisors of the underlying fund(s)

Investment in the Notes is speculative and entails substantial risks. The Final or Early Redemption Amount is
based on changes in the value of the underlying fund(s), which fluctuates and cannot be predicted. Moreover,
any persons relying on the performance of the underlying fund(s) should note that such performance will depend
to a considerable extent on the performance of the fund's managers and/or investment advisors of the fund(s).
Neither the Issuer, nor Société Générale as Guarantor or as Calculation Agent under the Notes, nor Société
Générale's affiliates are in a position to protect the Noteholders against fraud and misrepresentation by
unaffiliated fund managers or the investment advisors. Investors should understand that they could be materially
adversely affected by any such acts. Noteholders do not have and are not entitled to any beneficial interests in
the underlying fund(s) and as such, have no recourse against the underlying fund(s), any investment advisor or
manager either contractually or statutorily. Furthermore, as a practical matter, it may be difficult to bring an
action, or to seek to enforce a judgment obtained in an action, against any of the aforementioned entities. In
addition, the fund's managers and/or the investment advisors may be removed or replaced, the allocation of
assets may vary from time to time and the various positions of the investments of the underlying fund(s) may be
economically offsetting, all of which may affect the performance of the underlying fund(s).

The fund's managers and/or the investment advisors may manage or advise other funds and/or accounts and
may have financial and other incentives to favour such other funds and/or accounts over the underlying fund(s).
Also, the fund's managers and/or the investment advisors may manage or advise for their own accounts and the
accounts of their clients and may make recommendations or take positions similar or dissimilar to those of the
underlying fund(s) or which may compete with the underlying fund(s).

Fees, deductions and charges will reduce the Final or Early Redemption Amount

Fund fees will be deducted from the net asset value of the fund, reducing the value of the fund units. Accordingly,
to the extent that the Final or Early Redemption Amount is linked to the net asset value of a fund, the Final or
Early Redemption Amount payable to Noteholders will be less than it would have been absent these fees,
deductions and charges, but Société Générale or one of its affiliates may be the beneficiary of such fees or
obtain rebate on such fees from third parties.

Net Asset Value

The Issuer believes that the market value of the Notes will likely depend substantially on the then-current net
asset value of the underlying fund(s). If an investor chooses to sell its Notes, such investor may receive
substantially less than the amount that would be payable at any relevant payment date based on that net asset
value because of, for example, possible market expectations that the net asset value of the underlying fund(s) will
continue to fluctuate between such time and the time when the final net asset value of the underlying fund(s) is
determined. Political, economic and other developments that affect the investments underlying the underlying
fund(s) may also affect the net asset value of the underlying fund(s) and, thus the value of the Notes.

The illiquidity of the underlying fund's investments may cause the payment of the Final or Early Redemption
Amount and/or any Intermediary Amount to be reduced or delayed

The intermediary amounts or final redemption amounts due to investors in Notes having funds as underlyings
may be based on the redemption proceeds that would be paid in cash by the underlying fund to a hypothetical
investor as a result of a valid and timely notice for redemption given by such hypothetical investor with effect as
of the relevant valuation date. To meet a redemption request, the underlying fund would likely sell its own assets
but such investments may not be readily saleable on or shortly after the valuation date for various reasons,
including, but not limited to:

- infrequent redemption opportunities allowed by such underlying fund (for example, many hedge funds
only allow monthly or quarterly liquidity);

- "gating," lock-ups, side pockets or discretionary redemption delays or suspensions imposed by such
underlying fund (for example, many hedge funds have provisions whereby redemption requests are

scaled back if the aggregate amount of such requests reaches a predetermined limit);
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- such underlying funds' own investments may be illiquid;

In these situations, (i) the payment of an intermediate amount may be postponed by the Calculation Agent too
soon after the date on which the underlying fund pays all the redemption proceeds in respect of a valid and timely
redemption order given after the occurrence of an event as described above or to the maturity date of the Notes
and/or (ii) the payment of the final redemption amount will occur on the basis of the redemption proceeds paid by
the underlying fund in respect of a valid and timely redemption order given after the occurrence an event
described above. If the redemption proceeds have not been paid by the underlying fund on the maturity date of
the Notes, the payment of the intermediate amounts or final redemption amounts may be postponed after the
maturity date up to a maximum period of two years. If at the expiry of this two-year period, the underlying fund
has not paid in full the redemption proceeds, the intermediate and final redemption amounts shall be determined
by the Calculation Agent on the basis of what has actually been paid by the underlying fund. The amount
received by the investors in the Notes may be as low as zero.

In case of the occurrence of certain extraordinary events affecting an underlying fund, such as but without
limitation the insolvency, nationalisation or merger of the underlying fund, a resignation or termination or
replacement of the administrator, custodian, investment adviser or manager of the fund, or a breach by the
underlying fund of its investment strategy, the Calculation Agent may decide to terminate soon after the
occurrence of such extraordinary event, the exposure of the Notes to the underlying fund and the intermediate
amounts and/or the final redemption amounts and (i) pay any intermediate amount due to the investor in the
Notes either immediately or at the maturity date on the basis of the redemption proceeds paid by the underlying
fund in the liquidation of the exposure to such underlying fund and/or (ii) pay the final redemption amount at the
maturity date on the basis of the redemption proceeds paid by the underlying fund in the liquidation of the
exposure to such underlying fund. If the underlying fund is also subject to liquidity problems as described above,
the postponement of the payment of the intermediate amounts and/or final redemption amount up to a maximum
period of two years may also apply.

Given recent experience in the hedge fund industry, it is likely that such delay would have an adverse impact on
the amount payable to you under the Notes.

If the underlying fund(s) invest(s) through a master-feeder structure, the latter may have an adverse effect on the
underlying fund(s) and, therefore, the Notes

The underlying fund(s) may invest through a "master-feeder" structure. As such, the underlying fund(s) will
contribute substantially part or all of its assets to the master fund and may do so alongside other investors,
including other feeder funds. The relevant master fund may also establish or allow investment by additional
investors or feeder funds in the future.

The master-feeder fund structure, in particular the existence of multiple investment vehicles investing in the same
portfolio, presents certain unique risks to investors. The underlying fund(s) may be materially affected by the
actions of other investors, investment vehicles and feeder funds investing in the master fund, particularly if such
investors have large investments in the master fund. For example, if a larger investment vehicle or entity with a
large investment in the master fund redeems from the master fund, illiquidity in certain securities or markets could
make it difficult for the master fund to liquidate positions on favourable terms to effect such redemption, which
could result in losses or a decrease in the net asset value of the master fund. In addition, to satisfy such
redemptions, the sub-manager may need to liquidate the master fund's most liquid investments; leaving
remaining investors (including the underlying fund(s)) invested in more illiquid instruments. Such withdrawals may
also leave the master fund with a less diversified pool of investments. This may increase the overall portfolio risk
of the master fund, and, ultimately, the Notes. Conversely, the sub-manager may refuse a redemption request if it
believes that such request, if fulfilled, would have a material adverse impact on the remaining investors of the
master fund. This may negatively impact the liquidity of the master fund and, therefore, the underlying fund(s)
and the Notes.
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Certain business activities may create conflicts of interest with Noteholders

The Issuer and the Guarantor, or one or more of their affiliates, may engage in trading and other business
activities relating to the underlying fund(s) or their underlying assets that are not for the Noteholders' accounts or
on behalf of the Noteholders. These activities may present a conflict between a Noteholder's interest in the Notes
and the interests the Issuer and the Guarantor, or one or more of their affiliates, may have in their proprietary
account. Such activities may include, among other things, the exercise of voting power, financial advisory
relationships, financing transactions, derivative transactions and the exercise of creditor rights, each of which
may be contrary to the interests of the Noteholders. Any of these trading and/or business activities may affect the
value of an underlying fund(s) and thus could be adverse to a Noteholder's return on the Notes. The Issuer, the
Guarantor and their affiliates may engage in any such activities without regard to the Notes or the effect that such
activities may directly or indirectly have on Notes of any series.

In addition, in connection with these activities, the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or their affiliates may receive
information about the underlying fund(s) or their underlying assets that will not be disclosed to the Noteholders.
The Issuer, the Guarantor and their affiliates have no obligation to disclose such information about the underlying
fund(s) or the companies to which they relate.

Additional investments in, or withdrawals of amounts previously invested in, the fund may adversely affect the
value of the fund units

In the ordinary course of their business, whether or not they will engage in any secondary market making
activities, the Issuer, the Guarantor or one or more of their affiliates may effect transactions for their own account
or for the account of their customers and hold long or short positions in the underlying fund(s), underlying assets
of the underlying fund(s) and/or related derivatives. In addition, in connection with the offering of any series of
Notes and during the term of such series of Notes, each of the Issuer, the Guarantor or one or more of their
affiliates in order to hedge its obligations under the Notes, may enter into one or more hedging transaction with
respect to the underlying fund(s), underlying assets of the underlying fund(s) and/or related derivatives.

In connection with any of such hedging or any market making activities or with respect to proprietary or other
such trading activities, the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or their affiliates may enter into transactions in the
underlying fund(s), underlying assets of the underlying fund(s) and/or related derivatives which may affect the
market price, liquidity or value of the underlying fund(s) or their underlying assets, and therefore the Notes. The
Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any of their affiliates may also issue or underwrite other securities or financial or
derivative instruments with returns linked or related to changes in the performance of the underlying fund(s) or
their underlying assets. Any of the above situations may result in consequences which may be adverse to a
Noteholder's investment. The Issuer and the Guarantor assume no responsibility whatsoever for such
consequences and their impact on a Noteholder's investment.

Investors should be aware that, as a result of hedging decisions by the hedging counterparty, transfers into or out
of the fund by the hedging counterparty may affect the value of the fund units and, in turn, the Final or Early
Redemption Amount of the Notes.

Furthermore, the Issuer may issue additional Tranches of Notes that are fungible with the Notes, or other bonds,
notes or instruments that, while not fungible with the Notes, may be linked to an index with a component which
has the underlying funds as the reference asset. If such Notes are issued, Société Générale is likely to make
additional investments in the underlying funds to hedge exposure incurred in connection with such transactions
related to such Notes. Any such investment in the underlying funds could adversely affect the performance of the
fund units, which could adversely affect the trading value of the Notes and the Final or Early Redemption
Amount.

Legal, tax and regulatory changes

Legal, tax and regulatory changes could occur during the term of the Notes that may adversely affect the
underlying fund(s). The regulatory environment for hedge funds is evolving, and changes in the regulation of

hedge funds may adversely affect the value of investments held by the underlying fund(s). In addition, the
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securities and futures markets are subject to comprehensive statutes, regulations and margin requirements.
Regulators and self-regulatory organisations and exchanges are authorised to take extraordinary actions in the
event of market emergencies. The regulation of derivatives transactions and funds that engage in such
transactions is an evolving area of law and is subject to modification by government and judicial action. The effect
of any future regulatory change on the underlying fund(s) could be substantial and adverse and consequently
adversely affect the value of the Notes.

No ownership rights in any underlying fund(s)

An investment in the Notes does not entitle Noteholders to any ownership interest or rights in any underlying
fund(s), such as voting rights or rights to any payments made to owners of the underlying fund(s). Instead, a Note
represents a notional investment in the underlying fund(s). The term "notional" is used because although the
value of the underlying fund(s) will be used to calculate your payment under the Notes, your investment in the
Notes will not be used to purchase interests in the underlying fund(s) on your behalf.

The Issuer, or an affiliate, may purchase interests in the underlying fund(s) in order to hedge its obligations under
the Notes but it is under no obligation to do so. Such interests, if any, are the separate property of the Issuer or
such affiliate and do not secure or otherwise underlie the Notes. Therefore, in the event of a failure to pay the
Final or Early Redemption Amount by the Issuer under the Notes, unless otherwise specifically provided for, you
will have no beneficial interest in or claim to any such interests in the underlying fund(s).

Risk Factors relating to Commodity Linked Notes

Commodity Linked Notes may be redeemed by the Issuer at their par value and/or by the physical delivery of the
underlying asset(s) and/or by payment of an amount determined by reference to the value of the underlying
asset(s). Accordingly, an investment in Commodity Linked Notes may bear similar market risks to a direct
investment in the relevant commodities and investors should take advice accordingly. Interest payable on
Commodity Linked Notes may be calculated by reference to the value of one or more underlying asset(s). The
value of the underlying asset(s) may vary over time and may increase or decrease by reference to a variety of
factors which may include global supply and demand of commodities to which the underlying asset(s) refer,
production and selling activities of the respective commodities by producers, central banks and international
organisations, demand for end-products based on the respective commodity, net investment demand and
industrial demand.

Risk Factors relating to Credit Linked Notes

Capitalised terms used in this section, but not otherwise defined in this Base Prospectus shall have the meaning
given to them in the Credit Technical Annex

In the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include, amongst other things, Bankruptcy,
Failure to Pay, Obligation Acceleration, Obligation Default, Repudiation/Moratorium or Restructuring) in relation
to a Reference Entity or, with respect to Basket Notes and Tranche Notes, Reference Entities, in each case as
specified in the applicable Final Terms, the obligation of the Issuer to pay principal at maturity may be replaced
by (i) an obligation to pay other amounts which are equal to either certain fixed amount(s) as specified in the
applicable Final Terms or amounts calculated by reference to the value of the underlying asset(s) (which may, in
each case, be less than the par value of the Notes at the relevant time) and/or (ii) an obligation to deliver the
underlying asset(s). In addition, interest-bearing Credit Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior to the
date of occurrence of such circumstances.

Accordingly, Noteholders may be exposed as of the First Credit Event Occurrence Date mentioned in the Final
Terms (which may be earlier than the date of their decision to invest in the Notes or the Issue Date) to the full
extent of their investment in the Credit Linked Notes to fluctuations in the creditworthiness of the Reference
Entities. Their exposure to the Reference Entities may be leveraged by their investment in the Notes compared to
a direct investment in the obligations of such Reference Entities.
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Increased risk in respect of First-to-Default Notes and Tranche Notes
First-to-Default Notes or Tranche Notes create leveraged exposure to the credit risk of Reference Entities.
Concentration Risk

The concentration of the Reference Entities in any one industry or geographic region would subject the Notes to
a greater degree of risk with respect to economic downturns relating to such industry or geographic region.

In respect of Basket Notes, irrespective of the creditworthiness of each Reference Entity, the fewer Reference
Entities there are in a Reference Portfolio, the greater is the degree of risk with respect to the occurrence of each
Credit Event. In respect of First-to-Default Notes, the more Reference Entities there are in the Reference
Portfolio, the greater is the degree of risk.

Discretion to determine if a Credit Event has occurred and to decide whether to give notice or not

The Calculation Agent will determine, in its sole and absolute discretion, the occurrence or not of a Credit Event
in respect of any of the Reference Entities, provided certain other conditions described in the Credit Technical
Annex are satisfied. Such determination by the Calculation Agent, which is under no obligation to act in the
interest of the Noteholders, will (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding on the Noteholders.
Moreover, the Calculation Agent has sole and absolute discretion to decide whether to give notice or not that a
Credit Event has occurred with respect to any Reference Entity. A Noteholder may disagree with Publicly
Available Information contained in the Credit Event Notice delivered by or on behalf of the Issuer to the Relevant
Clearing System for the Noteholders’ information, but will nevertheless be bound by that determination under the
terms of the Notes.

Valuation and settlement in case of Credit Event

Under the terms of the Notes, where Société Générale acts as Calculation Agent, it may, for the purposes of
determining the Cash Redemption Amount under the Quotation Dealers Method or the Physical Delivery Amount
following one or more Credit Event(s), select obligations with the lowest price of any obligations which meet the
relevant criteria. In making such selection, the Calculation Agent will not be liable to account to the Noteholders,
or any other person for any profit or other benefit to it or any of its affiliates which may result directly or indirectly
from such selection.

Under the Notes, the Final Value is one of the factors in the determination of the redemption amount of the Notes
at their Maturity Date. The terms of the Credit Linked Notes provide that the Calculation Agent will, depending on
the election mentioned in the Final Terms, determine the Final Value either by obtaining quotations from
Quotation Dealers in respect of Selected Obligation(s) or by reference to Transaction Auction Settlement Terms
(unless no Auction Final Price is available following any relevant Transaction Auction Settlement Terms in which
case the Calculation Agent will determine the Final Value in respect of Selected Obligation(s) by obtaining
quotations from Quotation Dealers). In this regard, investors should note that: (i) the Final Value as determined
by reference to Transaction Auction Settlement Terms may differ from the Final Value determined otherwise and
a lower Final Value will typically reduce the amount payable to Noteholders upon redemption of the Notes; and
(i) the Calculation Agent may have a conflict of interest to the extent that it participates in the establishment of
the Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and potentially influences the pricing mechanism.

If Transaction Auction Settlement Terms are not published within a certain period and if it is not possible to obtain
quotations from Quotation Dealers for the Selected Obligations within a further period, the Final Value of the
Selected Obligations will be deemed to be zero and therefore the Cash Redemption Amount will be equal to zero.
In addition, the above-mentioned periods between Credit Event and valuation may amount to as many as 180
Business Days following the date on which the existence of a Credit Event is established, therefore, settlement,
or as the case may be, notice that no amount is due under the Credit Linked Notes may occur several months
after the relevant Credit Event on a date which may be much later than the Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes.
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Where Quotation Dealer is applicable, factors affecting the Quotations Dealers may have a negative impact on
the quotations obtained from Quotation Dealers (which may be lower than the value of the relevant obligations)
and may as a result adversely affect the Cash Redemption Amount. The Cash Redemption Amount may be
equal to zero if it is not possible to obtain quotations from Quotation Dealers for the selected obligations.

Deferral of valuation and/or payments

In certain circumstances including but not limited to Unsettled Credit Events or in case of Physical Settlement if
the Calculation Agent determines that the Specified Deliverable Obligation(s) are Undeliverable Obligation(s), (i)
the timing of valuation of the Notes may be deferred and as a result the amount of principal and/or interest
payable to the Noteholders may be adversely affected and (ii) payment of principal and/or interest due to the
Noteholders may be deferred without compensation to the Noteholders.

Adjustment — Early termination

Investors should be aware that unless otherwise specified in the Final Terms, an issue of Credit Linked Notes
includes provisions to the effect that:

0] following the occurrence of certain events affecting any Reference Entity(ies) or any Hedge Positions
entered into or to be entered into by the Issuer or any of its affiliates (as more fully described in the
Credit Technical Annex), the Calculation Agent may determine, in good faith, the appropriate
adjustment(s), if any, to be made to any of the terms of the Terms and Conditions and/or the applicable
Final Terms to account for that event and determine the effective date of that adjustment. Such
adjustment may have an adverse effect on the Final Redemption Amount, the value and liquidity of the
affected Credit Linked Notes; or

(ii) following the occurrence of certain events affecting the Hedge Positions entered into or to be entered
into by the Issuer or any of its affiliates (as more fully described in the Credit Technical Annex), the
Issuer may redeem the Notes at their Market Value. Following such redemption, an investor may not be
able to reinvest the redemption proceeds on equivalent terms.

Conflicts of interest

The Noteholders are informed that each of the Issuer and the Dealer may from time to time hold Obligations of
the Reference Entities. The rights and obligations of the Issuer under the Notes or any loss suffered by the
Noteholders under the Notes are both irrespective of whether the Issuer has a credit exposure to a Reference
Entity or has suffered any loss in relation to a Reference Entity.

Société Générale and its affiliates may, at the date at any time, be in possession of information in relation to any
Reference Entity or Reference Obligation that is or may be material in the context of the issue of the Notes and
that may not be publicly available or known to the other. There is no obligation on Société Générale and its
affiliates to disclose to the Noteholders or any other party any such relationship or information whether before or
after the Issue Date.

Credit Rating

Noteholders should be aware that credit ratings do not constitute a guarantee of the quality of the Notes or the
Reference Entity(ies). The rating assigned to the Notes by the rating agencies, if any, is based on the Reference
Entity(ies)’'s current financial condition (or, as the case may be, the Reference Entity(ies)s long term
unsubordinated debt rating) and reflects only the rating agencies’ opinions. In respect of the Reference
Entity(ies), rating agencies do not evaluate the risks of fluctuation in market value but attempt to assess the
likelihood of principal and/or interest payments being made. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell
or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the assigning agency.
Nevertheless, the rating agencies may fail to make timely changes in credit ratings in response to subsequent
events so that a Reference Entity(ies)'s current financial condition may be better or worse than a rating indicates.
Accordingly a credit rating may not fully reflect the true risks under the Notes.
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Certain considerations associated with Managed Assets Portfolio Linked Notes

Managed Assets Portfolio Linked Notes may be linked to a portfolio often comprising assets with a greater
potential for return and consequently greater risk (such as, but without limitation, hedge funds or funds of hedge
funds) and assets with a lower potential for return and consequently lesser risk (such as, but without limitation,
money market funds or bonds issued by issuers with a high credit rating). The portfolio may also include
leverage or the taking of short positions on certain specified terms. The portfolio is dynamically managed and
may be rebalanced between the relevant assets based upon a specified allocation methodology. The value of
Managed Assets Portfolio Linked Notes is determined by reference to the value of the underlying portfolio at
different times. This portfolio may change during the term of the Notes; such changes or the timing thereof may
affect the value of, and any return on, the Notes.

Considering the above aspects, Managed Assets Portfolio Linked Notes are by their nature intrinsically complex,
which makes their evaluation difficult, in terms of risk and return at the time of the purchase as well as thereafter.
Investors should therefore purchase Managed Portfolio Linked Notes only after having completely understood
and evaluated either themselves or with a financial adviser the nature and the risk inherent to the Managed
Assets Portfolio Linked Notes.

Physical Delivery Notes

In the case of Notes which are redeemable by delivery of assets, if a Settlement Disruption Event (as described
in the applicable Final Terms) occurs or exists on the due date for redemption of the Notes, such delivery shall
occur on the first succeeding day on which delivery of the Physical Delivery Amount can take place through the
relevant Clearing System unless a Settlement Disruption Event prevents delivery for a period of 20 Clearing
System Days immediately following the original date that would have been the Settlement Date. In that latter
case, the Issuer shall, in lieu of delivering the Physical Delivery Amount, pay, in respect of each Note, the fair
market value of the number of Underlying(s) (the Fair Market Value) to be delivered converted into the Specified
Currency at the current exchange rate, if applicable. The Fair Market Value will be determined by the Calculation
Agent on the basis of the market conditions on the first Business Day following the Delivery Period.

Risks relating to Preference Share Linked Notes

The Issuer may issue Preference Share Linked Notes where the amount payable on redemption is determined by
reference to the changes in the value of the preference shares (Preference Shares) issued by Solentis
Investment Solutions PCC (the Preference Share Issuer), which may fluctuate up or down depending on the
performance of the relevant underlying asset(s) or basis of reference to which the Preference Shares are linked
(the Preference Share Underlying) as set out in the terms and conditions of the Preference Shares (the Terms
of the Preference Shares). If, as a result of the performance of the Preference Share Underlying, the
performance of the Preference Shares is negative the value of the Preference Share Linked Notes will be
adversely affected. Purchasers of Preference Share Linked Notes risk losing all or a part of their investment if the
value of the Preference Shares falls.

Potential investors in Preference Share Linked Notes should be aware that an investment in Preference Share
Linked Notes will entail significant risks not associated with a conventional debt or equity security. Potential
investors in Preference Share Linked Notes should conduct their own investigations and, in deciding whether or
not to purchase the Preference Share Linked Notes, prospective investors should form their own views of the
merits of an investment related to the Preference Shares based upon such investigations and not in reliance on
any information given in this document.

Preference Share Linked Notes will be subject to early redemption if an Early Redemption Event occurs. In these
circumstances the Issuer may redeem the Notes at the Early Redemption Amount. The Early Redemption

Amount may be less (and in certain circumstances, significantly less) than investors' initial investment.

Exposure to the Preference Share Underlying
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The Preference Share Underlying may be a specified index or basket of indices, a specified equity or basket of
equities, a specified commodity or basket of commodities, a specified fund share or unit or basket of fund shares
or units or such other underlying instruments, bases of reference or factors as may be determined by the
Preference Share Issuer and specified in the terms and conditions of the relevant series of Preference Shares.
Consequently potential investors should also consider the risk factors in respect of the risks involved in
investing in Notes (in this case the Preference Shares) linked to certain Reference Asset(s).

The Terms of the Preference Shares provide that the Preference Shares will be redeemable on their final
redemption date (or otherwise in accordance with the Terms of the Preference Shares). On redemption, the
Preference Shares will carry preferred rights to receive an amount calculated by reference to the Preference
Share Underlying.

Investors should review the Terms of the Preference Shares and consult with their own professional advisers if
they consider it necessary.

Credit Risk of the Preference Share Issuer

Preference Share Linked Notes are linked to the performance of the relevant Preference Shares. Investors bear
the risk of an investment in the Preference Share Issuer. The value of the Preference Share Linked Notes is
dependent on the value of the Preference Shares, which will depend in part on the creditworthiness of the
Preference Share Issuer, which may vary over the term of the Preference Share Linked Notes.

Potential conflicts of interest

SG Issuer is the Issuer and unless otherwise specified in the Final Terms, Societe Generale is the Calculation
Agent in respect of Preference Share Linked Notes and also acts as calculation agent in respect of the
Preference Shares (the Preference Share Calculation Agent). The Issuer and Societe Generale are affiliates.
As a result of this relationship, potential conflicts of interest may arise for the Issuer and Societe Generale in
acting in their respective capacities. Subject to any relevant regulatory obligations, the Issuer and the Preference
Share Calculation Agent owe no duty or responsibility to any Noteholder to avoid any conflict or to act in the
interests of any Noteholder. The Preference Share Issuer may also rely on other Societe Generale group entities
(including the Preference Share Calculation Agent) or other service providers to perform its operational
requirements. In the event any relevant Societe Generale group entity or other service provider fails to perform
any obligations, this may adversely affect the value of the Preference Shares and potentially the amounts
payable under the Notes.

In addition to providing calculation agency services to the Preference Share Issuer, Societe Generale or any of its
affiliates may perform further or alternative roles relating to the Preference Share Issuer and any series of
Preference Shares including, but not limited to, being involved in arrangements relating to any Preference Share
Underlying (for example as calculation agent). Further, Societe Generale or any of its affiliates (including the
Issuer) may contract with the Preference Share Issuer and/or enter into transactions, including hedging
transactions, which relate to the Preference Share Issuer, the Preference Shares or any Preference Share
Underlying and as a result Societe Generale may face a conflict between its obligations as Preference Share
Calculation Agent and its and/or its affiliates' interests in other capacities.

Determination of Extraordinary Events and Additional Disruption Events

The Calculation Agent may determine the occurrence of a Merger Event, Tender Offer, Insolvency or Additional
Disruption Event in relation to the Preference Share Linked Notes. Upon such determination, the Issuer may, at
its option redeem the Preference Share Linked Notes in whole at the Early Redemption Amount which may be
less than the amount invested in the Preference Share Linked Notes. Noteholders will not benefit from any

appreciation of the Preference Shares that may occur following such redemption.

No ownership rights
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An investment in Preference Share Linked Notes is not the same as an investment in the Preference Shares and
does not confer any legal or beneficial interest in the Preference Shares or any Preference Share Underlying or
any voting rights, right to receive dividends or other rights that a holder of the Preference Shares or any
Preference Share Underlying may have.

Hedging activities of the Issuer and its affiliates

The Issuer or its affiliates may carry out hedging activities related to the Preference Share Linked Notes,
including purchasing the Preference Shares and/or purchasing or entering into contracts relating to the
Preference Share Underlying, but will not be obliged to do so. Certain of the Issuer's affiliates may also purchase
and sell the Preference Shares and/or purchase and sell or enter into contracts relating to the Preference Share
Underlying on a regular basis as part of their regular business. Any of these activities could adversely affect the
value of the Preference Share Underlying and, accordingly, the value of the Preference Shares and the
Preference Share Linked Notes.

Risks relating to Warrant Linked Notes

The Issuer may issue Warrant Linked Notes where the amount payable on redemption is determined by
reference to the changes in the value of warrants issued by the Warrant Issuer (Warrants). The value of the
Warrants may fluctuate up or down depending on the performance of the relevant underlying asset(s) or basis of
reference to which the Warrants are linked (the Warrant Underlying) as set out in the terms and conditions of
the Warrants (the Warrant Conditions). |If, as a result of the performance of the Warrant Underlying, the
performance of the Warrants is negative the value of the Warrant Linked Notes will be adversely affected.
Purchasers of Warrant Linked Notes risk losing all or a part of their investment if the value of the Warrants falls.

Potential investors in Warrant Linked Notes should be aware that an investment in Warrant Linked Notes will
entail significant risks not associated with a conventional debt or equity security. Potential investors in Warrant
Linked Notes should conduct their own investigations and, in deciding whether or not to purchase the Warrant
Linked Notes, prospective investors should form their own views of the merits of an investment related to the
Warrants based upon such investigations and not in reliance on any information given in this document.

Warrant Linked Notes will be subject to early redemption if a Warrant Termination Event occurs or, if applicable,
an Additional Disruption Event occurs. In these circumstances the Issuer may redeem the Notes at the Early
Redemption Amount. The Early Redemption Amount may be less (and in certain circumstances, significantly
less) than investors' initial investment.

Exposure to the Warrant Underlying

The Warrant Underlying may include an index or basket of indices in each case comprising listed equities or
commodities, a specified listed equity or basket of listed equities or a specified commodity or basket of
commodities. Consequently potential investors should also consider the risk factors in respect of the

risks involved in investing in Notes (in this case the Warrants) linked to certain Reference Asset(s).

Investors should review the Warrant Conditions and consult with their own professional advisers if they consider
it necessary.

Credit Risk of the issuer of the Warrants

Warrant Linked Notes are linked to the performance of the relevant Warrants. Investors bear the risk of an
investment in the issuer of the Warrants. The value of the Warrant Linked Notes is dependent on the value of the
Warrants, which will depend in part on the creditworthiness of the issuer of the Warrants, which may vary over

the term of the Warrant Linked Notes.

Potential conflicts of interest
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In the case of Warrant Linked Notes, SG Issuer is the Issuer and may also be the issuer and/or the calculation
agent in respect of the Warrants underlying the Notes. Potential conflicts of interest may arise for the Issuer in
acting in each of these capacities. In addition as issuer or calculation agent in respect of the warrants underlying
the Notes, the Issuer or any of its affiliates may perform further or alternative roles including, but not limited to,
being involved in arrangements relating to any of the underlying reference assets (for example as a calculation
agent).

Determination of Extraordinary Events and Additional Disruption Events

The Calculation Agent may determine the occurrence of a Warrant Termination Event or Additional Disruption
Event in relation to the Warrant Linked Notes. Upon such determination, the Issuer may, at its option redeem the
Warrant Linked Notes in whole at the Early Redemption Amount, which may be less than the amount invested in
the Warrant Linked Notes. Noteholders will not benefit from any appreciation of the Warrants that may occur
following such redemption.

No ownership rights

An investment in Warrant Linked Notes is not the same as an investment in the Warrants and does not confer
any legal or beneficial interest in the Warrants or any Warrant Underlying or any rights that a holder of the
Warrants or any Warrant Underlying may have.

Hedging activities of the Issuer and its affiliates

The Issuer or its affiliates may carry out hedging activities related to the Warrant Linked Notes, including
purchasing the Warrants and/or purchasing or entering into contracts relating to the Warrant Underlying, but will
not be obliged to do so. Certain of the Issuer's affiliates may also purchase and sell the Warrants and/or
purchase and sell or enter into contracts relating to the Warrant Underlying on a regular basis as part of their
regular business. Any of these activities could adversely affect the value of the Warrant Underlying and,
accordingly, the value of the Warrants and the Warrant Linked Notes.

Risks Factors relating to Notes denominated in CNY
CNY is not freely convertible and the liquidity of the Notes denominated in Renminbi may be adversely affected

CNY is not freely convertible at present. The PRC government continues to regulate conversion between CNY
and foreign currencies, including the Hong Kong Dollar, despite the significant reduction over the years by the
PRC government of its control over routine foreign exchange transactions under current accounts. The People's
Bank of China (PBOC) has established a CNY clearing and settlement system for participating banks in Hong
Kong pursuant to a settlement agreement relating to the clearing of CNY business between PBOC and Bank of
China (Hong Kong) Limited. However, the current size of CNY and CNY denominated financial assets in Hong
Kong is limited, and its growth is subject to many constraints which are directly affected by PRC laws and
regulations on foreign exchange and may adversely affect the liquidity of the Notes.

CNY currency risk

All payments of CNY under the Notes to the Noteholders will be made solely by transfer to a CNY bank account
maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with the prevailing rules and regulations and in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Notes. The Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any other means
(including in bank notes or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC or anywhere else outside Hong Kong). CNY
is not freely convertible at present, and conversion of CNY into other currencies through banks in Hong Kong is
subject to certain restrictions. In particular, for personal investors, currently conversions of CNY conducted
through CNY deposit accounts are subject to a daily limit (as of the date hereof, such limit being up to
CNY20,000 per person per day), and investors may have to allow time for conversion of CNY from/to another
currency of an amount exceeding such daily limit.
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In addition, there can be no assurance that access to CNY for the purposes of making payments under the Notes
or generally may remain or will not become restricted. If it becomes impossible to convert CNY from/to another
freely convertible currency, or transfer CNY between accounts in Hong Kong, or the general CNY exchange
market in Hong Kong becomes illiquid, any payment of CNY under the Notes may be delayed or the Issuer may
make such payments in another currency selected by the Issuer using an exchange rate determined by the
Calculation Agent, or the Issuer may redeem the Notes by making payment in another currency.

CNY exchange rate risk

The value of CNY against the Hong Kong dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates and is affected by
changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions and by many other factors. The Issuer
will make all CNY payments under the Notes in CNY (subject to the second paragraph under the heading "CNY
currency risk" above). As a result, the value of such payments in CNY (in Hong Kong dollar or other applicable
foreign currency terms) may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of CNY
depreciates against the Hong Kong dollar or other foreign currencies, the value of an investor's investment in
Hong Kong dollar or other applicable foreign currency terms will decline.

CNY interest rate risk

Where applicable, the value of CNY payments under the Notes may be susceptible to interest rate fluctuations,
including Chinese CNY Repo Rates and/or the Shanghai inter-bank offered rate (SHIBOR).

C. GENERAL, MARKET AND OTHER RISKS

Risks related to Notes generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:

Modification

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting
their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders
who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the
majority.

Change of law

The conditions of the Notes (including any non-contractual obligations arising therefrom or connected therewith)
are based on relevant laws in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the
impact of any possible judicial decision or change to such laws, or the official application or interpretation of such
laws or administrative practices after the date of this Base Prospectus.

Legality of Purchase

Neither the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Arranger, the Dealer(s) nor any of their respective affiliates has or assumes
responsibility for the lawfulness of the acquisition of the Notes by a prospective investor in the Notes, whether
under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or the jurisdiction in which it operates (if different), or for
compliance by that prospective investor with any law, regulation or regulatory policy applicable to it.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or
regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether

and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (i) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of
borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should
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consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under
any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Taxation

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or other
documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes are
transferred or other jurisdictions. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court
decisions may be available in relation to the tax treatment of financial instruments such as the Notes. Potential
investors are advised not to rely upon the tax summary contained in this Programme and/or in the Final Terms
but to ask for their own tax adviser's advice on their individual taxation with respect to the acquisition, holding,
sale and redemption of the Notes. Only such adviser is in a position to duly consider the specific situation of the
potential investor. This investment consideration has to be read in connection with the taxation sections of this
Programme and the additional tax sections, if any, contained in the applicable Final Terms.

EU Savings Directive

Under EC Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income (the Savings Directive), Member States are
required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar
income) paid by a person within their jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State or to certain
limited types of entities established in that other Member State. However, for a transitional period, Luxembourg
and Austria are instead required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system
in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of
certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU
countries and territories including Switzerland have adopted similar measures (in the case of Switzerland a
withholding system or exchange of information if the individual resident in the Member State agrees to such
exchange or information).

The European Commission has proposed certain amendments to the Savings Directive which may, if
implemented, amend or broaden the scope of the requirements described above.

If a payment were to be made or collected through a Member State which has opted for a withholding system and
an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, neither the Issuer nor any Paying
Agent nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts with respect to any Note as a result of
the imposition of such withholding tax. The Issuer is required to maintain a Paying Agent in a Member State that
is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to the Savings Directive.

Investors who are in any doubt as to their position should consult their professional advisers.
The US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) withholding risk

FACTA generally imposes a 30 per cent. withholding tax on certain payments to certain non-US financial
institutions that do not enter into and comply with an agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the IRS)
to provide certain information on its U.S. accountholders (including the holders of its debt or equity). The IRS is
still in the process of developing and issuing guidance on the implementation of FATCA and the full extent and
implications of the legislation are presently unclear in the market. Therefore, it is not certain whether FATCA wiill
ultimately impose obligations on certain Noteholders or the Issuer (see "Taxation — Other Jurisdictions — United
States").

FATCA IS PARTICULARLY COMPLEX AND ITS APPLICATION TO THE ISSUER IS UNCERTAIN AT THIS
TIME. EACH NOTEHOLDER SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISER TO OBTAIN A MORE DETAILED
EXPLANATION OF FATCA AND TO DETERMINE HOW THIS LEGISLATION MIGHT AFFECT EACH HOLDER
IN ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
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The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank), which provides for substantial
changes to the regulation of the futures and over-the-counter (OTC) derivative markets, was enacted in July
2010.

Dodd-Frank requires regulators, including the CFTC, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) the
Department of the Treasury, the Financial Stability Oversight Council (the FSOC), the Office of the Comptroller of
the Currency, and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation to adopt regulations to implement many of the
requirements of the legislation. While certain regulations under Dodd-Frank have been adopted, much of the
significant rule-making remains to be done, and the ultimate nature and scope of the regulations cannot yet be
determined. By way of example, final regulations defining the terms “swap” and “securities-based swap” have
not been adopted and it is not possible to conclude that the Notes will not be deemed to be “swaps” or
“securities-based swaps” under Dodd-Frank and regulated as such. Options, swaps and other instruments
entered into by the Issuer may also be considered “swaps” or “securities-based swaps” under Dodd-Frank and be
subject to regulation thereunder.

Under Dodd-Frank, the CFTC has approved a final rule to impose limits on the size of positions that can be held
by market participants in futures and OTC derivatives. While the precise scope and effect of the final rule is not
yet known, these limits will likely restrict the ability of market participants to participate in the commodity, future
and swap markets and markets for other OTC derivatives to the extent and at the levels that they have in the
past. These factors may have the effect of reducing liquidity and increasing costs in these markets as well as
affecting the structure of the markets in other ways. In addition, these legislative and regulatory changes will likely
increase the level of regulation of markets and market participants, and therefore the costs of participating in the
commodities, futures and OTC derivative markets. Without limitation, these changes will require many OTC
derivative transactions to be executed on regulated exchanges or trading platforms and cleared through
regulated clearing houses. Swap dealers will also be required to be registered and will be subject to various
regulatory requirements, including capital and margin requirements. The various legislative and regulatory
changes, and the resulting increased costs and regulatory oversight requirements, could result in market
participants being required to, or deciding to, limit their trading activities, which could cause reductions in market
liquidity and increases in market volatility. These consequences could adversely affect the return on and value of
the Notes.

Dodd-Frank also: requires the SEC to promulgate rules generally prohibiting firms from underwriting or
sponsoring an asset-backed security, including certain synthetic structured products, that would result in a
material conflict of interest with respect to investors in that security; establishes the FSOC to oversee systemic
risk, and provides regulators with the power to require companies deemed “systemically important” to sell or
transfer assets and terminate activities if the regulators determine that the size or scope of activities of the
company pose a threat to the safety and soundness of the company or the financial stability of the United States;
requires covered entities to provide a credible plan for resolution under the Bankruptcy Code, and provides
sanctions that include divestiture of assets or restructuring in the event the plan is deemed insufficient; and
requires several regulators to jointly promulgate rules implementing prohibitions and restrictions on proprietary
trading and certain interests in, and relationships with, hedge funds and private equity funds (the Volcker Rule).
The Volcker Rule is currently scheduled for effectiveness on 21 July 2012, and once it becomes effective, it could
prohibit Société Générale from owning the Issuer or guaranteeing payments on the Notes (including previously
issued Notes and outstanding Notes).

Given that the full scope and consequences of the enactment of Dodd-Frank and the rules still to be enacted
thereunder are not yet known, investors are urged to consult their own advisors regarding the suitability of an
investment in any Notes under the Programme.

Further, the Issuer could be required to register as a commodity pool operator and to register one or more Series
of Notes as commodity pools with the CFTC through the National Futures Association. Such additional
registrations may result in increased reporting obligations and also in extraordinary, non-recurring expenses of
the Issuers thereby materially and adversely impacting a Note's value.
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In addition, other regulatory bodies have proposed or may propose in the future legislation similar to those
proposed by Dodd-Frank or other legislation containing other restrictions that could adversely impact the liquidity
of and increase costs of entering into derivatives transaction. For example, the European Commission recently
published a proposal to update the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID 1l) and Markets in Financial
Instruments Regulation (MiFIR), which proposes regulations to establish position limits (or an alternative
equivalent) on trading derivatives, although the scope of any final rules and the degree to which member states
will be required or permitted to adopt these regulations or additional regulations remains unclear. If these
regulations are adopted or other regulations are adopted in the future, they could have an adverse impact on the
return on and value of the Notes.

Eurosystem eligibility for New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes

New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes issued under the new safekeeping structure (NSS) may be
issued with the intention that such Notes be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and
intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem, either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such
recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria as specified by the European
Central Bank. However, there is no guarantee that such Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral. Any other
Notes are not intended to be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit
operations by the Eurosystem.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: Definitive Bearer Notes

In relation to any issue of Bearer Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified
Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such
Bearer Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination.
In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the
minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not
receive a Definitive Bearer Note in respect of such holding (should Definitive Bearer Notes be printed) and would
need to purchase a principal amount of Bearer Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If Definitive Bearer Notes are issued, holders should be aware that Definitive Bearer Notes which have a
denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult
to trade.

Transfer Restrictions

The Notes may be subject to certain transfer restrictions. In particular, any Notes offered and sold or intended to
be transferred in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons, can only be sold or
otherwise transferred to certain transferees as described under "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions".
Such restrictions on transfer may limit the liquidity of such Notes. Consequently, a purchaser must be prepared to
hold such Notes for an indefinite period of time and potentially until their maturity.

Any sale or transfer of Notes in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons in violation
of the transfer restrictions that would cause the Issuer to become required to register as an investment company
under the Investment Company Act will be void ab initio and will not be honoured by the Issuer, except to the
extent otherwise required by law. In addition, the Issuer may, in its discretion, redeem the Notes held by such
purchaser or other transferee or compel any such purchaser or other transferee to transfer such Notes. Any such
redemption or forced transfer may result in a significant loss of a Noteholder's investment.

Investment Company Act
The Issuer has not registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) as an

investment company pursuant to the Investment Company Act. Investors in the Notes will not have the
protections of the Investment Company Act.
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If the SEC or a court of competent jurisdiction were to find that the Issuer is required, but in violation of the
Investment Company Act, has failed, to register as an investment company, possible consequences include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) the SEC could apply to a district court to enjoin the violation; (ii) investors in
the Issuer could sue the Issuer and recover any damages caused by the violation; and (iii) any contract to which
the Issuer is party that is made in, or whose performance involves, a violation of the Investment Company Act
would be unenforceable by any party to the contract unless a court were to find that under the circumstances
enforcement would produce a more equitable result than non-enforcement and would not be inconsistent with the
purposes of the Investment Company Act. Should the Issuer be subjected to any or all of the foregoing, the
Issuer would be materially and adversely affected.

A Noteholder's actual yield on the Notes may be reduced from the stated yield by transaction costs.

When Notes are purchased or sold, several types of incidental costs (including transaction fees and
commissions) are incurred in addition to the current price of the security. These incidental costs may significantly
reduce or even exclude the profit potential of the Notes. For instance, credit institutions as a rule charge their
clients for own commissions which are either fixed minimum commissions or pro-rata commissions depending on
the order value. To the extent that additional — domestic or foreign — parties are involved in the execution of an
order, including but not limited to domestic dealers or brokers in foreign markets, Noteholders must take into
account that they may also be charged for the brokerage fees, commissions and other fees and expenses of
such parties (third party costs).

In addition to such costs directly related to the purchase of securities (direct costs), Noteholders must also take
into account any follow-up costs (such as custody fees). Prospective investors should inform themselves about
any additional costs incurred in connection with the purchase, custody or sale of the Notes before investing in the
Notes.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk,
interest rate risk and credit risk:

The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does
develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that
will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is
particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed
for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of
limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and
more price volatility than conventional debt securities. llliquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the
market value of Notes.

Moreover, although pursuant to Condition 6(k) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes and 5(k) of the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, the Issuer can purchase
Notes at any moment, this is not an obligation for the Issuer. Purchases made by the Issuer could affect the
liquidity of the secondary market of the relevant Notes and thus the price and the conditions under which
investors can negotiate these Notes on the secondary market.

In addition, Noteholders should be aware of the prevailing and widely reported global credit market
conditions (which continue at the date of this Base Prospectus), whereby there is a general lack of
liquidity in the secondary market for instruments similar to certain of the Notes which may be issued
hereunder. Such lack of liquidity may result in investors suffering losses on the Notes in secondary
resales even if there is no decline in the performance of the Notes, any underlying or reference, or the
assets of the Issuer and/or the Guarantor. The Issuer cannot predict whether these circumstances will
change and whether, if and when they do change, there will be a more liquid market for the Notes and

instruments similar to the Notes at that time.
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Although applications have been made for the Notes issued under the Programme to be listed and admitted to
trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or the SIX Swiss Exchange, there is no assurance that such
application will be accepted, that any particular Tranche of Notes will be so admitted or that an active trading
market will develop.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks
relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or
currency unit (the Investor's Currency) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange
rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of
the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or
modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified
Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's
Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency-equivalent
market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could
adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than
expected, or no interest or principal.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely
affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

As regards Floating Rate Notes, a key difference between Floating Rate Notes and Fixed Rate Notes is that
interest income on Floating Rate Notes cannot be anticipated. Due to varying interest income, investors are not
able to determine a definite yield of Floating Rate Notes at the time they purchase them and therefore their
investment return cannot be compared with that of investments having longer fixed interest periods. If the terms
and conditions of the notes provide for frequent interest payment dates, investors are exposed to reinvestment
risk if market interest rates decline. That is, investors may reinvest the interest income paid to them only at the
relevant lower interest rates then prevailing. In addition, the Issuer's ability to also issue Fixed Rate Notes may
affect the market value and the secondary market (if any) of the Floating Rate Notes (and vice versa).

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may not
reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other
factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold
securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European
Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September 2009, as amended by Regulation (EU) No 513/2011 of the
European Parliament and of the Council dated 11 May 2011 (the CRA Regulation) from using credit ratings for
regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EU and
registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended), subject to
transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances whilst the registration application is pending. Such
general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless the
relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating
agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the
case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended).

The relevant Final Terms will specify whether or not such credit ratings are issued by credit rating agencies
established in the European Union, and whether or not the relevant credit rating agency is registered (or has
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applied for registration) under the CRA Regulation and is included in the list of registered credit rating agencies
published on the website of the European Securities and Markets Authority (www.esma.europa.eu).

Market value of the Notes

The market value of the Notes will be affected by, amongst other things, the creditworthiness of the Issuer and/or
that of the Guarantor. The credit ratings of the Issuer and the Guarantor are an assessment of their ability to pay
their obligations, including those on the offered Notes. Consequently, actual or anticipated declines in the credit
ratings of either the Issuer and/or the Guarantor may affect the market value of the relevant Notes. The market
value of Secured Notes will also depend on various other factors relating to the method of collateralisation
provided for such Notes, in relation to which please refer to "Risk Factors — Additional Risks Associated with
Secured Notes" below.

In addition, the market value of the Notes may be affected by a number of additional factors, including the market
interest and yield rates and the time remaining to the maturity date.

The value of the Notes depends on a number of interrelated factors, including economic, financial and political
events in France and elsewhere, including factors affecting capital markets generally and the stock exchanges on
which the Notes are traded. The price at which a Noteholder will be able to sell the Notes prior to maturity may be
at a discount, which could be substantial, from the issue price or the purchase price paid by such purchaser.

D. ADDITIONAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH SECURED NOTES
Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes
Nature of security

The security granted by the Issuer under a Pledge Agreement is a security interest over the accounts in which
the Collateral Assets are held and does not extend to any interest or distributions paid on such Collateral Assets
(to the extent such amounts are not held in the relevant Collateral Account).

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, no security interest will be granted by the Issuer over
any of its rights under any agreement (including, without limitation, any Hedging Agreement) under which it
acquires any Collateral Assets or its rights against the Collateral Custodian or any other Collateral Arrangement
Party. This means that neither the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) nor the Security Agent (in
the case of French Law Notes) will have any ability to compel the Issuer to enforce its rights (or to enforce such
rights on behalf of the Issuer) under any agreement against a counterparty to such agreement.

Structure of Collateral Accounts

The Collateral Custodian may, to the extent permitted in the Collateral Custodian Agreement, pursuant to its
standard terms of business and in accordance with local regulations and market practice for custodian or sub-
custodian entities or as required pursuant to any contractual arrangements between the Collateral Custodian and
its sub-custodians, hold certain cash and/or securities sub-accounts with other custodial entities. Collateral
Assets which, pursuant to the terms of the Collateral Conditions and the Collateral Custodian Agreement, are to
be held with the Collateral Custodian in a Collateral Account may therefore in practice be held by the Collateral
Custodian in sub-accounts with other custodial entities. In such circumstances, although primary responsibility for
the Collateral Assets remains with the Collateral Custodian, Noteholders will be exposed to the risk of any
potential operational disruption or any other adverse impact related to custodial entities (including disruption
caused by any insolvency proceedings which may be commenced in respect of such custodial entities) with
whom the Collateral Custodian holds sub-accounts containing Collateral Assets.

Method of Collateralisation
The security provided for a Series of Secured Notes is limited to the Collateral Assets constituting the Collateral

Pool applicable to such Series. The amount of Collateral Assets constituting such Collateral Pool will depend,
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amongst other things, on the method of collateralisation (either MV Collateralisation, NV Collateralisation, Max
(MV, NV) Collateralisation or Min (MV, MV) Collateralisation) specified as being applicable in the applicable Final
Terms and whether or not a Partial Collateralisation Percentage and/or a Haircut is specified in the applicable
Final Terms. There is no guarantee that the applicable method of collateralisation will be sufficient to ensure that,
following enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the amounts available for distribution or the value of the Collateral
Assets available to be delivered by the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent
(in the case of French Law Notes) will be sufficient to pay all amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the
relevant Series of Secured Notes (see "Shortfall on Realisation of Collateral Assets and Limited Recourse of
Noteholders").

Change of law — Implementation of the Collateral Directive under Luxembourg Law

The provisions relating to Secured Notes in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (including the Collateral
Conditions), each relevant Pledge Agreement and the other programme documentation are based on relevant
law in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the impact on Noteholders
of any possible judicial decision or change to such laws, or the official application or interpretation of such laws or
administrative practices after the date of this Base Prospectus. In particular, significant changes to the Collateral
Act 2005 implementing Directive 2002/47/EC on financial collateral arrangements (the Collateral Directive) in
Luxembourg may have an adverse impact on the rights of the Noteholders. Neither the Issuer, the Guarantor nor
any other party makes any representation as to the interpretation of, or any amendments to, any of the provisions
of the Collateral Directive or its implementation in Luxembourg.

Potential lack of diversification of the Collateral Assets

Investors should note that, depending on the relevant Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, the Collateral
Assets in a Collateral Pool with which a Series of Secured Notes are secured may be, unless otherwise specified
in the relevant Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, limited to one or a few assets or types of assets.

Low diversification of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool may increase the risk that the proceeds of realisation
of the Collateral Assets may be less than the sums due to the relevant Noteholders under the relevant Secured
Notes. If the Collateral Pool is comprised of a limited number of different types of assets, any depreciation in the
value of such assets in the period between the most recent Collateral Test Date and the realisation of the
Collateral Assets in the corresponding Collateral Pool will have a proportionally larger impact on any shortfall as
the amount recovered in respect of the Collateral Assets on their sale will be dependent on the then current
market value of a smaller range of Collateral Assets.

None of the lIssuer, the Guarantor, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent, the Collateral Manager, the
Collateral Monitoring Agent or the Collateral Custodian is under any obligation to ensure that the relevant
Eligibility Criteria or Collateral Rules provide for the diversification of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool.

llliquid Collateral Assets

Depending on the relevant Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, certain of the Collateral Assets may not be
admitted to trading on any public market and may be illiquid and not easily realisable in certain market
circumstances. Where there is limited liquidity in the secondary market relating to Collateral Assets, the Security
Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes), or, in either
case, the Disposal Agent on their behalf, may not be able to readily sell such Collateral Assets to a third party or
may only be able to sell such Collateral Assets at a discounted value. Where the Security Trustee (in the case of
English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes), or, in either case, the Disposal
Agent on their behalf, is unable to sell such Collateral Assets, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law
Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) will instead be required to deliver such Collateral
Assets as if Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets were applicable in relation thereto.
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Correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the Creditworthiness of the Issuer and the Guarantor

Depending on the Eligibility Criteria and the Collateral Rules applicable for a Series of Secured Notes, the
Collateral Assets relating to such Series could be composed of assets whose value may be positively or
negatively correlated with the creditworthiness of the Issuer and the Guarantor. In the event that there is a
positive correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the creditworthiness of the Issuer and the
Guarantor, the value of the Collateral Assets will vary in the same way as the creditworthiness of the Issuer and
the Guarantor.

Where the value of the Collateral Assets is positively correlated with the creditworthiness of the Issuer and the
Guarantor, for example where the Collateral Assets consist of securities (such as debt or equities) issued by
other financial institutions, a default by the Issuer and the Guarantor in relation to their obligations under the
Secured Notes may be associated with a fall in the value of Collateral Assets securing such Secured Notes.

Determination of the Secured Note Market Value

Investors should note that the Secured Note Market Value determined by the Note Valuation Agent can differ
from the Market Value determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 6(h)(v) of the Terms
and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or Condition 5(h)(v) of the Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes and from the price proposed, as the case may be, by Société Générale, any
affiliate of Société Générale or any other entity as market maker on the secondary market for a Note. As a result,
where the Required Collateral Level is based on the Secured Note Market Value of the relevant Secured Notes,
there is no guarantee that following enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the amounts available for distribution or
the value of the Collateral Assets available to be delivered to Noteholders will be sufficient to pay amounts due to
Noteholders in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Notes where such amount due is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as being based upon the Market Value of such Secured Notes as determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 6(h)(v) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and the Uncertificated Notes or Condition 5(h)(v) of the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes.

Muiltiple Series Collateral Pools

Where the applicable Final Terms in respect of a Series of Secured Notes specify that "Multiple Series Collateral
Pool" will be applicable, security over the Collateral Pool may be shared by a number of Series of Secured Notes
and Noteholders will, by acquiring and holding such Notes, be deemed to acknowledge, accept and agree to the
rights of existing and future Noteholders of different Series of Secured Notes to share equally in such security.

Adjustments to Collateral Pool

Following a Collateral Test Date, the Issuer (or the Collateral Manager on its behalf) may be required to deliver,
or procure the delivery of, additional or replacement Collateral Assets to or from the Collateral Account such that
after such adjustment of Collateral Assets the Collateral Test will be satisfied. Investors, nevertheless, will be
exposed to the difference between the Required Collateral Value and the Collateral Value prior to any such
adjustment. Prior to such adjustment there is also a risk that the Collateral Assets may not meet the Eligibility
Criteria and/or that the Collateral Rules will not be satisfied.

The acquisition of Collateral Assets necessary to make the required adjustments to the Collateral Assets
contained in a Collateral Pool may be effected pursuant to the terms of any Hedging Agreement or otherwise. For
a description of the risks associated with the operation of a Hedging Agreement, see "Risk of non-performance of
obligations by a Counterparty" below.

"Haircut" applied to Collateral Assets

When determining the Collateral Value in respect of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool, the Collateral Manager
will, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, apply the Haircut (being the percentage amount by which the
value of each type or class of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool is reduced) specified in the applicable Final

Terms. Although the level(s) of Haircut specified in the applicable Final Terms is intended to reflect the risk of a
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depreciation in the value of Collateral Assets in the period between the most recent Collateral Test Date and the
date on which such Collateral Assets may be realised, investors should note that the value of a Collateral Asset
may change over time and the Haircut applied to the Collateral Assets may become outdated and may not
provide suitable protection against a potential depreciation in value of the relevant Collateral Asset. No duty of
care towards investors is implied or accepted by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Manager or the
Collateral Monitoring Agent in relation to the level(s) of Haircut to be applied to the Collateral Assets in a
particular Collateral Pool.

Waived Notes

If "Waiver of Rights" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, certain Noteholders intending to hold
Secured Notes (including, but not limited to, in their capacity as a market maker) may waive their rights to receive
the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets securing such Secured Notes (or where Physical Delivery of
Collateral Assets is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, delivery of the Collateral Assets)
following the enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement. As a consequence, when calculating the Required
Collateral Value, the Collateral Manager and the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall only take into account the
value of the Secured Notes that have not been subject to such waiver.

Upon any transfer of Waived Notes the holders thereof shall be required to notify the Collateral Manager. The
Collateral Business Day following such notification will be deemed to be a Collateral Test Date and on such date
the Collateral Manager shall determine the revised Required Collateral Value and any required adjustments to
the Collateral Pool necessary to ensure that the Collateral Test will be satisfied. Until any such adjustments to the
Collateral Assets have occurred, the value of Collateral Assets held in a Collateral Account securing a Series of
Secured Notes may be less than the revised Required Collateral Value.

If the number of Waived Notes actually held on a Collateral Test Date relating to a particular Collateral Pool is
less than the number of Waived Notes notified to the Collateral Manager (such event being a Waived Note
Notification Error), then the Required Collateral Value calculated on such Collateral Test Date will be lower than
would otherwise be the case if there was no such Waived Note Notification Error. If the relevant Pledge
Agreement were to be enforced prior to the correction of a Waived Note Notification Error, the proceeds of
realisation of the Collateral Assets available to be distributed, or where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is
applicable the value the Collateral Assets available to be delivered, to Noteholders whose Notes are secured on
such Collateral Pool will be less than would have been the case in the absence of such Waived Note Notification
Error.

Neither the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Manager nor the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall be responsible
for any incorrect, inaccurate or incomplete information relating to the number of Waived Notes held in relation to
any one or more Series of Secured Notes that may have been provided to the Collateral Manager by or on behalf
of any holder of Waived Notes and none of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Manager nor the Collateral
Monitoring Agent shall be under any duty to verify or otherwise confirm the number of Waived Notes so held.

Frequency of Collateral Test Dates

In order to ensure that a Series of Secured Notes is collateralised in accordance with its terms, the Collateral
Value and the Required Collateral Value will be determined on the Issue Date of such Series of Secured Notes,
on each periodic Collateral Test Date thereafter as specified in the applicable Final Terms and on any additional
date which is deemed to be a Collateral Test Date pursuant to the terms of the Collateral Conditions. The lower
the frequency of the periodic Collateral Test Dates specified in the applicable Final Terms and hence the greater
the period of time in between each such periodic Collateral Test Date the more likely it is that upon enforcement
of the relevant Pledge Agreement, the proceeds of enforcement that a Noteholder will receive or, where Physical
Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, the value of the Collateral Assets delivered, will be less than the
amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Notes.

In respect of certain Series of Secured Notes, the Final Terms may specify that there will be no periodic
Collateral Test Dates, in which case there will be no periodic adjustments to the Collateral Assets in the Collateral
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Pool during the life of the relevant Secured Notes other than on any date which is deemed to be a Collateral Test
Date pursuant to the terms of the Collateral Conditions. In this case, if the security created under the relevant
Pledge Agreement is enforced, the proceeds of enforcement that a Noteholder will receive or, where Physical
Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, the value of the Collateral Assets delivered, may be less than the
amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Notes.

Substitution of Collateral Assets

If "Substitution of Collateral Assets" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer (or the
Collateral Manager on its behalf) may withdraw and/or replace Collateral Assets from any Collateral Account
provided that following such adjustment the Collateral Test continues to be satisfied. The Issuer (or the Collateral
Manager on the Issuer's behalf) may give instructions for the substitution of Collateral Assets any number of
times over the term of the Secured Notes and is not required to obtain the consent of the Collateral Monitoring
Agent or any other party prior to effecting the proposed substitution of Collateral Assets. Until any further
adjustments to the Collateral Assets have occurred, the value of Collateral Assets held in a Collateral Account
securing a Series of Secured Notes may be less than it would have been were it not for the substitution of
Collateral Assets.

Early redemption or cancellation at the option of the Issuer upon a Collateral Disruption Event

Secured Notes will be subject to Collateral Disruption Events (as defined in the Collateral Conditions) which may
increase the possibility (in comparison with Unsecured Notes) of the Secured Notes being redeemed or cancelled
early. Upon the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event, the Issuer may in its sole and absolute discretion
redeem or cancel, as applicable, all of the relevant Secured Notes. Following the early redemption of the Secured
Notes, a Noteholder may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as
the interest rate on the Secured Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate
or in worse investment conditions. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other
investments available at that time.

Secured Note Acceleration Event and Enforcement of the security

If a Secured Note Acceleration Event occurs, all Secured Notes which are secured by the same Collateral Pool
as the one securing the Accelerated Secured Note will also become immediately due and repayable. Following
the occurrence of a Secured Note Acceleration Event, all Noteholders whose Notes have become immediately
due and payable will first be entitled to claim for any outstanding amounts due to them under the terms of the
Guarantee.

The Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) and the Security Agent (in the case of French Law
Notes) are only obliged to enforce a Pledge Agreement after having received a Collateral Enforcement Notice
from a Noteholder (or the Representative of the Masse in the case of French Law Notes acting pursuant to the
request of a Noteholder). A Noteholder (or the Representative of the Masse in the case of French Law Notes
acting pursuant to the request of a Noteholder) is only entitled to send a Collateral Enforcement Notice to the
Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) if
neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor (pursuant to the terms of the Guarantee) has paid all amounts due to such
Noteholder within a period of 20 Collateral Business Days following the occurrence of the relevant Secured Note
Acceleration Event.

The existence of the 20 Collateral Business Day period means that there will be a delay between the occurrence
of a Secured Note Acceleration Event and the enforcement of the corresponding Pledge Agreement during which
period there may be a depreciation in the value of the relevant Collateral Assets, thus reducing the amount
available to satisfy the claims of Noteholders upon realisation of the Collateral Assets.

Where the Collateral Assets consist of debt securities, shares or other tradable securities, liquidation of all the
Collateral Assets simultaneously may increase the risk that the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets
may be less than the sums due to the relevant Noteholders under the relevant Secured Notes because
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liquidation of all the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pools at the same time could, in particular market
circumstances, lead to a reduction in the market value of some or all of the Collateral Assets.

In addition, following the realisation of the Collateral Assets, an investor may not be able to reinvest any
Collateral Enforcement Proceeds Share that it receives at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on
the Secured Notes that have become immediately due and payable following the occurrence of a Secured Note
Acceleration Event and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate or in worse investment conditions.
Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

Shortfall on Realisation of Collateral Assets and Limited Recourse of Noteholders

The security provided for a Series of Secured Notes is limited to the Collateral Assets constituting the Collateral
Pool applicable to such Series. The value realised for the Collateral Assets in the relevant Collateral Pool or,
where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, the value of the Collateral Assets delivered, upon
enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement may be less than the amounts due to Noteholders in respect of
the relevant Series of Secured Notes and as a result, investors may lose a substantial portion of their investment.
The level of risk will particularly depend on the Haircut value(s), the Collateral Rules, the Eligibility Criteria and on
the collateralisation method (either MV Collateralisation, NV Collateralisation, Max (MV, NV) Collateralisation or
Min (MV, MV) Collateralisation) as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Investors should also note that the Collateral Assets may suffer a fall in value between the time at which the
relevant Pledge Agreement becomes enforceable and the time at which the Collateral Assets are realised in full
or, where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, delivered. In extraordinary circumstances, the
Collateral Assets forming part of the Collateral Pool available at the time at which a Pledge Agreement becomes
enforceable could lose all or a substantial proportion of their value by the time of realisation and distribution or
delivery, as applicable.

If there is any shortfall in amounts due to a Noteholder then such Noteholder shall have no further claim against
the Issuer, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French
Law Notes) in respect of such amounts which remain unpaid following enforcement of the relevant Pledge
Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, payments of principal, premium (if any) and/or interest in
respect of the Notes). In addition, no Noteholder shall be entitled to take any steps or proceedings to procure the
winding-up, administration or liquidation (or any other analogous proceeding) of the Issuer.

For the avoidance of doubt, in such a scenario, Noteholders will continue to be able to claim under the terms of
the Guarantee against the Guarantor for any unpaid amounts and any such shortfall will therefore constitute an
unsecured claim by such Noteholder against the Guarantor. Investors should therefore be aware that if the value
realised for the Collateral Assets or the value of any Collateral Assets delivered is less than the amounts due to
them under their Notes, they will be exposed to the creditworthiness of the Guarantor for the remaining amount
due to them.

Subordination of Noteholders to payment of expenses and other payments

Following the enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the rights of the Noteholders to be paid amounts from the
proceeds of such enforcement and the realisation of the related Collateral Assets or, where Physical Delivery of
Collateral Assets is applicable, to be delivered Collateral Assets, will be subordinated to and therefore rank
behind claims relating to any amounts payable in priority to Noteholders in accordance with the Order of Priority
specified in the applicable Final Terms and any rights of preference existing by operation of law.

Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets

If Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is specified in respect of a Series of Secured Notes, upon enforcement of
a Pledge Agreement, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case
of French Law Notes) will not sell, or cause to be sold, the Collateral Assets (unless there is a Physical Delivery
of Collateral Assets Disruption Event and other than in order to pay any amounts payable in priority to
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Noteholders in accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the applicable Final Terms) but will deliver the
Collateral Assets Entitlement to each Noteholder in the manner set out in the Collateral Conditions.

When Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, if a Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption
Event occurs or exists on the relevant Collateral Delivery Date, settlement will be postponed until the next
Collateral Business Day on which there is no Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event. If such
Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event continues for a continuous period of eight Collateral
Business Days after the original Collateral Delivery Date, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes)
or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes), or the Disposal Agent on their behalf, will procure the
sale of such Collateral Assets in lieu of delivery of the relevant Collateral Assets Entitlement. The amount
received by a Noteholder following such sale of Collateral Assets may be lower than the amount which a
Noteholder would have received if the relevant Collateral Assets had been delivered to it and the Noteholder held
the relevant Collateral Assets to the maturity date of such assets or sold such assets at a different point in time.

Risk of a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets in the event of the insolvency of the Issuer, the Security
Trustee, the Security Agent and/or the Collateral Custodian

Each Pledge Agreement will be governed by the Luxembourg act dated 5 August 2005 on financial collateral
arrangements, as amended. Article 20 of the Collateral Act 2005 provides that pledge agreements are valid and
effective against all third parties, including any receiver or liquidator, notwithstanding any reorganisation
procedure, liquidation procedure or any other situation leading to a competition amongst creditors, whether
Luxembourg or foreign. From a Luxembourg law perspective, no Luxembourg or foreign insolvency,
reorganisation or liquidation proceeding rules should impede the enforcement of a Pledge Agreement. Therefore,
each Pledge Agreement should not be materially impacted by insolvency proceedings initiated against the Issuer
in Luxembourg.

Despite the provisions of the Collateral Act 2005 described above, in the event of the insolvency of the Issuer, the
Security Trustee, the Security Agent or the Collateral Custodian, the realisation of the Collateral Assets may be
delayed either by the appointment of an insolvency administrator or other insolvency official in relation to the
Issuer, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent or the Collateral Custodian or by measures ordered by a
competent court. Such delay could adversely affect the position of the Noteholders in the event of a depreciation
in the value of the Collateral Assets during such period.

In addition, in the case of an insolvency of the Issuer, as the Collateral Manager (being Société Générale, unless
otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) and the Issuer are part of the Group, in the event of the
insolvency of the Issuer it is possible that the Collateral Manager may also be insolvent. Such circumstances may
lead to a delay in the administrative processes involved in the realisation of the Collateral Assets. However, as
the entities responsible for the enforcement of the Pledge Agreement and the realisation of the Collateral Assets,
namely the Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security Trustee (in the
case of English Law Notes) and the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) are not part of the Group,
the impact of any insolvency of the Issuer on such enforcement and realisation should be less material than it
would have been if the Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security
Trustee and/or the Security Agent were part of the Group.

The Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security Trustee and the Security
Agent are (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) part of the same group and in the event of
the insolvency of one entity it is possible that another entity may also be insolvent. Such circumstances may lead
to a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets. The Collateral Custodian Agreement, Collateral Monitoring
Agency Agreement, the Disposal Agency Agreement, the Substitute Paying Agency Agreement, the Security
Agency Agreement and each Security Trust Deed will contain provisions permitting the replacement of the
Collateral Custodian, Collateral Monitoring Agent, Disposal Agent, Substitute Paying Agent, Security Trustee and
Security Agent, as applicable, in certain circumstances, including following insolvency, as further provided in such
agreements and the Collateral Conditions.
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Potential Conflicts of Interest between Noteholders and the Collateral Manager and Note Valuation Agent

As the Collateral Manager and Note Valuation Agent are, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final
Terms, affiliates of the Issuer, potential conflicts of interest may arise between the Collateral Manager, the Note
Valuation Agent and the holders of the Secured Notes, including with respect to the making of certain
determinations and the exercise of certain discretions (including as to the calculation of the Secured Note Market
Value of the Secured Notes, the Collateral Value and the Required Collateral Value). In addition, whilst the
Collateral Manager and the Note Valuation Agent are obliged to carry out their duties and functions in good faith
and using their reasonable judgment, neither the Collateral Manager nor the Note Valuation Agent acts or will act
as a fiduciary or as an advisor to the Noteholders in respect of their duties as Collateral Manager and Note
Valuation Agent, respectively.

The risk to Noteholders of any conflict of interest between Noteholders and the Collateral Manager is mitigated by
the fact that any Collateral Test Notice is either reviewed, and the contents thereof verified by or otherwise
agreed with, a Collateral Monitoring Agent not belonging to the Group or else is subject to a predetermined
Collateral Test Dispute Resolution Procedure.

Security Trustee and Security Agent

The Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) and the Security Agent (in the case of French Law
Notes) will enforce the security under the relevant Pledge Agreement upon the delivery of a Collateral
Enforcement Notice and will either (i) liquidate or realise or will give instructions to the Disposal Agent to liquidate
or realise the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool which secures a Series of Secured Notes and subsequently
distribute the relevant Collateral Enforcement Proceeds Share (as defined in the Collateral Conditions) to the
relevant Noteholders or (ii) where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is specified as applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, arrange for delivery of the relevant Collateral Assets Entitlement (as defined in the
Collateral Conditions) to the relevant Noteholders, in each case in accordance with the Order of Priority specified
in the applicable Final Terms.

A failure by the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French
Law Notes) to perform their obligations with respect to the Collateral Assets or to perform their obligations in an
efficient manner may adversely affect the realisation of the Collateral Assets and the amount distributable or
deliverable to Noteholders.

The risk to Noteholders of a failure by the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) to perform its
obligations under a Pledge Agreement with respect to the Collateral Assets is mitigated by the fact that the
Security Trustee will covenant in the relevant Security Trust Deed to exercise its rights under the relevant Pledge
Agreement on behalf of and as trustee for the Noteholders and will declare a trust in favour of the Noteholders
and the other relevant Secured Parties over the rights granted to it under the relevant Pledge Agreement. As a
result, should the Security Trustee, having become bound to do so, fail to perform its enforcement obligations
with respect to the Collateral Assets, Noteholders will be entitled to directly enforce the terms of the relevant
Pledge Agreement. In addition, where the Security Trustee has failed to perform its enforcement obligations with
respect to the Collateral Assets, Noteholders will be entitled to appoint a replacement Security Trustee to enforce
the terms of the relevant Pledge Agreement. The Collateral Custodian, by virtue of being party to the relevant
Pledge Agreement, shall be deemed to have acknowledged the ability of Noteholders to appoint a replacement
Security Trustee in such circumstances.

The risk to Noteholders of a failure by the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) to perform its
obligations under a Pledge Agreement with respect to the Collateral Assets is mitigated by the fact that the
Security Agent will be appointed as security agent pursuant to article 2328-1 of the French Code Civil in the
Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes. In case of failure by the Security Agent to perform its obligations
in respect of a Pledge Agreement, the Representative of the Masse of the Noteholders will directly enforce the
terms of such Pledge Agreement on behalf of the Noteholders. The Collateral Custodian, by virtue of being party
to the relevant Pledge Agreement, shall be deemed to have acknowledged the ability of the Representative of the
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Masse of the Noteholders to directly enforce the terms of such Pledge Agreement on behalf of the Noteholders in
such circumstances.

The Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes)
may appoint an agent (the Disposal Agent) which, following receipt of instructions from the Security Trustee (in
the case of English Law Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes), will liquidate or realise
the Collateral Assets in each Collateral Pool. It is expected that the initial Disposal Agent will be The Bank of New
York Mellon, London Branch. A failure by the Disposal Agent to perform its obligations with respect to the
Collateral Assets will adversely affect the realisation of the Collateral Assets and the amount distributable to
Noteholders.

No Fiduciary Duties

In performing their duties under the Programme, neither the Collateral Manager, the Collateral Monitoring Agent,
the Note Valuation Agent, the Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent or Substitute Paying Agent will act as a
fiduciary or as an advisor to the Noteholders in respect of their respective duties and do not act as a trustee for
the Noteholders.

Potential Conflicts of Interest between Noteholders and a Counterparty

Various potential and actual conflicts of interest may arise between the interests of the Noteholders and a
Counterparty, which may be an affiliate of the Issuer. Subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
neither a Counterparty nor its affiliates are required to resolve such conflicts of interest in favour of the
Noteholders and may pursue actions and take such steps that it deems necessary or appropriate to protect its
interests.

Risk of non-performance of obligations by a Counterparty

It is expected that Société Générale will be the Counterparty for most Series of Secured Notes. A failure by a
Counterparty to perform its duties and obligations with respect to a Hedging Agreement may adversely affect the
availability of the Collateral Assets, and consequently adversely affect the realisation of the Collateral Assets and
the amount distributable to Noteholders.

Risks arising on an insolvency of a Counterparty

In the event that a liquidator or administrator were to be appointed in respect of the business and property of a
Counterparty, the Issuer believes that pursuant to the terms of the relevant Hedging Agreement the Collateral
Assets will not form part of the property of the relevant Counterparty available to a liquidator or administrator of
such Counterparty for distribution to the general creditors of the Counterparty. There can be no assurance,
however, that a court would reach the same conclusion.

It is possible that a liquidator or administrator appointed in relation to the business and property of a Counterparty
may commence proceedings to challenge the validity and effectiveness of a Hedging Agreement with a view to
including the Collateral Assets in the property and estate of the relevant Counterparty. If insolvency proceedings
were commenced in respect of a Counterparty, and in particular against the Issuer in relation to a Hedging
Agreement, delays in realising the Collateral Assets, possible reductions in the realisation amount of the
Collateral Assets and limitations on the exercise of remedies in relation to the enforcement of a Pledge
Agreement could occur.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this Base
Prospectus and have been filed with the CSSF and the SIX Swiss Exchange shall be incorporated into, and form
part of, this Base Prospectus:

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

The English translation of the document de référence 2012 of Société Générale, the French version
of which was filed with the Autorité des marchés financiers (hereinafter the AMF) on 2 March 2012
under No D 12-0125, except for (i) the inside cover page containing the AMF visa and the related
textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for the registration document and the annual
financial report made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Société
Générale, page 444 and (iii) the cross reference table, pages 448-450 ((i), (ii) and (iii) together
hereinafter, the 2012 Excluded Sections, and the English version of the document de référence
2012 of Société Générale without the 2012 Excluded Sections, hereinafter the 2012 Registration
Document).

To the extent that the 2012 Registration Document itself incorporates documents by reference, such
documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein. Any reference to the 2012
Registration Document shall be deemed to exclude the 2012 Excluded Sections.

The English translation of the first update to the document de référence 2012 of Société Générale,
the French version of which was filed with the AMF on 7 May 2012 under No D 12-0125-A01, except
for (i) the inside cover page containing the AMF visa and the related textbox, (ii) the statement of the
person responsible for updating the registration document made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, page 81 and (iii) the cross reference table, pages
83-84 ((i), (ii) and (iii) together hereinafter, the 2012 First Update Excluded Sections, and the
English version of the first update to the document de référence 2012 of Société Générale without
the 2012 First Update Excluded Sections, hereinafter the First Update to the 2012 Registration
Document).

To the extent that the First Update to the 2012 Registration Document itself incorporates documents by
reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein. Any reference to the
First Update to the 2012 Registration Document shall be deemed to exclude the 2012 First Update
Excluded Sections.

The English translation of the document de référence 2011 of Société Générale, the French version
of which was filed with the AMF on 4 March 2011 under No D 11-0096, except for (i) the inside cover
page containing the AMF visa and the related textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for
the registration document and the annual financial report made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, page 434 and (iii) the cross reference table, pages
437-439 ((i), (ii) and (iii) together hereinafter, the 2011 Excluded Sections, and the English version
of the document de référence 2012 of Société Générale without the 2011 Excluded Sections,
hereinafter the 2011 Registration Document).

To the extent that the 2011 Registration Document itself incorporates documents by reference, such
documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein. Any reference to the 2011
Registration Document shall be deemed to exclude the 2011 Excluded Sections.

The English version of the audited annual financial statements of SG Issuer for the financial years
ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2011 prepared in accordance with Luxembourg GAAP,
the related appendix and notes and the English language version of the statutory auditor's reports for
each such year of SG Issuer (hereinafter the 2010 Issuer Audited Financial Statements and the
2011 Issuer Audited Financial Statements, respectively).
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(e) The English version of the audited cash flow statements of SG Issuer for the financial years ended 31
December 2009, 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2011 prepared in accordance with
Luxembourg GAAP, the related appendix and notes (hereinafter the 2009 Issuer Audited Cash Flow
Statements, the 2010 Issuer Audited Cash Flow Statements and the 2011 Issuer Audited Cash
Flow Statements, respectively and together the Issuer Audited Cash Flow Statements).

Any reference in the documents incorporated by reference to the First Update to the 2012 Registration
Document, the 2012 Registration Document and to the 2011 Registration Document shall be deemed to exclude
the sections and pages excluded above.

The First Update to the 2012 Registration Document (page 50), the 2012 Registration Document (pages 3 and
61) and the 2011 Registration Document (pages 2 and 58) contain references to the credit rating of Société
Générale issued by Moody's France S.A.S., Fitch France S.A.S. and Standard & Poor's Credit Market Services
S.AS.

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, each of Moody's France S.A.S., Fitch France S.A.S. and Standard &
Poor's Credit Market Services S.A.S. is established in the European Union and is registered under Regulation
(EC) No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September 2009, as amended by
Regulation (EU) No 513/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council dated 11 May 2011 and is included
in the list of registered credit rating agencies published at the website of the European Securities and Markets
Authority (www.esma.europa.eu).

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer and the Guarantor will, in the event of any
significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in this Base Prospectus
which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes, prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus (a
Supplement) in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive or publish a new prospectus for use in
connection with any subsequent issue of Notes. Such Supplement as prepared will have to be approved by the
CSSF and the SIX Swiss Exchange, in accordance with the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange. Statements
contained in any such Supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the
extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify or supersede statements
contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus.
Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this
Base Prospectus.

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Prospectus Directive, investors who have already agreed to purchase or
subscribe for Notes before any Supplement is published have the right, exercisable within two working days after
the publication of this Supplement, to withdraw their acceptances. Investors should be aware, however, that the
law of the jurisdiction in which they have accepted an offer of Notes may provide for a longer time limit.

The documents incorporated by reference in paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (e) above are direct and accurate
English translations of the original French version of such documents. The Issuer accepts responsibility for such
translations.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus can be obtained from the office of
Société Générale and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents, in each case at the address given at the
end of this Base Prospectus. This Base Prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference are available
on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange website at www.bourse.lu.

COMPARATIVE TABLES FOR DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The non-incorporated parts and the non-incorporated documents referred to above are not incorporated by

reference as they are not relevant for an investor pursuant to article 28.4 of Commission Regulation (EC)
N° 809/2004 of 29 April 2004.
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CROSS REFERENCE LIST FOR SOCIETE GENERALE

References to pages below are to those of the 2011 Registration Document, the 2012 Registration Document
and the First Update to the 2012 Registration Document, respectively.

Annex Xl of Commission Regulation (EC) N°809/2004 of 2011 2012 First Update
29 April 2004 Registration | Registration to the 2012
Document Document Registration
Document
3 RISK FACTORS
31 Prominent disclosure of risk factors that may affect 196-239 | 38-43; Annex
the issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the 11
securities to investors in a section headed "Risk
Factors".
4 INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER
41 History and development of the issuer 2:33 2:33
4.1.1 | the legal and commercial name of the issuer; 33 33
41.2 | the place of registration of the issuer and its 33 33
registration number;
4.1.3 | the date of incorporation and the length of life of the 33 33
Issuer, except where indefinite;
41.4 | the domicile and legal form of the issuer, the 33 33
legislation under which the issuer operates, its
country of incorporation, and the address and
telephone number of its registered office (or principal
place of business if different from its registered office).
5 BUSINESS OVERVIEW
5.1 Principal activities 6-17; 63-66 3
5.1.1 | A brief description of the issuer’s principal activities 6-17 3
stating the main categories of products sold and/or
services performed;
5.1.2 | An indication of any significant new products and/or 63-66 3
activities;
5.1.3 | Principal markets 359-362
5.1.4 | The basis for any statements in the registration 6-17 3
document made by the issuer regarding its
competitive position.
6 ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
6.1 If the issuer is part of a group, a brief description of 3; 38-39
the group and of the issuer's position within it.
6.2 Whether the issuer is dependent on other entities 43-59; 353-
within the group 362; 412-425

' Pillar 3 Report attached to the First Update to the 2012 Registration Document
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7 TREND INFORMATION
7.2 Information on any known trends, uncertainties, 68
demands, commitments or events that are reasonably
likely to have a material effect on the Issuer's
prospects for at least the current financial year.
9 ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND
SUPERVISORY BODIES AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
9.1 Names, business addresses and functions in the 76-89 5
Issuer of the members of the administrative,
management, and supervisory bodies, and an
indication of the principal activities performed by them
outside the Issuer where these are significant with
respect to the Issuer.
9.2 Administrative, Management, and Supervisory 90
bodies conflicts of interests.
10 MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
10.1 To the extent known to the issuer, state whether the 26-29; 34
issuer is directly or indirectly owned or controlled and
by whom, and describe the nature of such control,
and describe the measures in place to ensure that
such control is not abused.
1 FINANCIAL, INFORMATION CONCERNING THE
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION
AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER
111 Historical financial information 223-342; 345- | 246-362; 365-
415 425
11.2 | Financial statements 223-342; 345- | 246-362; 365-
415 425
- Consolidated balance sheet; 223-224; 225; | 246-247; 248;
- Consolidated income statement; 229,230-342 | 253, 254-362
- Cash flow statements;
- Notes to the consolidated financial statements;
11.3 | Auditing of the historical annual financial | 343-344; 416- | 363-364; 426-
information 417 427
11.4 | Age of latest financial information 223; 345 246; 365
11.6 | Leqal and arbitration proceedings 235-237 44-71
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CROSS REFERENCE LIST RELATING TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF

SG ISSUER

Unless otherwise stated, references to pages below are to those of the 2010 Issuer Audited Financial Statements
and the 2011 Issuer Audited Financial Statements, respectively.

SG Issuer audited annual financial statements
for the financial years ended 31 December
2010 and 31 December 2011, the related notes
and the statutory auditor's reports

2010 Issuer Audited
Financial Statements

2011 Issuer Audited
Financial Statements

Balance sheet 7-8 7-8
Income statement 9-10 9-10
Notes to the financial statements 11-20 11-19
Accounting principles 12-13 12-14
Free English language translation of the statutory 4-6 4-6

auditor's report

Unless otherwise stated, references to pages below are to those of the Issuer Audited Cash Flow Statements.

Issuer Audited Cash Flow 2011 2010 2009
Statements for the financial years

ended 31 December 2011, 2010 and

2009

Statutory Auditor's Report 1-2 1-2 1-2
Cash Flow Statements 3 3 3
Notes to the Cash Flow Statements 4 4 4
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FORM OF THE NOTES
DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall have the following meanings when used in this section:

Bearer Notes means English Law Notes in bearer form.
Dematerialised Notes means French Law Notes in dematerialised form.
English Law Notes means Bearer Notes, Registered Notes, SIS Notes and EUl Notes which are

governed by English law.

French Law Notes means Notes which are governed by French law.

Materialised Notes means French Law Notes in materialised form.

Registered Notes means English Law Notes in certificated registered form.

Secured Notes means Notes which are secured pursuant to the terms of the Collateral Conditions.
Uncertificated Notes means Notes in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form and shall include

Uncertificated SIS Notes and EUI Notes (each such term as defined below).
Unsecured Notes means Notes which are unsecured.
ENGLISH LAW NOTES (OTHER THAN SIS NOTES AND EUI NOTES)

Each Tranche of English Law Notes will be either Bearer Notes (with or without Receipts or Coupons attached)
issued outside the United States in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Regulation S or
Registered Notes (without Receipts or Coupons attached) issued outside the United States in reliance on the
exemption from registration provided by Regulation S and/or within the United States in reliance on Rule 144A
under the Securities Act.

Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes (except for SIS Notes, as defined below) will be initially issued in the form of a
Temporary Global Note or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a Permanent Global Note which, in either
case, will:

- if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (hereinafter NGN) form, as stated in the
applicable Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common
safekeeper (the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. (Euroclear) and Clearstream
Banking, société anonyme (Clearstream, Luxembourg); and

- if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN Form, be delivered on or prior to the original
issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the Common Depositary) for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Bearer Global Notes as defined under the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated
Notes (except for SIS Notes) will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time
being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the case may be.

The Bearer Notes of each Tranche offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S may not be offered or sold in the

United States or to, or for the benefit or account of, a U.S. Person, and such Bearer Notes will bear a legend
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regarding such restrictions on transfer. Any future transfer, resale, pledge or delivery of such Bearer Notes or any
interest therein may only be made in compliance with the resale provisions set forth in Regulation S of the
Securities Act.

In the event that a Bearer Global Note, other than an SIS Note, held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg (or any part thereof) has become due and repayable in accordance with the Conditions or that the
Maturity Date has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount due has not been made to the
bearer in accordance with the Conditions, the Global Note will become void. At the same time, accountholders
with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg having such Notes (other than Definitive Bearer Notes, as
defined in the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes) credited to their
accounts will, subject as otherwise provided in the Conditions, become entitled to proceed directly against the
Issuer, on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, under the
terms of a deed of covenant (the Deed of Covenant) executed by the Issuer.

Registered Notes

The Registered Notes of each Tranche offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S, which will be sold to non-
U.S. persons outside the United States, will initially be represented by a Regulation S Global Note or a Non-U.S.
Registered Global Note (in each case, as defined in Condition 2(i) of the Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes). Beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Note may not be offered or
sold to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. Person save as otherwise provided in Condition 2 of the Terms
and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes and prior to the expiry of the Distribution
Compliance Period (as defined in the Agency Agreement) may not be held otherwise than through Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg and such Regulation S Global Note will bear a legend regarding such restrictions on
transfer.

Non-U.S. Registered Notes, or any interest therein, may not at any time be offered, sold, resold, traded, pledged,
redeemed, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit
of, a U.S. Person and any offer, sale, resale, trade, pledge, redemption, transfer or delivery made, directly or
indirectly, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. Person will not be recognised.
Non-U.S. Registered Global Notes may not be legally or beneficially owned at any time by any U.S. Person and
accordingly are being offered and sold outside the United States to persons that are not U.S. persons in reliance
on Regulation S, interests therein may not be held otherwise than through Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg and such Non-U.S. Registered Notes will bear a legend regarding such restrictions on transfer.

The Registered Notes of each Tranche offered and sold in the United States or to U.S. Persons in private
transactions to QIBs that are also QPs will initially be represented by a Rule 144A Global Note (each as defined
in Condition 2(i) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes). Any Rule
144A Global Note will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer set forth therein and will bear a legend
regarding such restrictions.

The Registered Notes of each Tranche eligible for sale in the United States to QIBs pursuant to Rule 144A and to
non-U.S. persons outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S may initially be represented by a
Combined Global Note (as defined in Condition 2(i) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and
the Uncertificated Notes). Any Combined Global Note will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer set forth
therein and will bear a legend regarding such restrictions.

Registered Global Notes (being Rule 144A Global Notes, Regulation S Global Notes, Combined Global Notes or
Non-U.S. Registered Global Notes) will either (i) be deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of
a nominee of, the Depository Trust Company (hereinafter the DTC) (in the case of Rule 144A Global Notes and
Regulation S Global Notes only) or (ii) be deposited with a Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg, and registered in the name of a common nominee of, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or,
in the case of Registered Global Notes issued under the NSS, registered in the name of a nominee of one of the
ICSDs acting as Common Safekeeper, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. Persons holding beneficial
interests in Registered Global Notes will be entitled or required, as the case may be, under the circumstances
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described below, to receive physical delivery of Definitive Registered Notes (as defined under the Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes).

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Registered Global Note issued under the NSS and held by a
Common Safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, each person who is for the time
being shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg as entitled to a particular nominal
amount of Notes shall be deemed to be the Holder of such nominal amount of Notes for all purposes other than
with respect to the payment of principal, premium (if any), interest or other amounts on such Notes, for which
purpose such Common Safekeeper shall be deemed to be the Holder of such nominal amount of Notes in
accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note.

Payments of principal, interest and any other amount in respect of the Registered Global Notes will, in the
absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the person shown on the Register (as defined in Condition 5(d)
of the "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes") as the registered holder of
the Registered Global Notes. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor, or any Agent will have any responsibility or
liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments or deliveries made on account of beneficial
ownership interests in the Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records
relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

Payments of principal, interest or any other amount in respect of Definitive Registered Notes will, in the absence
of provision to the contrary, be made to the persons shown on the Register on the relevant Record Date (as
defined in Condition 5(d) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes)
immediately preceding the due date for payment in the manner provided in that Condition.

Interests in a Registered Global Note may, subject to compliance with all applicable restrictions, be transferred to
a person who wishes to hold such interest in another Registered Global Note. No beneficial owner of an interest
in a Registered Global Note will be able to transfer such interest, except in accordance with the applicable
procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, in each case to the extent applicable.

Eurosystem eligibility

New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes issued under the NSS may be issued with the intention that such
Notes be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the
Eurosystem, either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon
satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria as specified by the European Central Bank. However, there is no
guarantee that such Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral. Any other Notes are not intended to be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the
Eurosystem.

EUI NOTES

EUI Notes will be held in registered uncertificated form in accordance with the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001, including any modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force (the
Regulations) and as such are dematerialised and not constituted by any physical document of title. The EUI
Notes are participating securities for the purposes of the Regulations. Title to the EUI Notes is recorded on the
relevant Operator register of corporate securities. The EUI Agent on behalf of the Issuer shall, in relation to the
EUI Notes, maintain a record of uncertificated corporate securities in accordance with the records of Euroclear
UK & Ireland Limited (EUI or CREST) (formerly known as CRESTCo Limited) (the Record) and shall procure that
the Record is regularly updated to reflect the Operator register of corporate securities in accordance with the
rules and practices from time to time of the Operator. Subject to this requirement, (i) each person who is for the
time being shown in the Record as the holder of a particular number of EUI Notes shall be treated by the Issuer
and the EUI Agent as the holder of such number of EUI Notes for all purposes (and the expression EUl Holder
and related expressions shall be construed accordingly), and (ii) neither the Issuer, the Guarantor nor the EUI
Agent shall be liable in respect of any act or thing done or omitted to be done by it or on its behalf in reliance
upon the assumption that the particulars entered in the Record which the EUI Agent maintains are in accordance

with particulars entered in the Operator register of corporate securities relating to the EUl Notes. For the
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avoidance of doubt, in the event of any differences in information contained in the Record and the register of EUI
Notes in registered form kept at the Issuer's registered office, the register kept at the Issuer's registered office
shall prevail for Luxembourg law purposes.

No provision of the Conditions of any EUI Notes shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any respect
inconsistent with (i) the holding of title to EUI Notes (ii) the transfer of title to EUI Notes by means of a relevant
system or (iii) the Regulations. Without prejudice to the generality of the preceding sentence and notwithstanding
anything contained in the Conditions of any EUI Notes, so long as the EUI Notes are participating securities, (a)
any EUI Notes which are not for the time being in all respects identical to, or do not for the time being have rights
attached thereto identical in all respects to those attached to, other EUlI Notes of the same Series shall be
deemed to constitute a separate Series of EUI Notes, (b) the Operator register of corporate securities relating to
the EUI Notes shall be maintained at all times in the United Kingdom, (c) the EUl Notes may be issued in
uncertificated form in accordance with and subject as provided in the Regulations; and (d) for the avoidance of
doubt, the Conditions of any EUI Notes shall remain applicable notwithstanding that they are not endorsed on
any certificate for such EUI Notes.

As used herein each of "Operator register of corporate securities", "participating securities", "record of
uncertificated corporate securities" and "relevant system" is as defined in the Regulations and the relevant
"Operator" (as such term is used in the Regulations) is EUI (formerly CRESTCo Limited) or any additional or
alternative operator from time to time approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the EUI Agent in relation to the
EUI Notes and in accordance with the Regulations. Any reference herein to the Operator shall, whenever the
context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any such additional or alternative Operator from time to
time and notified to the EUI Holders.

Any indication herein that the Operator "shall" do, or similar expression or phrase indicating that they are obliged
to or will carry out any role or obligation described in these Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms, as the
case may be, is given without any assumption by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the EUI Agent or the Calculation
Agent, of responsibility or liability for the performance of the Operator.

In respect of dematerialised CREST depository interests (CDIs), investors will hold CDls constituted and issued
by CREST Depository Limited and representing indirect interests in the Notes. The CDIs will be issued and
settled through CREST.

Neither the Notes nor any rights thereto will be issued, held, transferred or settled within the CREST system
otherwise than through the issue, holding, transfer and settlement of CDls.

Holders of CDIs will not be entitled to deal directly in Notes and accordingly all dealings in the Notes will be
effected through CREST in relation to holding of CDls.

All references in this Base Prospectus to "EUI Notes" shall, where the context admits, include CDls.

EUI Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes will be governed by
English law.

SIS NOTES

Each Tranche of SIS Notes (SIS Notes) will be issued either (i) in bearer form (Bearer SIS Notes) or (ii) in
uncertificated form (Uncertificated SIS Notes), in each case, which are, or are intended to be, deposited or
registered with and cleared through the Swiss securities services corporation, SIX SIS Ltd (SIS) or any other
clearing institution recognised by the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd (the SIX Swiss Exchange). The applicable Final
Terms will indicate whether SIS Notes are CHF SIS Notes or Other SIS Notes (each as defined below) or
Uncertificated SIS Notes.

Bearer SIS Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer SIS Notes will be represented by a permanent global note (Permanent Global SIS
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Note) which will be deposited by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent with SIS or any other intermediary in
Switzerland recognised for such purposes by the SIX Swiss Exchange (SIS or any other such intermediary, the
Intermediary) on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche. Once the Permanent Global SIS Note has
been deposited with the Intermediary and entered into the accounts of one or more participants of the
Intermediary, the Bearer SIS Notes represented thereby will constitute intermediated securities (Bucheffekten)
within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Intermediated Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz) (Intermediated
Securities).

Each holder of Bearer SIS Notes shall have a quotal co-ownership interest (Miteigentumsanteil) in the Permanent
Global SIS Note representing such Bearer SIS Notes to the extent of his claim against the Issuer, provided that,
for so long as the Permanent Global SIS Note remains deposited with the Intermediary, the co-ownership interest
shall be suspended and such Bearer SIS Notes may only be transferred by the entry of the transferred Bearer
SIS Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) of the transferee.

The records of the Intermediary will determine the number of Bearer SIS Notes held through each participant of
the Intermediary. In respect of Bearer SIS Notes held in the form of Intermediated Securities, the holders of such
Bearer SIS Notes will be the persons holding such Bearer SIS Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) that
is in their name, or, in the case of intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen), the intermediaries holding such Bearer
SIS Notes for their own account in a securities account that is in their name (and the terms "Noteholder" and
"holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly).

Bearer SIS Notes denominated in Swiss Francs benefit from a limited exception to the certification requirement of
the TEFRA D Rules, if such Bearer SIS Notes fulfil the relevant requirements set out below. Bearer SIS Notes
denominated in Swiss Francs which fulfil these requirements are hereinafter referred to as CHF SIS Notes.
Bearer SIS Notes denominated in Swiss Francs that do not fulfil these requirements and Bearer SIS Notes
denominated in a currency approved by SIS other than Swiss Francs are hereinafter referred to as Other SIS
Notes. Other SIS Notes may be subject to additional selling restrictions and additional U.S. tax disclosure as set
out in the applicable Final Terms.

Special procedures must be followed for CHF SIS Notes in order for such Notes to be exempt from Certification
(as defined below). Each of the relevant Dealers must have represented and agreed in the Programme
Agreement that (a) it will comply with U.S. selling restrictions in so far as they apply to CHF SIS Notes and (b) the
offering and sale of the CHF SIS Notes has been and will be conducted in accordance with Swiss laws and
regulations. The following criteria must be fulfilled in order for the limited exception to the certification requirement
of the TEFRA D Rules to apply:

- the interest on, and the principal of, the CHF SIS Notes are denominated only in Swiss Francs;

- the interest on, and the principal of, the CHF SIS Notes are payable only in Switzerland;

- the CHF SIS Notes are offered and sold in accordance with Swiss customary practice and
documentation;

- the relevant Dealers agree to use reasonable efforts to sell the CHF SIS Notes within Switzerland;

- the CHF SIS Notes are not listed, or subject to an application for listing, on an exchange located outside
Switzerland;

- the issuance of the CHF SIS Notes is subject to guidelines or restrictions imposed by Swiss
governmental, banking or securities authorities; and

- more than 80 per cent. by value of the CHF SIS Notes included in the offering of which they are part are
offered and sold to non-Dealers by Dealers maintaining an office located in Switzerland.

No holder of Bearer SIS Notes will at any time have the right to effect or demand the conversion of the
Permanent Global SIS Note representing such Bearer SIS Notes into, or the delivery of, Bearer SIS Notes in
definitive form (Definitive Bearer SIS Notes) or uncertificated form.

No physical delivery of the Bearer SIS Notes shall be made unless and until Definitive Bearer SIS Notes have
been printed. The relevant Permanent Global SIS Note will only be exchangeable, in whole, but not in part, for
Definitive Bearer SIS Notes and Definitive Bearer SIS Notes may only be printed upon the occurrence of a

Bearer SIS Notes Exchange Event (as defined below in the section "Exchange upon the occurrence of an
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Exchange Event"). Upon the occurrence of a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange Event, the Principal Swiss Paying
Agent or the relevant lead manager, as the case may be, shall provide for the printing of Definitive Bearer SIS
Notes without cost to the holders of the relevant Bearer SIS Notes. If Definitive Bearer SIS Notes are delivered,
the relevant Permanent Global SIS Note will immediately be cancelled by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent or the
relevant lead manager, as the case may be, and the Definitive Bearer SIS notes shall be delivered to the relevant
holders against cancellation of the relevant Bearer SIS Notes in such holders' securities accounts.

Bearer SIS Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes will be
governed by English law.

Uncertificated SIS Notes

Each Tranche of Uncertificated SIS Notes will be entered into the main register (Hauptregister) of the
Intermediary on or prior to its issue date. Once the Uncertificated SIS Notes are registered in the main register of
the Intermediary, the Uncertificated SIS Notes will constitute Intermediated Securities.

So long as the Uncertificated SIS Notes constitute Intermediated Securities, they may only be transferred by the
entry of the transferred Uncertificated SIS Notes in a securities account of the transferee.

The records of the Intermediary will determine the number of Uncertificated SIS Notes held through each
participant in the Intermediary. In respect of Uncertificated SIS Notes held in the form of Intermediated Securities,
the holders of such Uncertificated SIS Notes will be the persons holding such Uncertificated SIS Notes in a
securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in their name, or, in case of intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen), the
intermediaries holding such Uncertificated SIS Notes for their own account in a securities account that is in their
name (and the terms "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly).

No holder of Uncertificated SIS Notes will at any time have the right to effect or demand the conversion of such
Uncertificated SIS Notes into, or the delivery of, a Permanent Global SIS Note or definitive Notes.

Uncertificated SIS Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes will be
governed by English law.

FRENCH LAW NOTES

Each Tranche of French Law Notes will be either Materialised Notes or Dematerialised Notes, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

French Law Notes which are designated in the applicable Final Terms as Permanently Restricted Notes, or any
interest therein, may not be offered or sold in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S.
Person. Any future transfer, resale, pledge or delivery of such French Law Notes, or any interest therein, may
only be made in compliance with the resale provisions set forth in Regulation S of the Securities Act.

French Law Notes which are not designated in the applicable Final Terms as Permanently Restricted Notes, or
any interest therein, may not be offered or sold in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S.
Person except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in a transaction
that will not cause the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, to become required to register under the
Investment Company Act.

Dematerialised Notes
Title to Dematerialised Notes will be evidenced in accordance with articles L.211-3 et seq. and R.211-1 of the
French Code monétaire et financier by book entries (inscriptions en compte). No physical document of title

(including certificats représentatifs pursuant to article R.211-7 of the French Code monétaire et financier) will be
issued in respect of Dematerialised Notes.
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Dematerialised Notes may, at the option of the Issuer, be in bearer dematerialised form (au porteur) inscribed as
of the Issue Date of the relevant Tranche of Dematerialised Notes in the books of Euroclear France (a subsidiary of
Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. (Euroclear France)) which shall credit the accounts of Euroclear France Account
Holders (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes) including Euroclear and the
depositary bank for Clearstream, Luxembourg or in registered dematerialised form (au nominatif) and, in such
latter case, at the option of the relevant Noteholder (as defined in Condition 1 of the Terms and Conditions of the
French Law Notes), in either fully registered form (nominatif pur), in which case they will be inscribed in an
account maintained by the Issuer or by a registration agent (designated in the applicable Final Terms) for the
Issuer, or in administered registered form (nominatif administré) in which case they will be inscribed in the
accounts of the Euroclear France Account Holders designated by the relevant Noteholders.

One Paris business day before the Issue Date of each Tranche of Dematerialised Notes, the Lettre Comptable
relating to such Tranche shall be deposited with Euroclear France as central depositary.

Materialised Notes

Materialised Notes will be in bearer materialised form only and may only be issued outside France. A temporary
global certificate in bearer form without Coupons attached (a Temporary Global Certificate) will initially be
issued in connection with Materialised Notes.

Upon the initial deposit of such Temporary Global Certificate with the Common Depositary, Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg (or, if a subscriber holds an account with a clearing system other than Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg which holds an account directly or indirectly in Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg,
such other clearing system) will credit the account of each subscriber of such Notes with a nominal amount of
Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

CERTIFICATION AS TO NON-U.S. BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP
English Law Bearer Notes

Whilst any Bearer Note (except any Bearer SIS Notes, which are represented by Permanent Global SIS Notes as
described above) is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any) and any
other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will be made
(against presentation of the Temporary Global Note if the Temporary Global Note is not intended to be issued in
NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of
interests in such Note are not U.S. Persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. Person
(hereinafter Certification), as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, (i) has been received by Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like
certification (based on the Certifications it has received) to the Fiscal Agent or, (ii) in the case of a Temporary
Global Note or Temporary Global Certificate held otherwise than on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, from the holder thereof.

On and after the Exchange Date (as defined below), interests in the Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable
(free of charge) upon a request as described therein either for, as applicable, (i) interests in a Permanent Global
Note or (ii) Definitive Bearer Notes of the same Series with, where applicable, Receipts, Coupons and Talons
attached (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, to such
notice period as is specified in the Permanent Global Note), in accordance with the terms of the Temporary
Global Note against Certification as to beneficial ownership as described above and as required by U.S. Treasury
regulations unless such Certification has already been given pursuant to the provisions set forth above; provided,
however, that if the relevant Global Note is issued in respect of a Tranche of Bearer Notes described as Partly
Paid Notes in the applicable Final Terms, such Global Note may be exchanged for Definitive Bearer Notes and (if
applicable) Coupons, Receipts and/or Talons as described above only if the final part payment on all such Partly
Paid Notes then outstanding has been paid. Exchange of a Temporary Global Note for interests in a Permanent
Global Note will only be made if Definitive Bearer Notes have not already been issued. If Definitive Bearer Notes
have already been issued, the Temporary Global Note may only thereafter be exchanged for Definitive Bearer

Notes pursuant to the terms thereof. The holder of a Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to collect any
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payment of interest, principal or other amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due Certification,
exchange of the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note or, in the case of Bearer
Notes, for Definitive Bearer Notes is improperly withheld or refused.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Global Note will be made through
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, to or to the order of the holder thereof (against
presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the Permanent Global Note if the Permanent Global Note is
not intended to be issued in NGN form) without any requirement for Certification.

French Law Materialised Notes

French Law Notes represented by a Temporary Global Certificate will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part,
free of charge to the holder, on or after the Exchange Date (as defined below) for materialised bearer Notes in
definitive form (any such Notes, Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes), with, where applicable, Receipts,
Coupons and/or Talons attached:

- if the applicable Final Terms indicates that such Temporary Global Certificate is issued in compliance
with the TEFRA C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA rules are not applicable; and

- otherwise, upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the French Law
Agency Agreement (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes) for
Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes.

On or after the Exchange Date, the holder of a Temporary Global Certificate may surrender such Temporary
Global Certificate to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent (as defined in the French Law Agency Agreement). In
exchange for any Temporary Global Certificate, the Issuer will deliver, or procure the delivery of, duly executed
and authenticated Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes. Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes will be security
printed at the expense of the Issuer in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements in
or substantially in the form set out in the French Law Agency Agreement.

For the purposes of this section "Certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership", the Exchange Date shall be
the day immediately following the later of (i) 40 days after the Temporary Global Note or, as the case may be,
Temporary Global Certificate is issued and (ii) 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the relevant
Tranche, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the relevant lead manager
(in the case of a syndicated issue).

DEED OF COVENANT

If any Bearer Global Note (other than Permanent Global SIS Notes) has become due and repayable in
accordance with its terms and conditions or if the Maturity Date of such Note has occurred and payment in full of
the amount due has not been made in accordance with the provisions of the Bearer Global Note, then the Bearer
Global Note will become void at 8.00 p.m. (London time) on such day. At the same time, holders of interests in
such Bearer Global Note credited to their accounts with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case
may be, will, subject as otherwise provided in the Conditions, become entitled to proceed directly against the
Issuer on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg on and
subject to the terms of the Deed of Covenant.

EXCHANGE UPON THE OCCURRENCE OF AN EXCHANGE EVENT

The applicable Final Terms with respect to any English Law Notes issued in global form other than SIS Notes will
specify that the relevant Permanent Global Note or Registered Global Note (as applicable) will be exchangeable
(free of charge), in whole but not in part, for Definitive Bearer Notes with, where applicable, Receipts, Coupons
and/or Talons attached, or, as the case may be, Definitive Registered Notes, upon not less than 60 days' written
notice given to the Fiscal Agent from or on behalf of, as the case may be, Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in the Permanent Global Note or Registered
Global Note as described therein (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) or, in the case of a
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Permanent Global Note, if such Note is held otherwise than on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg,
the bearer thereof, in the event of the occurrence of any of the circumstances described in (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v)
below (each, an Exchange Event) or by the Issuer in the event of the occurrence of the circumstances described
in (iv) below: (i), if applicable, an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 9 of the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes) has occurred and is continuing; (ii) in the case of Registered
Notes registered in the name of a nominee for DTC, either DTC has notified the Issuer that it is unwilling or
unable to continue to act as depositary for the Notes and no alternative clearing system is available or DTC has
ceased to constitute a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act; (iii) in the case of a Permanent Global
Note or a Registered Global Note registered in the name of a common depositary for Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg, the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have
been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or
otherwise) or announce an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no successor
clearing system is available; (iv) on the occasion of the next payment in respect of any Bearer Notes, the Issuer
would be required to pay additional amounts as referred to in Condition 7 of the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes and such payment would not be required were the Notes in
definitive form; provided, however, that if the relevant Global Note is issued in respect of a Tranche of Bearer
Notes described as Partly Paid Notes in the applicable Final Terms, such Global Note may be exchanged for
Definitive Notes and (if applicable) Coupons, Receipts and/or Talons as described above only if the final part
payment on all such Partly Paid Notes then outstanding has been paid; or (v) in the case of Registered Notes,
the Issuer has or will become subject to adverse tax consequences which would not be suffered were such
Registered Notes represented by a Registered Definitive Note. The Issuer will promptly give notice to
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, DTC,
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such
Registered Global Note) may give notice to the Fiscal Agent or, as the case may be, the Registrar requesting
exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (v) above, the Issuer may
also give notice to the Registrar requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than 10 days after
the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Registrar.

In respect of Bearer SIS Notes, the Permanent Global SIS Note will not be exchangeable at the option of the
holders of such Bearer SIS Notes, but may be exchanged for Definitive Bearer SIS Notes, in whole, but not in
part, if the Principal Swiss Paying Agent deems (i) the printing of definitive Notes, Receipts or Coupons to be
necessary or useful, or (ii) the presentation of definitive Notes, Receipts or Coupons to be required by Swiss or
foreign laws in connection with the enforcement of rights (including in cases of bankruptcy, consolidation or
reorganisation of the Issuer) (in respect of Bearer SIS Notes, each such circumstance a Bearer SIS Notes
Exchange Event). If Definitive Bearer SIS Notes are delivered, the relevant permanent Global Note will
immediately be cancelled by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent or the relevant lead manager, as the case may be,
and the Definitive Bearer SIS Notes shall be delivered to the relevant holders against cancellation of the relevant
Bearer SIS Notes in such holders' securities accounts.

U.S. LEGENDS

The following legend will appear on all Bearer Notes and Materialised Notes which have an original maturity of
more than one year and on all receipts, interest coupons and talons relating to such Notes:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON (AS DEFINED IN THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF THE UNITED
STATES) WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED
STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a)
OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE."

The sections referred to above provide that United States persons (as defined in the Code), with certain
exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Bearer Notes and Materialised Notes (and, if applicable,
receipts, interest coupons or talons) and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain on any sale,
disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of such Notes, receipts, interest coupons or talons.
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Registered Notes are also subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth herein and will bear a legend regarding
such restrictions as detailed in "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions".

CLEARING SYSTEMS

Any reference herein to "Euroclear" and/or "Clearstream, Luxembourg" shall, whenever the context so permits,
be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in the applicable Final
Terms (including, without limitation, Euroclear France and the Intermédiaires financiers habilités authorised to
maintain accounts therein, in relation to SIS Notes, SIS or any other clearing institution acceptable to the SIX
Swiss Exchange and, in relation to Uncertificated Notes (other than Uncertificated SIS Notes), the relevant
securities depositary and clearing institution and, in relation to Registered Notes represented by a Rule 144A
Global Note or Registered Notes represented by a Regulation S Global Note, DTC and in relation to EUI Notes,
EUI or CREST), approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Fiscal Agent, the Registrar (in the case of Registered
Notes only), and, in the case of Notes listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued under the
Programme where:

* will apply if the minimum denomination is less than €100,000
**will apply if the minimum denomination is at least €100,000

[Nota Bene (NB): Notes issued after the implementation of the 2010 PD Amending Directive in a Member State
must have a minimum denomination of EUR 100,000 (or equivalent) in order to benefit from the wholesale
exemption set out in Article 3.2(d) of the Prospectus Directive in that Member State.]

APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS

[The following language applies if the Notes are distributed in Switzerland — irrespective of a listing on the SIX
Swiss Exchange:

The Notes described in these Applicable Final Terms do not constitute a participation in a collective
investment scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes
(CISA). Therefore, the Notes are not subject to authorization and supervision by the Swiss Financial
Market Supervisory Authority FINMA (FINMA), and investors in the Notes will not benefit from protection
under the CISA or supervision by FINMA.]

Investors should have sufficient knowledge and experience of financial and business matters to evaluate the
merits and risks of investing in a particular issue of Debt Instruments as well as access to, and knowledge of,
appropriate analytical tools to assess such merits and risks in the context of their financial situation. Certain
issues of Debt Instruments are not an appropriate investment for investors who are unsophisticated with respect
to the applicable interest rate indices, currencies, other indices or formulas, or redemption or other rights or
options. Investors should also have sufficient financial resources to bear the risks of an investment in Debt
Instruments. For a more detailed description of the risks associated with any investment in the Notes investors
should read the section of the Base Prospectus headed "Risk Factors".

Any purchaser of the Notes will be deemed to have represented and agreed that they (i) have the knowledge and
sophistication independently to appraise and understand the financial and legal terms and conditions of the Notes
and to assume the economic consequences and risks thereof; (ii) to the extent necessary, have consulted with
their own independent financial, legal or other advisers and have made their own investment, hedging and
trading decisions in connection with the Notes based upon their own judgement and the advice of such advisers
and not upon any view expressed by the Issuer, the Guarantor (if any), the Arranger or the Dealer; (iii) have not
relied upon any representations (whether written or oral) of any other party, and are not in any fiduciary
relationship with the Issuer, the Guarantor (if any), the Arranger or the Dealer; (iv) have not obtained from the
Issuer, the Guarantor (if any), the Arranger or the Dealer (directly or indirectly through any other person) any
advice, counsel or assurances as to the expected or projected success, profitability, performance, results or
benefits of the Notes, and have agreed that the Issuer, the Guarantor (if any), the Arranger or the Dealer do not
have any liability in that respect; (v) have not relied upon any representations (whether written or oral) by, nor
received any advice from, the Issuer, the Guarantor (if any), the Arranger or the Dealer as to the possible
qualification under the laws or regulations of any jurisdiction of the Notes described in these Final Terms and
understand that nothing contained herein should be construed as such a representation or advice for the
purposes of the laws or regulations of any jurisdiction.

The Notes and the Guarantee have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the SEC), any State securities commission in the United States or any other U.S. regulatory
authority, nor have any of the foregoing Authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of the
Notes or the accuracy or adequacy of the Base Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal
offence in the United States.
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[Date]
SG ISSUER

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
Unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Société Générale
under the €5,000,000,000
Debt Instruments Issuance Programme

PART A — CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[These Notes constitute obligations within the meaning of Article L213-5 of the French Code monétaire et
ﬁnancier.]1

[The following language applies if the Notes are Permanently Restricted Notes:

The Notes described herein are designated as Permanently Restricted Notes. As a result, they may not
be legally or beneficially owned at any time by any U.S. Person (as defined in Regulation S) and
accordingly are being offered and sold outside the United States to persons that are not U.S. Persons in
reliance on Regulation S.

By its purchase of a Note, each purchaser will be deemed or required, as the case may be, to have
agreed that it may not resell or otherwise transfer any Note held by it except outside the United States in
an offshore transaction to a person that is not a U.S. Person.]

[The following language applies if the Notes are not Permanently Restricted Notes:

The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the Securities Act), or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction
of the United States and may not be offered or sold within the United States or for the account or benefit
of U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), except in certain transactions
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. For a description of certain restrictions
on offers and sales of Notes, see "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions" in the Base Prospectus.]

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth under the
heading ["Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" | "Terms and Conditions
of the French Law Notes"] in the Base Prospectus dated 26 June 2012 [which constitutes a base prospectus for
the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) (the Prospectus Directive) as amended (which
includes the amendments made by Directive 2010/73/EU (the 2010 PD Amending Directive) to the extent that
such amendments have been implemented in a Member State)]z. This document constitutes the Final Terms of
the Notes described herein [for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and Article 8.4 of the
Luxembourg Act] and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus [and the supplement[s] to such Base
Prospectus dated [®] and [®] and published prior to the Issue Date (as defined below) (Supplement(s))];
provided, however, that to the extent such Supplement (i) is published after these Final Terms have been signed
or issued and (ii) provides for any change to the Conditions as set out under the heading ["Terms and Conditions
of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" | "Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes"], such
change(s) shall have no effect with respect to the Conditions of the Notes to which these Final Terms relate. Full
information on the Issuer, the Guarantor and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the
combination of these Final Terms, the Base Prospectus and any Supplement(s). Prior to acquiring an interest in
the Notes described herein, prospective investors should read and understand the information provided in the
Base Prospectus and be aware of the restrictions applicable to the offer and sale of such Notes in the United
States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons. Copies of the Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s)
and these Final Terms are available for inspection from the head office of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the specified

! Only if the Notes have a single Specified Denomination of at least 0.01 euro per Note, the Series comprises at least five Notes, [the provisions

relating to the Meetings of Noteholders apply in accordance with Condition 16 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes / the holders of the relevant Notes are grouped in a Masse in accordance with Condition 13 of the Terms and Conditions
of the French Law Notes] and all Notes confer the same rights against the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be, at any time.
Delete in the case of any issue of Private Placement Notes or any Notes to be issued pursuant to a unitary prospectus.
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offices of the Paying Agents and, in the case of Notes admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange, on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

[The following language applies if the Notes are Index Linked Notes whose terms rely in whole or in part on the
provisions of the Technical Annex:

The provisions of the [Equity / Commodities / Fund / Credit / Managed Assets Portfolio / Other Security]
Technical Annex [(other than clauses [specify any inapplicable clauses])] apply to these Final Terms and such
documents shall be read together. In the event of any inconsistency between the [Equity / Commodities / Fund /
Credit / Managed Assets Portfolio / Other Security] Technical Annex and these Final Terms, these Final Terms
shall prevail.]

[N.B. For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant Linked Notes, the Other Security Technical Annex shall
applyl

[Furthermore, the following language applies only if the Notes are Secured Notes:

The provisions of the Collateral Technical Annex (other than clauses [specify any inapplicable clauses]) apply to
these Final Terms and such documents shall be read together. In the event of any inconsistency between the
Collateral Technical Annex and these Final Terms, these Final Terms shall prevail.]

[The following alternative language applies if the first Tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued
under a prospectus with an earlier date which was incorporated by reference in this prospectus:

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions under the heading
["Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" | "Terms and Conditions of the
French Law Notes"] in the [Base Prospectus dated [original date] / Offering Circular dated [original date]] which
are incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus dated 26 June 2012. This document constitutes the Final
Terms of the Notes described herein [for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and Article 8.4 of
the Luxembourg Act]3 and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated 26 June 2012 [which
constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) (the
Prospectus Directive®) as amended (which includes the amendments made by Directive 2010/73/EU (the 2010
PD Amending Directive)] to the extent that such amendments have been implemented in a Member State) and
any Supplement(s) to such Base Prospectus published prior to the Issue Date (as defined below)
(Supplement(s)). Full information on the Issuer, the Guarantor and the offer of the Notes is only available on the
basis of the combination of these Final Terms, the Base Prospectus and any Supplement(s) thereto. Copies of
the Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s) and these Final Terms are available for inspection from the head office
of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the specified offices of the Paying Agents and, in the case of Notes admitted to
trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.bourse.lu).]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain
as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote
guidance for completing the Final Terms. If "Not Applicable" is specified in respect of a paragraph, the remaining
sub-paragraph(s) shall be deleted.]

[When completing final terms or adding any other final terms or information, consideration should be given as to
whether such terms or information constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a
Supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of issue, the minimum denomination may need
to be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency in order to comply with United Kingdom selling restrictions.]

% Delete in the case of any issue of Private Placement Notes or any Notes to be issued pursuant to a unitary prospectus.

4 Delete in the case of any issue of Private Placement Notes or any Notes to be issued pursuant to a unitary prospectus.
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[Under Part Il of the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 2005 on prospectuses for securities, which implements the
Prospectus Directive, prospectuses for the admission to trading on a Regulated Market of money market
instruments having a maturity at issue of less than 12 months and complying also with the definition of securities
are not subject to the approval provisions of Part Il of such Act.]

[Non-U.S. Registered Notes, French Law Notes and Uncertificated Notes may not form part of a series any part
of which is issued, offered or sold in reliance on Rule 144A.]

[The [English/French] version of these Final Terms shall be the binding version.] [NB: Insert as applicable in
respect of Final Terms drafted in English and French language.]

[The binding language for the issue of the Notes subject to these Final Terms shall be the [English] [French]
language and these Final Terms shall be read in accordance with the [Base Prospectus]/[Prospectus de Base].]
[NB: Insert as applicable depending on whether the English language Base Prospectus or the French language
Prospectus de Base is to take precedence]

1. (i) Issuer: SG Issuer
[This paragraph will be restated in the Schedule, if any]

(i) Guarantor: Société Générale
[This paragraph will be restated in the Schedule, if any]

2, (i) Series Number: [®]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in Part 2 of the Schedule]

(ii) Tranche Number: [e]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in Part 2 of the Schedule]

[If fungible with an existing Series, details of that
Series, including the date on which the Notes are
expected to become fungible]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes, Condition 16 of the Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes and Condition 14 of the Terms
and Conditions of the French Law Notes has been
disapplied for EIS eligibility purposes.]

3. Specified Currency or Currencies: [e]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in the Schedule]

[CNY Currency Event]

[Relevant Currency: USD/HKD/[Specify other]]

(N.B. CNY Currency Event and Relevant Currency
applies to Notes denominated in Renminbi);
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4. Aggregate Nominal Amount:
(i) Tranche:
(i) Series:
5. Issue Price:
6. (i) Specified Denomination(s):

[This paragraph will be restated in the Schedule, if any]

[]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in the Schedule]

[This paragraph will be restated in the Schedule, if any]
[e]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in the Schedule]

[This paragraph will be restated in the Schedule, if any]

[[#] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount / [e]
per Note of [e] Specified Denomination]5 [plus an
amount equal to the interest accrued from and
including [insert date] to but excluding the Issue Date
(which is equal to [e] days' accrued interest) [if
applicable]]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in the Schedule]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes:

100 per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount]

[This paragraph will be restated in the Schedule, if any]
[e]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in the Schedule]

[In respect of any issue of Private Placement Notes.,
the €100,000 minimum denomination is not required.]**

[Notes issued after the implementation of the 2010 PD
Amending Directive in a Member State must have a
minimum denomination of EUR 100,000 (or equivalent)
in order to benefit from the wholesale exemption set
out in Article 3.2(d) of the Prospectus Directive in that
Member State.]

® Dematerialised Notes shall be issued in one Specified Denomination only.
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Calculation Amount:

[(i)

[If the Specified Denimination is expressed to be
€100,000 or its equivalent in another currency and
multiples of a lower principal amount (for example
€1,000 or its equivalent in another currency), insert the
additional wording as follows:

€100,000 and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess
thereof up to and including €199,000. No Notes in
definitive form will be issued with a denomination
exceeding €199,000.]*"

[In respect of Dematerialised Notes, there should be
one denomination only]

[In respect of Registered Notes, the Specified
Denomination means the minimum integral amount in
which transfers can be made and in the case of any
transaction in reliance on Rule 144A, shall be at least
USD 200,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency);
accordingly, the form of Final Terms for Notes issued
under the Programme with a denomination of at least
€100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) should
be used for Rule 144A Notes.]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes:
(in relation to each Note, and subject to Part 1 of the
Credit Technical Annex, the Nominal Amount)]

[This paragraph will be restated in the Schedule, if any]
[o]

[The applicable Calculation Amount (which is used for
the calculation of interest and redemption amounts) will
be (i) if there is only one Specified Denomination, the
Specified Denomination of the relevant Notes or (ii) if
there are several Specified Denominations or the
circumstances referred to in paragraph 6(ij) above
apply (e.g. Specified Denominations of EUR100,000
and multiples of EUR1,000), the highest common
factor of those Specified Denominations Note that
there must be a common factor in the case of two or
more Specified Denominations. If "Calculation Amount”
is to be used in the Final Terms, corresponding
references to the Calculation Amount for interest, put
and call options and redemption amount calculation
purposes should be included in the terms and
conditions set out in the Base Prospectus. Note that a
Calculation Amount of less than 1,000 units of the
relevant currency may result in practical difficulties for
paying agents and/or ICSDs who should be consulted
if such an amount is proposed.]

7 Not Applicable in the case of Registered Notes, Uncertificated Notes or
99
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(i) Issue Date and if any, Interest
Commencement Date:

(i) Interest Commencement Date (if
different from the Issue Date):

Maturity Date:

[Applicable to Definitive Bearer Notes or Definitive
Registered Notes only; n.b. that the form of Final
Terms for Notes issued under the Programme with a
denomination of at least €100,000 (or its equivalent in
another currency) should be used for Rule 144A
Notes.]

[N.B. For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes the Calculation Amount must be equal to
the Issue Price]

[e]

[N.B. For Preference Share Linked Notes, the
Preference Shares should already be in issue. For
Warrant Linked Notes, the Warrants should already be
in issue]

[This paragraph will be restated in the Schedule, if any]
[e] [Not Applicable]

[NB: An Interest Commencement Date will not be
relevant for certain Notes, for example for Zero Coupon
Notes]

[e]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in the Schedule]

[If Interest is unadjusted: - specify date / If Interest is
adjusted: - The Interest Payment Date scheduled to fall
in or nearest to [specify a month and a year]]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes:

[®] or if later [three] [Specify other] Business Days after
the Final Valuation Date]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes:[specify Scheduled
Maturity Date] (such date being the Scheduled
Maturity Date), subject to the provisions of paragraph
Credit Linked Notes Provisions and the Credit
Technical Annex.]

[This paragraph will be restated in the Schedule, if any]
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10.

1.

12.

13.

14.

Interest Basis:

Redemption/Payment Basis:

Change of Interest Basis or
Redemption/Payment Basis:

Put/Call Options:

Status of the Notes:

Method of distribution:

[[®] per cent. Fixed Rate]

[[Specify reference rate] +/- [e] per cent. Floating Rate]
[Fixed/Floating Rate]

[Zero Coupon]

[Index Linked]

[Dual Currency]

[See paragraphs 15 to 18 below]

[Specify other]

(further particulars specified below)

[Redemption at [par] [Final Redemption Amount]]
[Index Linked]

[Physical Delivery]

[Dual Currency]

[Partly Paid. See paragraph 30 below]

[Instalment. See paragraph 31 below]

[See paragraph(s) 20 and/or 23 below]

[Credit Linked. Redemption at Final Redemption
Amount on the Scheduled Maturity Date, subject as
otherwise provided in these Final Terms and to the
provisions of Part 1 of the Credit Technical Annex]
(further particulars specified below)

[NB: If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100
per cent. of the nominal value, the Notes will be
derivative securities for the purposes of the Prospectus
Directive and the requirements of Annex Xll to the
Prospectus Directive Regulation will apply.]

[See paragraphs 15 to 18 below]

[Specify details of any provision for change of Notes
into another Interest Basis or Redemption/Payment
Basis]

[Redemption at the option of the Issuer]
[Redemption at the option of the Noteholders]
[See paragraph(s) 21 and/or 22 below]

[(further particulars specified below)]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes:

[Redemption at the option of the Issuer/Not Applicable]
(Redemption at the option of the Noteholders should
not be specified)]

[Secured][Unsecured]

[(further particulars specified below)]

[Syndicated] [Non-syndicated]
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

15. Fixed Rate Note Provisions

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Rate(s) of Interest:

Interest Payment Date(s):

Business Day Convention:

Fixed Coupon Amount(s):

Broken Amount(s):

Day Count Fraction:

Determination Date(s):

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: Applicable, subject
to the provisions of paragraph Credit Linked Notes
Provisions and the Credit Technical Annex]

[[e] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/semi-
annually/quarterly/monthly/specify other] in arrear] [See
the Schedule]

[NB: If payable other than annually, consider amending
Condition 4 of the Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes and
Condition 3 of the Terms and Conditions of the French
Law Notes]

[[®] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date]
[See the Schedule] [specify other]

[NB: This will need to be amended in the case of long
or short coupons]

[In respect of Unadjusted Fixed Rate Notes: Not
Applicable] [In respect of Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes
insert one of the following: [Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/
Modified Following Business Day Convention [specify
other]] [See the Schedule]

[[e] per Note of [e] Specified Denomination/[e] per
Calculation Amount] [See the Schedule]

[#] per Specified Denomination / [e] per Calculation
Amount, payable on the Interest Payment Date falling
on [e] [See the Schedule]

[NB: Calculation Amount is applicable to Definitive
Bearer Notes only.]

[30/360 or Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [Not Applicable] [See
the Schedule] [Specify other]

[[e] in each year] [Not Applicable]

[NB: Insert regular Interest Payment Dates, ignoring
the Issue Date or Maturity Date in the case of a long or
short first or last coupon. Only relevant where Day

Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA)]

[NB: This will need to be amended in the case of
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(viii)

Other terms relating to the
method of calculating interest for
Fixed Rate Notes:

16. Floating Rate Note Provisions

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Specified Period(s) /Interest

Payment Date(s)):

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s)
and/or Applicable "Business
Day" definition:

Manner in which the Rate of
Interest and Interest Amount is to
be determined:

Calculation Agent responsible for
calculating the Rate of Interest
and/or Interest Amount (if not the
Fiscal Agent):

Screen Rate Determination:

- Index/Formula:

regular Interest Payment Dates which are not of equal
duration]

[Not Applicable] [give details]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: Applicable, subject
to the provisions of the paragraph Credit Linked Notes
Provisions and the Credit Technical Annex]

[#] [See the Schedule]

[NB: For Specified Period(s), see Condition 4(b)(i)(B) of
the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and the Uncertificated Notes and Condition 3(b)(i)(B) of
the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes.]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/
Modified Following Business Day Convention /specify
other [unadjusted]] [See the Schedule]

[Insert "unadjusted” if the application of the relevant
business day convention is not intended to affect the
Interest Amount: See Conditions 4(b)(i) of the Terms
and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes and 3(b)(i) of the Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes.]

[e] [See the Schedule]

[NB: Additional Business Centre(s) and/or applicable
"Business Day" definition (if different from that in
Condition 4(b)(i) of the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes and
3(b)(i) of the Terms and Conditions of the French Law
Notes)]

[Screen Rate Determination] [ISDA Determination]
[Specify other (give details)]
[See the Schedule]

[Not Applicable] [insert name and address]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[Give or annex details] [See the Schedule]
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- Reference Rate: [e] [Either LIBOR, EURIBOR or other and, if other,
include additional information such as fall-back
provisions] [See the Schedule]

- Interest Determination [e] [See the Schedule]
Date(s):
[Second London business day prior to the start of each
Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or euro
LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if Sterling
LIBOR and the second day on which the TARGET2
System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period
if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR]

- Specified Time: [e] [See the Schedule]

[NB: Specified Time which will be 11.00 a.m. London
time, in the case of LIBOR or Brussels time, in the case
of EURIBOR]

- Relevant Screen Page: [e] [See the Schedule]

[NB: In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters
EURIBORO01, ensure it is a page which shows a
composite rate or amend the fall-back provisions

appropriately]
(vii) ISDA Determination: [Applicable] [Not Applicable]
- Index/Formula: [Give or annex details] [See the Schedule]
- Floating Rate Option: [e] [See the Schedule]
- Designated Maturity: [e] [See the Schedule]
- Reset Date: [#] [See the Schedule]
(viii) Margin(s): [[+/-] [®] per cent. per annum] [See Index/Formula]

[See the Schedule]

(ix) Minimum Rate of Interest: [[®] per cent. per annum] [See Index/Formula] [See the
Schedule]

(x) Maximum Rate of Interest: [e] per cent. per annum/[See Index/Formula] [See the
Schedule]

(xi) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual

Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)

Actual/360

30/360

360/360 or Bond Basis

30E/360 or Eurobond Basis/Specify other]
[See the Schedule]

(xii) Fall-back provisions, rounding [Give details]
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17.

18.

(xiii)

provisions and any other terms
relating to the method of
calculating interest on Floating
Rate Notes, if different from
those set out in the Conditions:

Rate Multiplier:

- Benchmark:

- Floating Rate Option:
- Designated Maturity:
- Upper Limit:

- Lower Limit:

Zero Coupon Note Provisions

0]
(i)
(iii)

(iv)

Accrual Yield:
Reference Price:

Any other formula/basis of
determining amount payable:

Day Count Fraction in relation to
Early Redemption Amounts and
late payment:

Index Linked Interest Note Provisions

(i)

Index/Formula:

[Not Applicable] [The Rate Multiplier shall be [n/N]
[nu/Nb]] [Specify other]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

[USD-LIBOR] [GBP-LIBOR] [EURIBOR] [USD CMS]
[EUR CMS] [Specify other]

NB: Benchmark for the purposes of Conditions 4(b)(iii)
of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and the Uncertificated Notes and 3(b)(iii) of the Terms
and Conditions of the French Law Notes.]

[e]

[o]
[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

[[®] per cent. per annum] [See the Schedule]

[#] [See the Schedule]

[#] [See the Schedule]

[Conditions 6(h) and 6(m) of the Terms and Conditions
of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes
apply] [Conditions 5(h) and 5(m) of the Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes apply] [Specify
other]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[If not applicable, delete the subparagraphs of this
paragraph]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: Applicable, subject
to the provisions of the paragraph Credit Linked Notes

Provisions and the Credit Technical Annex]

[Give or annex details] [See the Schedule]
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Calculation Agent responsible for
calculating Rate of Interest
and/or Interest Amount (if not the
Fiscal Agent):

Provisions for determining
Coupon where calculation by
reference to Index and/or
Formula is impossible or
impracticable:

Specified Period(s) /Interest

Payment Date(s):

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s)
and/or Applicable "Business
Day" definition:

Minimum Rate of Interest:

Maximum Rate of Interest:

[Not Applicable] [Insert name and address]

[e]

[In respect of Equity Linked Notes, if the Underlying is
covered by the Equity Technical Annex, insert:
As provided in the Equity Technical Annex]

[In respect of [Fund] [Commodities] Linked Notes,
insert: As provided in the [Fund] [Commodities]
Technical Annex]

[If the Underlying is not covered by the Technical
Annex, insert:
See the Schedule]

[e] [See the Schedule]

[NB: For Specified Period(s) (see Conditions 4(b)(i)(B))
of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and the Uncertificated Notes and 3(b)(i)(B) of the
Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes.]

[Floating Rate Convention] [Following Business Day
Convention] [Preceding Business Day Convention]
[Modified Following Business Day Convention]
[unadjusted] [Specify other]] [See the Schedule]

[NB: Insert "unadjusted" if the application of the
relevant business day convention is not intended to
affect the Interest Amount: See Conditions 4(b)(i) of the
Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and
the Uncertificated Notes and 3(b)(i) of the Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes]

[#] [Not Applicable]

[NB: Additional Business Centre(s) and/or Applicable
"Business Day" definition (if different from that in
Conditions 4(b)(i) of the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes and
3(b)(i) of the Terms and Conditions of the French Law
Notes.)]

[[#] per cent. per annum] [See Index / Formula
specified in the Schedule] [the second alternative is
applicable to Equity Linked Notes] [As specified in the
Schedule]

[[e] per cent. per annum] [See Index / Formula
specified in the Schedule] [the second alternative is
applicable to Equity Linked Notes] [As specified in the
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(ix)

Day Count Fraction:

(x) Rate Multiplier:

- Benchmark:

- Floating Rate Option:

- Designated Maturity:

- Upper Limit:
- Lower Limit:
19. Dual Currency Note Provisions
(i) Rate of Exchange/method of

calculating Rate of Exchange:

(i) Calculation Agent responsible for
calculating the Rate of Interest
and/or Interest Amount (if not the
Fiscal Agent):

Provisions applicable where
calculation by reference to Rate
of Exchange is impossible or
impracticable:

(iii)

Person at whose option Specified
Currency(ies) is/are payable:

(iv)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO PHYSICAL DELIVERY

20. Physical Delivery Note Provisions

Schedule]
[e] [Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[Not Applicable] [The Rate Multiplier shall be [n/N]
[nu/Np]] [See the Schedule] [Specify other]]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph]

[USD-LIBOR] [GBP-LIBOR] [EURIBOR] [USD CMS]
[EUR CMS] [Specify other]

[NB: Benchmark (for the purposes of Conditions 4(b)(iii)
of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes

and the Uncertificated Notes and 3(b)(iii) of the Terms
and Conditions of the French Law Notes.)]

]
[o]
[o]
[o]
[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

[Give or annex details]

[Not Applicable] [Insert name and address]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[If not applicable, delete the subparagraphs of this
paragraph]

[If applicable in respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes,
and except as specified below, the relevant provisions
are as set out in the [Equity] [Fund] Technical Annex]
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(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

Underlying Assets:

Formula to be used to determine
principal and/or interest or the
Physical Delivery Amount:

Provisions governing whether
transfer of Underlying Assets or
payment of a cash sum will

apply:

[Issuer/Noteholder] option to
vary method of settlement and, if
yes, method of election, and
procedure, for variation of
settlement:

If settlement is by way of
physical transfer of Underlying
Assets:

(a) method of transfer of
Underlying Assets in
respect of Physical
Delivery Amount (if other
than Delivery) and
consequences of a
Settlement Disruption
Event(s):

(b) Transfer Notice:

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if applicable:
As provided in the Credit Technical Annex]

[See the Schedule under "Final Redemption Amount"
and, if applicable, "Other final terms", subject to
adjustment as provided in the [Credit] [Equity] [Fund]
Technical Annex/Specify other]

[See the Schedule under "Final Redemption Amount"
and, if applicable, "Other final terms", subject to
adjustment as provided in the [Equity] [Fund]
Technical Annex/Specify other]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: Portfolio of
Specified Deliverable Obligations (as defined in Part 2
of the Credit Technical Annex)]

[See the Schedule under "Final Redemption Amount"
and, if applicable, "Other final terms", subject to
adjustment as provided in the [Equity] [Fund]
Technical Annex/Specify other]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: Physical delivery
except for Undeliverable Obligations (see details in the
Credit Technical Annex)]

[Yes [give or annex details]/No]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes:
As provided in the Credit Technical Annex]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes:
As provided in the [Equity] [Fund] Technical Annex]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: Delivery through the
Relevant Clearing System unless the Specified
Deliverable Obligations are not eligible for clearance by
the Relevant Clearing System or otherwise as specified
in Part 1 of the Credit Technical Annex, in which case
transfer will take place outside the Relevant Clearing
System as set out in Part 1 of the Credit Technical
Annex]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[If applicable, details of how and when Transfer Notice
is to be delivered.]
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(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

(c) details of how
entittlement to Physical
Delivery Amount will be
evidenced:

The party responsible for
calculating the redemption
amount and/or interest amount,
or the Physical Delivery Amount,
payable (if not the Fiscal Agent):

Provisions where calculation by
reference to the Underlying
Assets and/or Formula is
impossible or impracticable:

Details of any other relevant
terms, any stock exchange
requirements/tax considerations

(including details of person
responsible for transfer
expenses):

[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes:
As provided in the [Equity] [Fund] Technical Annex]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: The common
procedure of transfer currently in force in the Relevant
Clearing System]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes:
As provided in the [Equity] [Fund] Technical Annex]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: The account
balances appearing in the records of the Relevant
Clearing System or, if necessary, the number of Notes
held by each Noteholder as notified to the Fiscal Agent
by the Relevant Clearing System]

[Not Applicable] [insert name and address]

[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes:
As provided in the [Equity] [Fund] Technical Annex]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes:

Société Geénérale acting as Calculation Agent
17 cours Valmy

92987 Paris La Défense Cedex]

[e]

[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes, if the
Underlying is covered by the [Equity] [Fund] Technical
Annex insert:

See the Schedule under "Final Redemption Amount”
and, if applicable, "Other final terms", subject to
adjustment as provided in the [Equity] [Fund] Technical
Annex]

[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes, if the

Underlying is not covered by the [Equity] [Fund]
Technical Annex insert:

As provided in the Schedule]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: As provided in the
Credit Technical Annex]

[Give details]
[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes:
As provided in the [Equity] [Fund] Technical Annex

and as the case may be in the Schedule]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: As provided in the
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(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

Method of calculating Early
Redemption Amount (if for
reasons other than following a
redemption for tax reasons or an
Event of Default):

[Credit] Valuation Date(s):

Details of Exchanges(s) and
Related Exchange(s):

Such other additional terms or
provisions as may be required

(including, without limitation,
definitions of Settlement
Disruption Event(s), Potential

Adjustment Events and Market
Disruption Events):

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

21.

Issuer's optional redemption (other than
for taxation reasons):

)
(ii)

Optional Redemption Date(s):

Optional Redemption Amount(s)
and method, if any, of calculation
of such amount(s):

Credit Technical Annex]

[[¢] per Note of [e] Specified Denomination] [[e] per
Calculation Amount] [Market Value] [Specify other] [As
provided in the Schedule]

[NB: Calculation Amount applicable in the case of
Definitive Bearer Notes only]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes:
As provided in the Credit Technical Annex]

[e]

[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes:
See the Schedule]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes:
As provided in the Credit Technical Annex]

[e]

[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes:
See the Schedule]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes:
Not Applicable]

[e]

[In respect of [Equity] [Fund] Linked Notes:
As provided in the [Equity] [Fund] Technical Annex]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes:
As provided in the Credit Technical Annex]

[Applicable [in respect of [(i) to (iv)] [(v) below only]]]
[Not Applicable]

[If applicable, the following subparagraphs will appear
and be detailed in the Schedule]

[If applicable in respect of Credit Linked Notes: Subject
to the provision of notice in accordance with
subparagraph (iv) below, the Issuer may redeem the
Notes in whole, but not in part, on [any Business
Day/other] from but excluding the Issue Date to but
excluding the Scheduled Maturity Date]

[¢] [Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[[¢] per Note of [e] Specified Denomination] [[e] per
Calculation Amount] [Market Value] [Specify other]
[Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]
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(iii)

If redeemabile in part:

(a) Minimum Redemption
Amount:

(b) Maximum Redemption
Amount:

[(c) Method of Redemption:

(iv)

Notice period (if other than as set
out in the Conditions):

(v) Trigger Redemption Option:

[Outstanding Amount
Level:

Trigger

[For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes: Early Redemption Amount per
Calculation Amount]

[NB: Calculation Amount is applicable to Definitive
Bearer Notes only.]

[e] [[®] per Calculation Amount ] [Not Applicable]

[e] [[®] per Calculation Amount ] [Not Applicable]

[Pool factor] [Reduction in nominal amount] [Specify
other]]6

[#] [Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[NB: If setting notice periods which are different to
those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised
to consider the practicalities of distribution of
information through intermediaries, for example,
clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other
notice requirements which may apply, for example, as
between the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if applicable: The
Issuer shall give not less than [e] Business Days' (as
defined in Part 2 of the Credit Technical Annex) notice
to the Noteholders in accordance with [Condition 14 of
the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and Uncertificated Notes] [Condition 13 of the Terms
and Conditions of the French Law Notes] (which notice
shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for
redemption), provided, however that any such notice
shall be deemed to be void and of no effect, if a Credit
Event Notice has been, or is, delivered to Noteholders
in accordance with the Conditions at any time on or
prior to 5.00 p.m. (Paris time) on the fourth Business
Day preceding the date fixed for redemption
accordance with this paragraph 21]

in

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[As provided in Condition 6(f) of the Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes] [As provided in Condition 5(f) of
the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes]

[If different from 10%, specify level]]

® Delete unless Notes are being redeemed in part and it is necessary to specify the method of such redemption
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22. Redemption at the
Noteholders:

option of the

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s):
(i) Optional Redemption Amount(s)

and method, if any, of calculation
of such amount(s):

(iii) Notice period (if other than as set
out in the Conditions):

23. Final Redemption Amount:.

[if redemption is indexed:

(i) Index/Formula:

(i) Calculation Agent responsible for
calculating the Final Redemption

Amount (if not the Fiscal Agent):

(iii) Provisions for determining the
redemption amount where

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

(N.B. For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes Redemption at the option of the
Noteholders is not applicable)

[If not applicable, delete the subparagraphs of this
paragraph]

[¢] [See the Schedule]

[[] per Note of [e] Specified Denomination] [[e] per
Calculation Amount] [Market Value] [Specify other]
[See the Schedule]

[NB: Calculation Amount is applicable to Definitive
Bearer Notes only]

[#] [See the Schedule]

[NB: If setting notice periods which are different to
those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised
to consider the practicalities of distribution of
information through intermediaries, for example,
clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other
notice requirements which may apply, for example, as
between the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent]

[[e] per Note of [e] Specified Denomination] [[e] per
Calculation Amount] [Specify other] [See the
Schedule]

[NB: Calculation Amount is applicable to Definitive
Bearer Notes only]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: 100 per cent. of the
Nominal Amount of each Note then outstanding,
subject to the provisions of the Credit Technical
Annex]

[NB: If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100
per cent. of the nominal value, the Notes will be
derivative securities for the purposes of the

Prospectus Directive and the requirements of Annex
XlI to the Prospectus Directive Regulation will apply.]

[In respect of Index Linked Notes: See the Schedule]

[Not Applicable/insert name and address]

[Give or annex details]
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24,

25.

calculation by reference to Index
and/or Formula is impossible or
impracticable:

Early Redemption Amount(s) payable on
redemption for taxation reasons or on
Event of Default and/or the method of
calculating the same:

Credit Linked Notes provisions

(i)

(i)

(i)
(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Type of Credit Linked Notes:

First Credit Event Occurrence
Date:

Settlement Type:

Settlement Method:

Reference Entity(ies):

Transaction Type:

[In respect of Index Linked Notes:
As provided in the [Equity/Fund/Commodities]
Technical Annex]]

[If the Underlying is not covered by the Technical
Annex: See the Schedule]

[[®] per Note of [e] Specified Denomination] [[e] per
Calculation Amount] [Market Value] [Specify other]

[NB: Calculation Amount is applicable to Definitive
Bearer Notes only]

[NB: Early Redemption Amount(s) payable on
redemption for taxation reasons or on Event of Default
and/or the method of calculating the same (if required
or if different from that set out in Conditions 6(h) of the
Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and
the Uncertificated Notes and 5(h) of the Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes.)]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph]

[Single Name Notes] [First-to-Default Notes] [Basket
Notes] [Tranche Notes] [Specify other] [See the
Schedule]

[NB: First-To-Default Notes are also referred to as
FTD Notes]

[#] [See the Schedule]

[American] [European] [See the Schedule]

[Cash Settlement] (or but ONLY for Single Name
Notes and FTD Notes) [Physical Settlement] [See the
Schedule]

[See the Schedule]

[insert name(s)] [Specify if Sovereign)

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and FTD Notes: The Reference Entities
comprised in the Reference Portfolio as described in
the Annex for Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[See the Schedule]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in the Annex for
Credit Linked Notes hereto]
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(vii)

Multiple Successor(s):

(viii) Reference Obligation(s):

(ix) Calculation Agent responsible for
calculating the redemption
amount (if not the Calculation
Agent specified in the Credit
Technical Annex):

(x) All Guarantees:

(xi) Credit Events:

Notice of
Information:

(xii) Publicly Available

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and FTD Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as specified in
the Annex for Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[See the Schedule]
[For Single Name Notes: Applicable]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and FTD Notes: Not relevant. Part 1 - V
"Multiple Successors" of the Credit Technical Annex
does not apply to the Notes]

[See the Schedule]
CUSIP/ISIN: [e] [None]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and FTD Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Reference
Obligation(s) specified in the Annex for Credit Linked
Notes hereto]

[Not Applicable] [Specify name and address]

[See the Schedule]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in the Annex for
Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and FTD Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as specified in
the Annex for Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[See the Schedule]

[For Single Name Notes: The Credit Events specified
in the Annex for Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and FTD Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Credit
Event(s) specified in the Annex for Credit Linked
Notes hereto]

[See the Schedule]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in the Annex for
Credit Linked Notes hereto]
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(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

Obligation(s):

- Obligation Category:

- Obligation
Characteristics:

Accrual of Interest upon Credit
Event:

Terms relating to Settlement:

Final Value:

[Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation(s):

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and FTD Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as specified in
the Annex for Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[See the Schedule]

[For Single Name Notes: The Obligation Category
specified in the Annex for Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and FTD Notes: For each Reference Obligation
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Obligation
Category specified in the Annex for Credit Linked
Notes hereto]

[See the Schedule]

[For Single Name Notes: The Obligation
Characteristics specified in the Annex for Credit
Linked Notes hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and FTD Notes: For each Reference Obligation
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Obligation
Characteristics specified in the Annex for Credit
Linked Notes hereto]

[See the Schedule]

[No Accrued Interest upon Credit Event]

[Accrued Interest upon Credit Event]

[Guaranteed Coupon] (NB: Guaranteed Coupon only
where settlement is European Settlement)

[If no coupon: Not relevant. The Notes do not bear
interest.]

[See the Schedule]

[Fixed Recovery: [®] per cent.] [Floating Recovery with
[Auction Method] [Quotation Dealers Method]]

[If Physical Settlement: Not Applicable]

[If Cash Settlement and Fixed Recovery:  Not
Applicable] [See the Schedule]

If not applicable, delete the subparagraphs
“[Deliverable/Selected] Obligation Category” and
“[Deliverable/Selected] Obligation Characteristics”
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(xvi)

(xvii)

- [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation Category:

- [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation
Characteristics:

First-to-Default:

Provisions relating to Basket
Notes:

(a) [Reference Portfolio
Notional Amount:

(b) Reference Entity
Notional Amount:

(c) Reference Price:

(d) Reference Entity

[See the Schedule]

[For Single Name Notes: The [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation Category specified in the Annex for Credit
Linked Notes hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes): For each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference Portfolio, the Selected Obligation Category
specified in the Annex for Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[For FTD Notes: For each Reference Entity comprised
in the Reference Portfolio, the [Deliverable] [Selected]
Obligation Category specified in the Annex for Credit
Linked Notes hereto]

[See the Schedule]

[For Single Name Notes: The [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation Characteristics specified in the Annex for
Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes): For each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference  Portfolio, the Selected Obligation
Characteristics specified in the Annex for Credit
Linked Notes hereto]

[For FTD Notes: For each Reference Entity comprised
in the Reference Portfolio, the [Deliverable] [Selected]
Obligation Characteristics specified in the Annex for
Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
(a) to (f) of this subparagraph (xvii)]

[See the Schedule] [®] [equal to the product of (i)
P/(M-N+1) and (ii) the Aggregate Nominal Amount, if
N-to-M-to-Default is specified as Applicable)

[See the Schedule]

[For each Reference Entity, the amount equal to the
product of the Reference Entity Weighting and the
Reference Portfolio Notional Amount]

[See the Schedule]
[[®] per cent.]

[See the Schedule]
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Weighting:

(e) Provisions relating to
Tranche Notes:

(1) [N-to-M-to-
Default:

(2) Tranche
Notional
Amount:

(3) Tranche
Subordination
Amount:

(f) Interest Recovery:

(xviii) Provisions relating to other
Credit Linked Notes:

[(a) Interest Calculation

[For Each Reference Entity: [®]/ the amount specified
as such in the Annex for Credit Linked Notes hereto]

[See the Schedule] [Applicable] [Not Applicable]

If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
(1), (2) and (3) of this subparagraph (e)

[See the Schedule] [Applicable] [Not Applicable]
[If not applicable delete the three lines below:

N = [e]

M = [e]

P= [number of Reference Entities within the Reference
Portfolio]

[See the Schedule]

[[®] (NB: The Tranche Notional Amount should be
equal to [portfolio size * (detachment point- attachment

point)]

[equal to the Aggregate Nominal Amount if N-to-M-to-
Default is specified as Applicable]

[See the Schedule]

[®] [equal to the product of (i) the Aggregate Nominal
Amount and (iij) (N-1)/(M-N+1), if N-to-M-to-Default is
specified as Applicable]]

[See the Schedule]

[Delete this subparagraph (f) UNLESS (1) the Notes are
Basket Notes with a Fixed Interest Recovery with an
Interest Recovery Rate other than zero per cent. or with
a Floating Interest Recovery or (2) the Notes are
Tranche Notes where N-to-M-to-Default is specified as
Not Applicable and with a Fixed Interest Recovery or (3)
the Notes are Tranche Notes where N-to-M-to-Default
is specified as Applicable and with Floating Interest
Recovery with a Fixed Interest Recovery with an
Interest Recovery Rate other than zero per cent.]]

[Fixed Interest Recovery with an Interest Recovery Rate
of [specify] per cent.] [Floating Interest Recovery]]

[See the Schedule] [®] [Not Applicable]
If not applicable, delete subparagraphs (xviii)(a) and (b)

[See the Schedule] [@®]
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Amount:

(b) Calculation of Cash [See the Schedule] [@]]
Redemption Amount:

(xix) Such other additional terms or [See the Schedule] [®] [Not Applicable]
provisions as may be required:

(xx) Business Days (for the purposes [See the Schedule] [@®]
of the Credit Technical Annex):

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES
26. Form of Notes:

(i) Form: [The following elections apply in respect of Temporary
Global Botes and Permanent Global Notes:

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a
Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for
Definitive Bearer Notes only upon an Exchange Event]
[in CGN or NGN form]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive
Bearer Notes on and after the Exchange Date] [in CGN
or NGN form]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive
Bearer Notes only upon an Exchange Event] [in CGN
or NGN form]]

[Notes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium,
except to a clearing system, a depository or other
institution for the purpose of their immobilisation in
accordance with article 4 of the Belgian Law of 14
December 2005.]

[Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the
"Form of the Notes" section in the Base Prospectus
and the Notes themselves [The exchange upon
notice/at any time options should not be expressed to
be applicable if the Specified Denomination of the
Notes in paragraph 6 includes language substantially
to the following effect: "€100,000 and integral multiples
of [€1,000] in excess thereof up to and including
€199,000." Furthermore, such Specified Denomination
construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of
Notes which is to be represented on issue by a
Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive
Notes]**.]

[Dematerialised Uncertificated Notes in book entry form
[issued, cleared and settled through Euroclear UK &
Ireland Limited (CREST)][CREST Depository Interests/

" Include for bearer Notes (including, but limited to, bearer Notes issued under English law and materialised bearer Notes issued under French
law) that are to be distributed in Belgium.
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Direct CREST Settlement] [other]

[The following elections apply in respect of Registered
Notes:]

[Regulation S Global Note issued under the class
safekeeping structure (CSS) or the NSS] [Combined
Global Note issued under the CSS or the NSS [n.b.
that Final Terms for Notes issued under the
Programme with a denomination of at least €100,000
(or its equivalent in another currency) should be used
for Registered Notes issued in reliance on Rule 144A].]
[Non-U.S. Registered Global Note issued under the
CSS or the NSS]

[The following election applies in respect of SIS Notes:

[Permanent Global SIS Note exchangeable for a
Definitive Bearer SIS Note only upon the occurrence of
a [Bearer SIS Notes Exchange Event]] [Not possible in
connection with Uncertificated SIS Notes]

[CHF SIS Notes/Other SIS Notes/Uncertificated SIS
Notes]]

[If Other SIS Notes, consideration should be given to
the applicable TEFRA position and the inclusion of
additional selling restrictions in paragraph [41.]**[42.]*
and/or additional U.S. tax disclosure in paragraph

[42]** [43]]

[The following elections apply in respect of French Law
Notes:]

[Dematerialised Notes/Materialised Notes]

[Materialised Notes are only in bearer form and can
only be issued outside France]

[The following elections apply in respect of
Dematerialised Notes: [Bearer dematerialised form (au
porteur) / [fully/administered] Registered
dematerialised form (au nominatif [pur/administré])]

[The following information is required in respect of
Dematerialised Notes: [Insert name of Registration
Agent]]

[The following elections apply in respect of Materialised
Notes: [Temporary Global Certificate exchangeable for
Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes on [e] (the
Exchange Date), subject to postponement as provided
in the Temporary Global Certificate]]

(ii) New Global Note: [Yes] [No] [Not Applicable]
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27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

"Payment Business Day" election or
other special provisions relating to
Payment Business Days:®

Additional Financial Centre(s):

Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to
be attached to Definitive Bearer Notes:

Details relating to Partly Paid Notes:
amount of each payment comprising the
Issue Price and date on which each
payment is to be made and
consequences of failure to pay:

(i) Part Payment Date(s):

(i) Part Payment Amount(s):

Details relating to Instalment Notes:

(i) Instalment Amount(s):

(i) Instalment Date(s):

8

payments on such day.

[Following Payment Business Day] [Modified Following
Payment Business Day] [Specify other]

[Note that this item relates to the date of payment and
not Interest Period end dates to which items 16(iiij) and
18(vi) relate]

[NB: "Payment Business Day" election in accordance
with Condition 5(f) of the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes and
Condition 4(d) of the Terms and Conditions of the
French Law Notes.]

[Not Applicable] [give details]

[In respect of Credit Linked Note with Physical
Settlement: [e] and solely for the purposes of physical
settlement, if applicable, a day in any other jurisdiction
in which a bank must be open in order to effect
settlement of any Deliverable Obligations being
Delivered]

[NB: This item relates to the place of payment and not
Interest Period end dates to which items 16(iij) and
18(vi) relate]

[NB: Additional Financial Centre(s) for the purposes of
Condition 5(f) of the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes and
Condition 4(d) of the Terms and Conditions of the

French Law Notes.]

[Yes (if appropriate)] [Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable] [give details]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph]

[e]
[e]
[Not Applicable] [give details]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

[e]

[e]

Amend "Payment Business Day" definition if payment is to be made on 25 December as Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg do not settle
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32. Redenomination applicable:
33. Masse:

34. Swiss Paying Agent(s):

35. Portfolio Manager:

36. Governing law:

37. Other final terms:

[Not Applicable] [The provisions of Condition 1 of the
Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and
the Uncertificated Notes apply] [The provisions of
Condition 1 of the Terms and Conditions of the French
Law Notes apply]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable] [Condition 12 of the
Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes is
deleted and replaced in its entirety by the provisions of
the Code de Commerce relating to the "Masse"]

[NB: "Masse" pursuant to Condition 12 of the Terms
and Conditions of the French Law Notes]

[NB: "Masse" will not be applicable to Notes other than
French Law Notes]

[Applicable (as specified in the applicable Swiss
Paying Agency Agreement)] [insert name(s) and
address(es) if there is to be (i) a Principal Swiss
Paying Agent other than Société Générale, Paris,
Zurich Branch or (i) one or more additional Swiss
Paying Agents] [Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable] [insert name]

The Notes (and, if applicable, the Receipts and the
Coupons) and any non-contractual obligations arising
out of or in connection with the Notes will be governed
by, and shall be construed in accordance with,
[English / French / Specify other] law

[N.B. If the Notes are SIS Notes or EUI Notes, the
governing law must always be English law]

[Not Applicable] [give details] [See the Schedule]

[If (a) and (b) are not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

(a) for Preference Share Linked

Notes:

- Preference Share:

- ISIN:

- Calculation Agent
responsible for making

calculations in respect of
the Notes

- Final Redemption

[Not Applicable] [The provisions of the Other Security
Technical Annex shall apply] [See the Schedule]

[e] [See the Schedule]
[e] [See the Schedule]
[e]

[In the event that a Calculation Agent other than
Societe Generale is appointed in connection with the
Notes, describe the terms of its appointment and the
provisions relating to the termination of its
appointment]

[See the Other Security Technical Annex] [Specify]]
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Amount:
- Final Valuation Date:

(b) for Warrant Linked Notes:

- Warrants:
- ISIN:
- Warrant Issuer:

- Calculation Agent
responsible for making
calculations in respect of
the Notes

- Final
Amount:

Redemption

- Final Valuation Date:

DISTRIBUTION
38. (i) If syndicated, names [and
addresses and  underwriting
commitments]* of Managers:
(i) Date of Syndication Agreement:

(iii) Stabilising Manager (if any):

39. If non-syndicated, name [and address]* of
relevant Dealer:

[See the Schedule]
[e] [See the Schedule]

[Not Applicable] [The provisions of the Other Security
Technical Annex shall apply] [See the Schedule]

[Insert details] [See the Schedule]
[#] [See the Schedule]

[Insert details] [See the Schedule]

[e]

[In the event that a Calculation Agent other than
Societe Generale is appointed in connection with the
Notes, describe the terms of its appointment and the
provisions relating to the termination of its
appointment]

[See the Other Security Technical Annex] [Specifyl]
[See the Schedule]

[e] [See the Schedule]

[When adding any other final terms consideration
should be given as to whether such terms constitute
"significant new factors" and consequently trigger the
need for a Supplement to the Base Prospectus under
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive]

[Not Applicable] [give names [and addresses and
underwriting commitments]* of Managers]

[If the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex
XIl of the Prospectus Directive Regulation applies,
include the names [and addresses]* of entities
agreeing to underwrite the issue on a firm commitment
basis and the names [and addresses]* of the entities
agreeing to place the issue without a firm commitment
or on a "best efforts" basis if such entities are not the
same as the Managers.]

[Not Applicable] [give date]

[Only applicable if the Notes are derivative securities
to which Annex Xll of the Prospectus Directive
Regulation applies.]

[Not Applicable] [give date]

[Not Applicable] [give name [and address]* of Dealer]
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[40. Total commission and concession:

[40.]** [41.]* Whether TEFRA D or TEFRA C rules
applicable or TEFRA rules not applicable:

[41.]**[42.]* Additional selling restrictions:

[42]** [43]*
Disclosure:

Additional [U.S./French] Tax

[[e] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount]
[There is no commission and/or concession paid by
the Issuer to the Dealer or the Managers] [Specify
other]]*

[TEFRA D] [TEFRA C] [Not Applicable]

[In case of Notes for which [TEFRA C / TEFRA D]
rules apply:

Subject to certain exceptions, Section 4701 of the US
Internal Revenue Code imposes an excise tax on non-
US issuers of bearer obligations. The amount of the
excise tax is one percent of the principal amount of the
obligation, multiplied by the number of calendar years
until the obligation reaches maturity. The Hiring
Incentives to Restore Employment Act of 2010 (the
HIRE Act) repealed the TEFRA C rules and TEFRA D
rules for Notes issued after 18 March 2012. Based on
Notice 2012-20, the US Department of Treasury and
the US Internal Revenue Service intend to provide in
regulations that rules identical to the TEFRA C rules
and TEFRA D rules will apply for purposes of
establishing an exemption from the excise tax.
Consequently, Bearer Notes issued after 18 March
2012 in accordance with the TEFRA C rules or TEFRA
D rules should continue to be treated as "foreign
targeted obligations" that are exempt from the excise
tax.]

[Not Applicable] [give details] [Section 3(c)(7) to be
included in respect of any Notes distributed in the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of,
U.S. Persons.] [Additional selling restrictions may be
required in the case of Index Linked Notes and Dual
Currency Notes distributed in the United States or to,
or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons.]

[Add the following language if the Notes are

Permanently Restricted Notes.

The Notes may not be legally or beneficially owned
at any time by any U.S. Person (as defined in
Regulation S) and accordingly are being offered
and sold outside the United States to persons that
are not U.S. Persons in reliance on Regulation S.]

[In the case of a public offer, consider disapplying the
selling restrictions applicable to the jurisdiction(s)
where the public offer is to be made (see "Selling
Restrictions: Jurisdictions within the EEA").]

[Not Applicable] [give details]

[Depending on the type of Notes issued and their
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO COLLATERAL

[43]** [44]*

(i)
(ii)

(iii)
(iv)
(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)
(xi)
(xii)

Collateral Conditions
Collateral Pool:

Type of Collateral Pool:

Eligibility Criteria:
Collateral Rules:

Type of collateralisation:

Partial Collateralisation
Percentage:

Haircuts:

Collateral Test Dates:

Collateral Valuation Currency:
Collateral Currency Screen Page:

Collateral
Time:

Currency Specified

Collateral Substitution:

Waiver of Rights:
Early Redemption Amount
following occurrence of a

Collateral Disruption Event:

terms, additional U.S. tax disclosure may be required).

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[specify] [See the Schedule]

[Single Series Collateral Pool/Multiple Series Collateral
Pool] [See the Schedule]

[specify] [See the Schedule]
[specify] [See the Schedule]

[MV Collateralisation]/[NV Collateralisation]/[[Max (MV,
NV) Collateralisation]/[Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation]
[See the Schedule]

[[specify]/Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[NB - where Max (MV, NV) Collateralisation or Max
(MV, NV) Collateralisation is applicable, specify
percentage level for MTN and NV Collateralisation if
different]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[If applicable, specify details of the haircut to be applied
in relation to each type or class of Collateral Assef] [
N.B. Haircuts must be the same for each Series of

Secured Notes secured on the same Collateral Pool]

[specify]/[No periodic Collateral Test Dates] [See the
Schedule]

[Note if it is intended that there will be no periodic
adjustments to the amount of Collateral Assets in
respect of a particular Series of Secured Notes][ N.B.
Collateral Test Dates must be the same for each Series
of Secured Notes secured on the same Collateral Pool],
[specify] [See the Schedule]

[specify] [See the Schedule]

[specify] [See the Schedule]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]
[Applicable/Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]
[Market Value of the Notes as defined in Condition [@®]

of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and Uncertificated Notes and [®] of the Terms and
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(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

(xx)

(xxi)

(xxii)

(xxiii)

[Security Trustee (in the case of
English Law Notes)][Security
Agent (in the case of French Law
Notes)]

Collateral Manager:

Collateral Monitoring Agent:

Collateral Custodian:

Note Valuation Agent:

Disposal Agent:

Substitute Paying Agent:

Physical
Assets:

Delivery of Collateral

method of transfer of Collateral
Assets in respect of Collateral
Assets Entitlement:

Terms for realisation of Collateral
Assets if different from as set out
in Collateral Conditions:

Order of Priority:

Other terms or
conditions:

special

PURPOSE OF FINAL TERMS

Conditions of the French Law Notes][specify] [See the
Schedule]

BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited
[specify][Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[Société Générale][specify] [See the Schedule]

[The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch

1[specify] [See the Schedule]

[The Bank of New York Mellon
S.A.][specify] [See the Schedule]

(Luxembourg)

[Société Générale][specify] [See the Schedule]

[The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch][specify]
[See the Schedule]

[The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch

1[specify] [See the Schedule]
[Applicable/Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[NB The Secured Notes secured on a Particular
Collateral Pool must either all be subject to Physical
Delivery of Collateral Assets or nof]

[Delivery through Clearstream, Luxembourg or
Euroclear or any other relevant clearance institution (the
Relevant Clearing System) unless the Collateral
Assets are not eligible for clearance by the Relevant
Clearing System, in which case transfer will take place
outside the Relevant Clearing System] [See the
Schedule]

[specify][Not Applicable] [See the Schedule]

[The Standard Order of Priority (as defined in the
Collateral Conditions) applies/describe alternative Order
of Priority] [See the Schedule]

[specify] [See the Schedule]

These Final Terms comprise the final terms required for the issue of the Notes [and] [public offer in [the public
offer jurisdiction(s) (please specify)]] [and] [admission to trading on [the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange] [any other relevant official list/ Regulated Market the Issuer may determine] [Specify other]
[and] [listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange and admission to trading on [Scoach Switzerland] [in the case of
derivatives]/[the SIX Swiss Exchange][in the case of bonds]] [(specify other)] by SG Issuer pursuant to its
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€5,000,000,000 Debt Instruments Issuance Programme for which purpose they are hereby submitted.]

RESPONSIBILITY

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Final Terms

[prepared in relation to Series [e], Tranche [e]].

[Information or summaries of information included herein with respect to the Underlying(s), has been extracted
from general databases released publicly or by any other available information]. Each of the Issuer and the
Guarantor confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is
able to ascertain from information published, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced

information inaccurate or misleading.]

[NB: The Final Terms should be signed by the Issuer
in those jurisdictions where the Issuer is legally
required to sign or where market practice dictates
that it should (for example for SIX Swiss Exchange
listing purposes).

The signature block may be deleted in those
jurisdictions where neither of the above applies.]

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:
By:

Duly authorised

[NB: The Final Terms should be signed by the
Guarantor in those jurisdictions where the Guarantor is
legally required to sign or where market practice
dictates that it should (for example for SIX Swiss
Exchange listing purposes).

The signature block may be deleted in those

jurisdictions where neither of the above applies.]
Signed on behalf of the Guarantor:
By:

Duly authorised
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2,

PART B — OTHER INFORMATION

LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

(i) Listing:

(i) Admission to trading:

(iii) [Estimate of total expenses
related to admission to trading:

RATINGS

Ratings:

[None] [[Application has been made for the Notes to be
listed on [the official list of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange] [Specify other]] [Application will be made for
the Notes to be listed on [the SIX Swiss Exchange]
[Specify other]]

[If other than "None", where applicable this will be
restated in the Schedule]

[Application has been made for the Notes to be
admitted to trading on [the Regulated Market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange] [Specify other] with effect
from [or as soon as practicable after] [the Issue Date]]
[Application has been made for the Notes to be
admitted to trading on [Scoach Switzerland][in the case
of derivatives]/[the SIX Swiss Exchange][in the case of
bonds] with effect from [or as soon as practicable after]
[the Issue Date] [Specify other].]

[Not Applicable. [Specify "Not Applicable" either in the
case of a listing on a non EU regulated market or where
no listing is to occur]]

[Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate
that original securities are already admitted to trading.]

[e] [Not Applicable]]**

[The Notes to be issued have not been rated.]
[The Notes to be issued have been rated:
[[Name of rating agency(ies)]: [e]]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is established in the
European Union and has applied for registration under
Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European
Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September
2009, as amended by Regulation (EU) No. 513/2011 of
the European Parliament and of the Council dated 11
May 2011, although notification of the corresponding
registration decision has not yet been provided by the
relevant competent authority.]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is established in the
European Union and is registered under Regulation
(EC) No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of
the Council dated 16 September 2009, as amended by
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Regulation (EU) No 513/2011 of the European
Parliament and of the Council dated 11 May 2011 and
is included in the list of registered credit rating agencies
published at the website of the European Securities
and Markets Authority (www.esma.europa.eu).]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is not established in the
European Union and has not applied for registration
under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European
Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September
2009, as amended by Regulation (EU) No 513/2011 of
the European Parliament and of the Council dated 11
May 2011.]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is not established in the
European Union and has not applied for registration
under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European
Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September
2009, as amended by Regulation (EU) No 513/2011 of
the European Parliament and of the Council dated 11
May 2011, but is endorsed by [insert credit rating
agency] which is established in the European Union
and is registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009
of the European Parliament and of the Council dated
16 September 2009, as amended by Regulation (EU)
No 513/2011 of the European Parliament and of the
Council dated 11 May 2011.]

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of
the ratings if this has previously been published by the
rating provider.]

[The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated
to Notes of the type being issued under the Programme
generally or, where the issue has been specifically
rated, that rating.]

NOTIFICATION [AND AUTHORISATION]*

[The Commission de surveillance du secteur financier (CSSF), Luxembourg [has been requested to
provide/has provided] the [names of competent authorities of host Member States] with a certificate of
approval attesting that the Base Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus
Directive.] [Not Applicable]

[The Issuer and the Guarantor have authorised the use of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus
dated 26 June 2012 by the Dealer/Managers and [include names of other financial intermediaries
involved in the offer/the entities in charge of the distribution of the Notes] (the Distributor[s] and,
together with the Dealer/Managers, the Financial Intermediaries) in connection with offers of the Notes
to the public in [Luxembourg and/or jurisdictions into which it has been passported] for the period set out
in paragraph 13 below [being specified that [the address/names and addresses] of the Distributor[s] [,if
any] [is/are] available upon request to the Dealer (specified above in item 39 of Part A].]*
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6.

INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to the [Manager(s)/Dealer, so] [So] far as the Issuer is aware, no person
involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer.]

[Amend as appropriate if there are other interests]

REASONS FOR THE OFFER, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES

(i) Reasons for the offer:
(i) Estimated net proceeds:
(iii) Estimated total expenses:

YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)

Indication of yield:

[e] [See "Use of Proceeds" wording in the Base
Prospectus] [Not Applicable]

[NB: if reasons for offer are different from making profit
and/or hedging certain risks will need to include those
reasons here.]

[e] [Not Applicable]

[If the proceeds are intended for more than one
purpose, those purposes should be disclosed in order of
priority. If the proceeds will be insufficient to fund all
disclosed purposes, state the amount and sources of
other funding.]

[e] [Not Applicable]

[Expenses must be broken down into each principal
intended "use" and presented in order of priority of such
"uses".]

[Delete unless the Notes are derivative securities to
which Annex Xl of the Prospectus Directive Regulation
applies, in which case (i) above. is required where the
reasons for the offer are different from making profit
and/or hedging certain risks and, where such reasons
are inserted in (i), disclosure of net proceeds and total
expenses at (i) and (iii) above are also required
regardless of denomination.]

[NB: If the Notes are derivative securities to which
Annex Xl of the Prospectus Directive Regulation
applies (i) above is required where the reasons for the
offer are different from making profit and/or hedging
certain risks and, where such reasons are inserted in (i),
disclosure of net proceeds and total expenses at (ii) and
(i) above are also required regardless of
denomination.]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable] [give details]

[[e]. Calculated as [include details of method of
calculation in summary form] on the Issue Date.]
[The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of
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the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.]
HISTORIC INTEREST RATES (Floating Rate Notes only)

[Not Applicable]
Details of historic [LIBOR/EURIBOR/SHIBOR/Specify other] rates can be obtained from
[Reuters/Bloomberg/Specify other].

PERFORMANCE OF INDEX/FORMULA, EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT
AND ASSOCIATED RISKS AND OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING THE UNDERLYING (Index
Linked Notes only)

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[This paragraph only applies if the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex XlI of the Prospectus
Directive Regulation applies.]

[Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the index/formula/other
variable can be obtained.]

[Need to include a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected
by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]*

[To the extent not covered by the Technical Annex, need to consider including, pursuant to Annex Xl of
the Prospectus Directive Regulation, in the Final Terms Part A or in a schedule thereto a description of
any market disruption or settlement disruption events that affect the underlying and any adjustment rules
in relation to events concerning the underlying (if applicable).]

[Where the underlying is an index need to include the name of the index and a description if composed
by the Issuer and if the index is not composed by the Issuer need to include details of where the
information about the index can be obtained. Where the underlying is not an index need fto include
equivalent information.]

[Where the underlying is a security need to include the name of the issuer of the security and the
International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) or equivalent identification number. Where the
underlying is a basket of underlyings (including in relation to Credit Linked Notes that are Tranche
Notes), need to include the relevant weightings of each underlying in the basket.]

[Where the underlying is a Preference Share, insert the following wording: The Notes relate to the [[1]
preference shares of the Preference Share Issuer.

The performance of the Preference Shares depends on the performance of the relevant underlying
asset(s) or basis of reference to which the Preference Shares are linked (the Preference Share
Underlying). The Preference Share Underlying is [insert details of the relevant underlying asset(s) or
basis of reference to which the Preference Shares relate]. Information on the Preference Share
Underlying (including past performance and volatility) is published on [®]. Potential investors should
review the Terms of the Preference Shares and consult with their own professional advisors if they
consider it necessary. [The Terms of the Preference Shares will be made available to investors upon
written request to the specified office of the Preference Share Issuer.] The Preference Share Value will
be published on each [Business Day] on [®].]

[Where the underlying is a Warrant, insert the following wording: The Notes relate to the [®] warrants of
[®] (the Warrants).

The performance of the Warrants depends on the performance of the relevant underlying asset(s) or
basis of reference to which the Warrants are linked (the Warrant Underlying). The Warrant Underlying
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10.

is [insert details of the relevant underlying asset(s) or basis of reference to which the Warrants relatel].
Information on the Warrant Underlying (including past performance and volatility is published on [®].
Potential investors should review the terms of the Warrants and consult with their own professional
advisors if they consider it necessary. The terms of the Warrants will be available on [®]. The value of
the Warrants will be published on each [Business Day] on [@].]

PERFORMANCE OF RATE[S] OF EXCHANGE AND EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF
INVESTMENT (Dual Currency Notes only)

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[This paragraph only applies if the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex XlI of the Prospectus
Directive Regulation applies.]

[Need to include details of where performance and volatility from time to time of the relevant rates can
be obtained]

[Need to include a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected
by the underlying and the circumstances in which the risks are most evident.]*

INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR SIS NOTES TO BE LISTED ON THE SIX SWISS EXCHANGE
[Not Applicable]

[(i) Listing/Trading information: (a) Trading Size and Ratio: [minimum and
maximum trading size and the standard exercise ratio]

(b) First Trading Day: [first trading day]

(c) Last Trading Day and Time: [last trading day as
well as (in the case of derivatives) the time of day at
which trading shall cease]

[(d) (In the case of derivatives) Capital Protection:
[Capital protection [specify] /no capital protection]]

[(e) (In the case of derivatives) Type of quoting: [the
Notes are traded or quoted including accrued interest
(dirty trading)] [accrued interest is shown separately
(clean trading)]]

(i) Information relating to [insert the information on the underlying instruments
underlyings: required by section 4 of scheme F (for derivatives) or
sections 2.5.2 and 2.5.3 of scheme E (for bonds) of the
SIX Swiss Exchange and the tax information in relation
to a purchase of underlying instruments required by
section 3.2.12 of scheme F of the SIX Swiss Exchange
in respect to Notes to be listed on the SIX Swiss
Exchange, to the extent such information is not already
included elsewhere in the Final Terms.] [See [also] the
Schedule under the definition of "Underlying".]

(iii) Additional information: a) Fees charged by the Issuer to the Noteholders post-
issuance: [None] [Give details]

b) Conditions for the grant of any advantages and the
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1.

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
(v)

ISIN Code:

Common Code:

Any clearing system(s) other
than Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.,
Clearstream Banking, société
anonyme Euroclear France or
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited
and the relevant identification
number(s):

Delivery:

Names and addresses of
Additional Paying Agent(s) (if
any):

(a) EUI Agent:

method of calculating those advantages:[Give details]
[Not Applicable]

c) Name and address of the representative for purposes
of article 43 of the Listing Rules of the SIX Swiss
Exchange: [please insert name and address of the
relevant representatives, generally Société Générale,
Paris, Zurich Branch, Talacker 50, PO Box 1928, 8021
Zurich, Switzerland.]

d) No Material Adverse Change. Save as disclosed in
this Base Prospectus, there has been no material
adverse change, nor any event involving a prospective
material adverse change in the financial and trading
position of the Issuer and the Guarantor since [insert
date of the most recently published audited financial
statements].]

[e]

[NB: This code must be marked as "restricted” for
Securities Act purposes in the case of Combined Global
Notes.]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in Part 2 of the Schedule]

[e]

[NB: This code must be marked as "restricted” for
Securities Act purposes in the case of Combined Global
Notes.]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered
simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert: As
specified in Part 2 of the Schedule]

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)/SIX SIS

Ltd, Swiss Securities Number: [®], SIX Swiss
Exchange, Ticker Symbol: [®]/Specify other]

Delivery [against/free of] payment

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[insert name of agent to be appointed, where
applicable, in respect of CDIs and/or EUI Notes][Not
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(b) EUl Agent's specified
office:
(c) Name and address of

Issuer Agent in relation
to Uncertificated Notes
(delete as applicable):

Intended to be held in a manner
which would allow Eurosystem

(vi)

eligibility:
12. Address and contact details of Société
Générale for all administrative

communications relating to the Notes:

[13.

Applicable]
[Including CDIs and/or EUI Notes]

[insert address of agent to be appointed, where
applicable, in respect of CDIs and/or EUI Notes] [Not
Applicable]

[Including CDIs and/or EUI Notes]

[#] [Not Applicable]

[Yes] [No]

[Include the following text if "yes" selected in which case
Bearer Notes must be issued in NGN form : Note that
the designation "yes" simply means that the Notes are
intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the
ICSDs as common safekeeper [, and registered in the
name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as
common safekeeper, that is, held under the NSS,]
[include this text for Registered Notes which are to be
held under the NSS] and does not necessarily mean
that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral
for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit
operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at
any or all times during their life. Such recognition will
depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility
criteria.]

Telephone: [e]
Facsimile: [e]
Attention: [e]

PUBLIC OFFERS IN EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA

[This paragraph applies only in respect of any offer of Notes made in any Member State of the European
Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a Relevant Member State), where
such offer is not made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that
Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes.]

[Not Applicable]

- Offer Period:

- Offer Price:

[e] to [e] in [insert public offer jurisdiction(s)] [, provided
that the Issuer reserves the right to close the Offer
Period prior to its stated expiry for any reason.]

[This period should be from the date of publication of
the Final Terms to a specified date (or a formulation
such as "the Issue Date" or "the date which falls [e]
Business Days thereafter").]

[The Issuer has offered the Notes to the
Dealer/Managers at the initial issue price of [e] less a
total commission of [e].
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- Conditions to which the offer is subject:

- Description of the application process:

- Details of the minimum and/or maximum
amount of application:

- Description of possibility to reduce
subscriptions and manner for refunding
excess amount paid by applicants:

- Details of the method and time limits for
paying up and delivering the Notes:

- Manner and date in which results of the
offer are to be made public:

[or where the price is not determined at the date of the
Final Terms]

The issue price of the Notes will be determined by the
Issuer and the [Dealer/Managers] on or about [e] in
accordance with market conditions then prevailing,
including [supply and demand for the Notes and other
similar securities] [and] [the then current market price of
[insert relevant benchmark security, if anyl.] [Specify
other]

[N.B. For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes, commission must not be deducted from
the Issue Price. Commission should be paid outside of
the terms of the Notes]

[Not Applicable] [Offers of the Notes are conditional [on
their issue [only applicable to offers during the
subscription period]] [on any additional conditions set
out in the standard terms of business of the Financial
Intermediaries, notified to investors by such relevant
Financial Intermediaries]]

[Not Applicable] [Give details]

[NB:Not Applicable unless full application process is
being followed in relation to the issue]

[Not Applicable] [Give details]

[NB:Not Applicable unless full application process is
being followed in relation to the issue]

[Not Applicable] [Give details]

[NB:Not Applicable unless full application process is
being followed in relation to the issue]

[The Notes will be issued on the Issue Date against
payment to the Issuer of the net subscription moneys. ]
[However, the settlement and delivery of the Notes will
be executed through the Dealer mentioned above.]
[Investors will be notified by the relevant Financial
Intermediary of their allocations of Notes and the
settlement arrangements in respect thereof.] [The Notes
will be delivered on any day during the offer by payment
of the purchase price by the Notholders to the relevant
Financial Intermediary.]

[Publication on the website [of the Issuer] ([insert
website)] and in a daily newspaper of general circulation
in the relevant place(s) of listing and/or public offer at
the end of the [subscription/marketing] period if required
by local regulation.] [Specify other]
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- Procedure for exercise of any right of
pre-emption, negotiability of subscription
rights and treatment of subscription
rights not exercised:

- Categories of potential investors to
which the Notes are offered:

- Process for notification to applicants of
the amount allotted and the indication
whether dealing may begin before
notification is made:

- Amount of any expenses and taxes

[Not Applicable] [Give details]

[NB:Not Applicable unless full application process is
being followed in relation to the issue]

[Offers may be made by the Financial Intermediaries [in
Luxembourg and jurisdictions into which the Base
Prospectus has been passported] to any person. In
other EEA countries, offers will only be made by the
Financial Intermediaries pursuant to an exemption from
the obligation under the Prospectus Directive as
implemented in such countries to publish a prospectus.]

[Not Applicable] [Give details]

[NB:Not Applicable unless full application process is
being followed in relation to the issue]

[e])"

specifically charged to the subscriber or
purchaser:
[13.] * [14.]" SWISS SIMPLIFIED PROSPECTUS

[Insert this paragraph in the case of structured products that are publicly offered, but not listed, in
Switzerland)]

[Not Applicable] [A simplified prospectus has been made available for the purpose of the offer of these Notes in
Switzerland in accordance with the CISA requirements.

Copies of the simplified prospectus are available from [insert relevant address and contact details in Switzerland]]
Post-issuance information: The Issuer does not intend to provide any post-issuance information in relation to

any assets underlying issues of Notes constituting derivative securities, except if required by any applicable laws
and regulations.
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SCHEDULE

(This Schedule forms part of the Final Terms to which it is attached)

Part 1:
1. (i) Issuer: SG Issuer

(ii) Guarantor: Société Générale
3. Specified Currency or Currencies: [#] [As specified in Part 2 below]
4, Aggregate Nominal Amount:

(i) Tranche: [#] [As specified in Part 2 below]

(ii) Series: [#] [As specified in Part 2 below]
5. Issue Price: [#] [As specified in Part 2 below]
6. Specified Denomination(s): [#] [As specified in Part 2 below]
7. Issue Date: [e]
8. Maturity Date: [e] [As specified in Part 2 below]

1(i) Part (B) Listing: [®]
[15. Fixed Rate Note Provisions: Applicable9

(i) Rate(s) of Interest: [e]

(i) Interest Payment Date(s): [e]

(iii) Business Day Convention: []]

(iv) Fixed Coupon Amount(s): [[e1]

(v) Broken Amount(s): [e]

(vi) Day Count Fraction: [e]
[16. Floating Rate Note Provisions Applicable10

(i) Specified Period(s) / Interest [e]

Payment Date(s):

(i) Business Day Convention: [e]

(iii) Business Day: [e]

(iv) Manner in which the Rate of [Screen Rate Determination] [ISDA Determination]

Interest and Interest Amount is to  [Specify other]
be determined:

® If specified as "Not Applicable" in paragraph 15 of Part A of the Final Terms, delete this paragraph.
0 f specified as "Not Applicable" in paragraph 16 of Part A of the Final Terms, delete this paragraph.
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[(vi) Screen Rate Determination:
- Index/Formula: [e]
- Reference Rate: [e]

- Interest Determination [e]

Date(s):
- Specified Time: [e]
- Relevant Screen Page: [e]]

[(vii) ISDA Determination:

- Index Formula: [e]
- Floating Rate Option: [e]
- Designated Maturity: [e]
- Reset Date: [e]1]
(viii)  Margin(s): [e]
(ix) Minimum Rate of Interest: [e]
(x) Maximum rate of Interest: [e]
(xi) Day Count Fraction: []]
[17. Zero Coupon Note Provisions Applicable11
(i) Accrual Yield: [e]
(ii) Reference Price: [e]
(iii) Any other formula/basis of [e]]

determining amount payable:

18. Index Linked Interest Note Provisions [Applicable] [Not Applicable]
(i) Index/Formula: [®]
[(iv) Business Day Convention: [e]1]
[(x) Day Count Fraction: [®]]

[20. Physical Delivery Note Provisions Applicable]12

[21. Issuer's optional redemption (other than Applicable

for taxation reasons)

"E specified as "Not Applicable" in paragraph 17 of Part A of the Final Terms, delete this paragraph.

"2 If specified as "Not Applicable” in paragraph 20 of Part A of the Final Terms, delete this paragraph.

Bf specified as "Not Applicable" in paragraph 21 of Part A of the Final Terms, delete this paragraph.
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[22.

23.

[25.

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s):

(i) Optional Redemption Amount(s)
and method, if any, of calculation
of such amount(s):

(iv) Notice period:

Redemption at the option of the
Noteholders

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s):
(i) Optional Redemption Amount(s):
(iii) Notice period:

Final Redemption Amount

(i) Index/Formula:

Credit Linked Notes provisions

(i) Type of Credit Linked Notes:
(ii) First Credit Event Occurrence
Date:

(iii) Settlement Type:

(iv) Settlement Method:

(v) Reference Entity(ies):
(vi) Transaction Type:
(vii) Multiple Successor(s):

(viii) Reference Obligation(s):

(ix) Calculation Agent responsible
for calculating the redemption
amount (if not the Calculation
Agent specified in the Credit
Technical Annex):

(x) All Guarantees:

[e]

[e]]

Applicable14

[e]
[]
[e]]

[At par] [[®]% of Specified Denomination] [Index Linked]
[Specify other]

[If Index Linked or other, the following subparagraph will
appear and be detailed below]

[e]

Applicable. See the Annex for Credit Linked Notes
hereto]15

[e]

[e]

[e]
[]
[]
[e]

[e]

" If specified as "Not Applicable” in paragraph 22 of Part A of the Final Terms, delete this paragraph.
" f specified as "Not Applicable" in paragraph 25 of Part A of the Final Terms, delete this paragraph.
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(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

Credit Events:

Notice of Publicly Available
Information:

Obligation(s):
- Obligation Category:

- Obligation
Characteristics:

Accrual of Interest upon Credit
Event:

Terms relating to Settlement:
Final Value:

[Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation(s):

- [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation Category:

- [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation
Characteristics:

First to Default:

Provisions relating to Basket
Notes:

[(a) Reference Portfolio
Notional Amount:

(b) Reference Entity
Notional Amount:

(c) Reference Price:

(d) Reference Entity
Weighting:

(e) Provisions relating to

Tranche Notes:

1) N-to-M-to-
Default:

[e]

[e]

[e]
[e]

[If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
(a) to (f) of this subparagraph (xvii)]

[e]

[e]

[]

[o]

If the Notes are not Tranche Notes, delete the
remaining subparagraphs (1), (2) and (3) of this
Ssubparagraph (e)

[e]
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(xviii)

(xix)

(xx)

(2) Tranche
Notional
Amount:

(3) Tranche
Subordination
Amount:

(f) Interest Recovery:

Provisions relating to other
Credit Linked Notes:

(a) [Interest Calculation
Amount:

(b) Calculation of Cash
Redemption Amount:

Such other additional terms or
provisions as may be required:

Business Days (for the purposes
of the Credit Technical Annex):

37. Other final terms

[e]

[e]]
[See the Schedule] [o]

If not applicable, delete the remaining paragraphs

(xviii)(a) and (b)

[e]

[e]]

[e]

[e]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[If (a) and (b) are not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

(a)

(b)

for Preference Share Linked
Notes:

- Preference Share:

- ISIN:

- Final Redemption
Amount:

- Final Valuation Date:

for Warrant Linked Notes:

- Warrants:

- ISIN:

- Warrant Issuer:

- Final Redemption
Amount:

- Final Valuation Date:

[®]

[®]

[®]

[®]

[®]

[®]

[®]

(@

(®]

(®]

[®]
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[[43] [44]

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)
(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

(ix)

(x)
(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

Collateral Conditions
Collateral Pool:

Type of Collateral Pool:

Eligibility Criteria:

Collateral Rules:

Type of collateralisation:

Partial Collateralisation
Percentage

Haircuts:

Collateral Test Dates:

Collateral Valuation Currency:
Collateral Currency Screen Page:

Collateral
Time:

Currency Specified

Collateral Substitution:

Waiver of Rights:
Early Redemption Amount
following occurrence of a

Collateral Disruption Event:

[Security Trustee (in the case of
English Law Notes)][Security

Applicable16
[specify]

[Single Series Collateral Pool/Multiple Series Collateral
Pool]

[specify]
[specify]

[MV Collateralisation]/[NV Collateralisation)/[Max (MV,
NV) Collateralisation]/[Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation]

[[specify]/Not Applicable]

[NB - where Max (MV, NV) Collateralisation or Max
(MV, NV) Collateralisation is applicable, specify
percentage level for MTN and NV Collateralisation if
different]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[If applicable, specify details of the haircut to be applied
in relation to each type or class of Collateral Assef] [
N.B. Haircuts must be the same for each Series of
Secured Notes secured on the same Collateral Pool]
[specify]/[No periodic Collateral Test Dates]

[Note if it is intended that there will be no periodic
adjustments to the amount of Collateral Assets in
respect of a particular Series of Secured Notes][ N.B.

Collateral Test Dates must be the same for each Series
of Secured Notes secured on the same Collateral Pool],

[specify]
[specify]

[specify]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Market Value of the Notes as defined in Condition [®]
of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and Uncertificated Notes and [®] of the Terms and
Conditions of the French Law Notes][specify]

BNY Mellon Corporate Trustee Services Limited
[specify][Not Applicable]

" f specified as "Not Applicable" in paragraph [43] [44] of Part A of the Final Terms, delete this paragraph.

141



Form of Final Terms

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

(xx)

(xxi)

(xxii)

(xxiii)

Agent (in the case of French Law
Notes)]

Collateral Manager:
Collateral Monitoring Agent:

Collateral Custodian:

Note Valuation Agent:
Disposal Agent:
Substitute Paying Agent

Physical
Assets

Delivery of Collateral

method of transfer of Collateral
Assets in respect of Collateral
Assets Entitlement:

Terms for realisation of Collateral
Assets if different from as set out
in Collateral Conditions:

Order of Priority:

Other terms
conditions:

or special

Part 2 (Definitions):

[Société Générale][specify]
[The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch][specify]

[The Bank of New York Mellon
S.A.][specify]

(Luxembourg)

[Société Générale][specify]
[The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch][specify]
[The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch][specify]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[NB The Secured Notes secured on a Particular
Collateral Pool must either all be subject to Physical
Delivery of Collateral Assets or nof]

[Delivery  through Clearstream, Luxembourg or
Euroclear or any other relevant clearance institution (the
Relevant Clearing System) unless the Collateral
Assets are not eligible for clearance by the Relevant
Clearing System, in which case transfer will take place
outside the Relevant Clearing System]

[specify][Not Applicable]

[The Standard Order of Priority (as defined in the
Collateral Conditions) applies/describe alternative Order
of Priority]

[specify]]

[No additional definition.] [Terms used in the formulae above are described in this Part 2.]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, insert the

following table:

Series | Tranche | Specified | Aggregate | Aggregate
Number | Number | Currency | Nominal | Nominal
or Amount Amount
Currencies per per Series

Tranche

Issue | Specified | Maturity | ISIN | Common | [Specify
Price | Denomin- Date |Code| Code Other]
ation(s)

[e]

[o]

[o]

[e]

[o]

[o]

[e]

[]

[o]

[]

[o]]
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Underlyings:

[[®] has been extracted from [®]. Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor confirms that such information has been
accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by [®],
no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.] [Not

Applicable]

Additional Information:

[®] [Not Applicable]

[For Single Name Notes:

ANNEX FOR CREDIT LINKED NOTES

Reference Entity Transaction Reference Reference Price Status
Type Obligation
[®] [®] [®] [®] [e]]
[For FTD Notes:
Reference Portfolio:
Reference Entities Transaction Reference Reference Price Status
Type Obligation
[®] (o] [®] [®] (o]
[®] (o] [®] [®] [®]
[®] (o] [®] [®] [®]]
[For Basket Notes:
Reference Portfolio:
Reference Entities | Transaction | Reference Reference Reference Status
Type Entity Obligation Price
Weighting
[®] [o] [o] [o] [o] [0]
[0] [0] [0] [0] [0] [0]
[®] [o] [o] [o] [o] [o]
[o] [o] [o] [o] [o] [o]
[o] [o] [o] [o] [o] [o]]

[For all types of Notes (for Basket Notes or First-to-Default Notes where there is more than one Transaction
Type, split the Transaction Type column into the relevant number of columns):

Terms applicable to a Reference Entity are the ones specified in the tables below for the Transaction Type of
such Reference Entity as determined in the table above.

In the tables below, "X" means "applicable"

Credit Events

[insert Transaction Type]

Bankruptcy X]
Failure to Pay [X]
Grace Period Extension [X]
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Notice of Publicly Available Information [X]
Payment Requirement (USD 1,000,000) [X]
Obligation Default [X]
Obligation Acceleration [X]
Repudiation/Moratorium [X]
Restructuring [X]
Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Fully Transferable [X]
Obligation

Modified Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Conditionally [X]
Transferable Obligation

Multiple Holder Obligation [X]
Default Requirement (USD 10,000,000) [X]
All Guarantees [X]
Obligations Category [insert Transaction Type]
Payment X]
Borrowed Money [X]
Reference Obligations Only [X]
Bond X]
Loan X]
Bond or Loan [X]
Obligations Characteristics [insert Transaction Type]
Not Subordinated [X]
Standard Specified Currency [X]
Standard Specified Currencies and Domestic Currency [X]
Not Sovereign Lender [X]
Not Domestic Currency [X]
Not Domestic Law [X]
Listed [X]
Not Domestic Issuance [X]
[Deliverable] [Selected] Obligations Category [insert Transaction Typel]
Payment X]
Borrowed Money [X]
Reference Obligations Only [X]
Bond [X]
Loan X]
Bond or Loan [X]
[Deliverable] [Selected] Obligations Characteristics [insert Transaction Type]
Not Subordinated [X]
Standard Specified Currency [X]
Standard Specified Currencies and Domestic Currency [X]
Not Sovereign Lender [X]
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[Deliverable] [Selected] Obligations Characteristics [insert Transaction Type]
Not Domestic Currency [X]
Not Domestic Law [X]
Listed [X]
Not Domestic Issuance [X]
Not Contingent [X]
Assignable Loan [X]
Consent Required Loan [X]
Transferable [X]
Maximum Maturity: 30 Years [X]
Not Bearer [X]
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES
AND THE UNCERTIFICATED NOTES

The following, together with the Technical Annex (if applicable), are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to be
issued under English law, including SIS Notes (as defined in Condition 1) and will be incorporated by reference
into each Global Note and each Definitive Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange
or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s) at the time of issue but,
if not so permitted and agreed, such Definitive Note will have endorsed upon or attached thereto such Terms and
Conditions. The following Terms and Conditions, together with the Technical Annex (if applicable), will, if the
context so permits, apply to Uncertificated Notes. The applicable Final Terms in relation to any Tranche of Notes
may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with
the following Terms and Conditions, replace or modify the following Terms and Conditions for the purpose of
such Notes (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Uncertificated Notes). The applicable Final Terms (or the
relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed on, attached to or incorporated by reference in, each Temporary
Global Note, Permanent Global Note and Definitive Note and shall be deemed to apply to Uncertificated Notes.
Reference should be made to the section headed "Form of the Notes" above for a description of the content of
Final Terms which will specify which of such terms is to apply in relation to the relevant Notes.

This Note is one of a Series (as defined below) of Notes issued with the benefit of the Agency Agreement
(defined below). References herein to the Issuer shall be references to SG Issuer and, in the case of any
substitution of the Issuer in accordance with Condition 13, the Substituted Debtor as defined in Condition 13.
References herein to the Notes shall be references to the Notes of this Series and shall mean:

(a) in relation to any Notes in bearer form (Bearer Notes). Each Tranche of Bearer Notes shall be
a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note or, in case of Bearer SIS Notes (as
defined below), a Permanent Global SIS Note, each as defined below;

(b) in relation to any Notes (other than Uncertificated Notes) in registered form (Registered
Notes);
(c) in relation to any Notes in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form (Uncertificated

Notes). Uncertificated Notes shall include Uncertificated SIS Notes and EUI Notes, each as
defined below;

(d) in relation to any Note(s) represented by a Global Note (as defined below), units of each
specified denomination (the Specified Denomination) in the specified currency of issue
(the Specified Currency);

(e) any global Note in bearer or registered form (Bearer Global Notes and Registered Global
Notes, respectively, and each a Global Note). A Registered Global Note shall be, as the case
may be, a Regulation S Global Note or Non-US Registered Global Note, a Rule 144A Global
Note or a Combined Global Note, each as defined in Condition 2;

(f) any Bearer Global Note issued as a new Global Note (New Global Note(s) or NGNs);
(9) any Registered Global Note issued under the new safekeeping structure (the NSS);
(h) definitive Temporary Global Notes or Permanent Global Notes (Definitive Bearer Notes)

issued in exchange for a Global Note;

0] definitive Bearer SIS Notes (Definitive Bearer SIS Notes) issued in exchange for a Permanent
Global SIS Note; and
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0] any definitive Notes in registered form (Definitive Registered Notes) whether or not such
Definitive Registered Note is issued in exchange for a Registered Global Note and, together,
with the Definitive Bearer Notes and Definitive Bearer SIS Notes, the Definitive Notes,

and any reference to Notes shall, when the context otherwise requires, include any Global Note(s)
representing such Notes.

In these Terms and Conditions, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

Permanent Global Note shall mean a Global Note representing Bearer Notes of one or more Tranches, either
on issue or upon exchange of a Temporary Global Note, or part of it, and which shall be substantially in the form
set out in Schedule 2 (Forms of Global and Definitive Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons) Part 2 (Form
of Permanent Bearer Global Note) of the Agency Agreement;

Temporary Global Note shall mean a Global Note representing Bearer Notes of one or more Tranches on issue
and which shall be substantially in the form set out in Schedule 2 (Forms of Global and Definitive Bearer Notes,
Receipts, Coupons and Talons) Part 1 (Form of Temporary Bearer Global Note) of the Agency Agreement.

The Notes, the Receipts (as defined below) and the Coupons (as defined below) have the benefit of an agency
agreement dated 26 June 2012 (the Agency Agreement, which expression includes the same as it may be
modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time) and made between, inter alios, the Issuer, the
Guarantor (as defined below), Société Générale Bank & Trust as fiscal agent and, if so specified in the applicable
Final Terms, as calculation agent (the Fiscal Agent and the Calculation Agent respectively, which expressions
shall include, in each case, any additional or successor agent or any other calculation agent appointed from time
to time and specified in the applicable Final Terms), Société Générale Bank & Trust as registrar, transfer agent
and exchange agent (the Registrar, the Transfer Agent and the Exchange Agent, respectively, which
expressions shall include, in each case, any additional or successor registrar or any other transfer agent or
exchange agent appointed from time to time)) and the other paying agents named therein (such paying agents,
together with the Fiscal Agent and the Registrar, the Paying Agents, which expression shall include any
additional or successor paying agents appointed from time to time). The Paying Agents, the Transfer Agent, the
Exchange Agent and, unless the context otherwise requires, the Settlement Agent (as defined in Condition 11)
and the Calculation Agent shall be referred to collectively hereunder as the Agents.

In connection with Uncertificated Notes, unless the context otherwise requires and except insofar as the terms
defined in the Agency Agreement are incorporated by reference herein, any reference herein to the Agency
Agreement will be construed, mutatis mutandis, as a reference to the agency agreement(s) entered into with
respect to such Uncertificated Notes (and references herein to the Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agent(s) or the
Calculation Agent shall be construed accordingly).

Any issue of EUI Notes (as defined below) will have the benefit of an EUI agency agreement (the EUlI Agency
Agreement, which expression shall be construed as a reference to any such agreement as the same may be
amended, supplemented or restated from time to time) between the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent and the
agent, which shall be appointed in the relevant Final Terms in respect of EUI Notes (the EUI Agent).

Any issue of SIS Notes (as defined below) will have the benefit of a Swiss paying agency agreement (the Swiss
Paying Agency Agreement, which expression shall be construed as a reference to any such agreement as the
same may be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time) between the Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Paying Agents (except the Registrar), the principal Swiss paying agent and the other Swiss paying agents (if any)
(the Principal Swiss Paying Agent and the Swiss Paying Agents, respectively). The form of the Swiss Paying
Agency Agreement is scheduled to the Agency Agreement.

Interest bearing Definitive Bearer Notes (unless otherwise indicated in the applicable Final Terms) have interest
coupons (Coupons) and, if indicated in the applicable Final Terms, talons for further Coupons (Talons) attached
on issue. Any reference herein to "Coupons" or "coupons" shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be
deemed to include a reference to "Talons" or "talons". Definitive Bearer Notes repayable in instalments have
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receipts (Receipts) for the payment of the instalments of principal (other than the final instalment) attached on
issue. Global Notes do not have Receipts, Coupons or Talons attached on issue.

Any reference herein to Noteholders or Holders of the Notes shall mean the several persons who are for the
time being the bearers of Bearer Notes and the registered holders of Registered Notes save that, in respect of
the Notes of any Series, (a) for so long as the Notes or any part of them are represented by a Global Note held
on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the
holder of a particular nominal amount of the Notes of the Series (in which regard any certificate or other
document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of the Notes standing to
the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error)
shall be deemed to be the holder of that nominal amount of Notes (and the bearer or registered holder of the
relevant Global Note shall be deemed not to be the holder) for all purposes other than with respect to the
payment of principal or interest on the Notes, for which purpose the bearer or registered holder of the relevant
Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor, and any Agent as the holder of the Notes in
accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and (b) so long as the Depository Trust
Company (DTC) or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Registered Global Note, DTC or its
nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Notes represented by such
Registered Global Note for all purposes under the Agency Agreement and the Notes except to the extent that in
accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be exercised by its participants
or beneficial owners through participants and, in each case, the expressions Noteholder, holder of Notes and
related expressions shall be construed accordingly. Special rules apply to Noteholders of SIS Notes.

Any reference herein to Receiptholders shall mean the holders of the Receipts, and any reference herein to
Couponholders shall mean the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include
the holders of the Talons.

The Issuer may issue Uncertificated Notes. The holder of an Uncertificated Note (other than an Uncertificated
SIS Note) will be the persons appearing in the relevant registers in accordance with the legislation, rules and
regulations applicable to, and/or issued by, the relevant securities depositary and clearing institution and the term
"Noteholder" shall be construed accordingly. Uncertificated Notes will only be transferable in accordance with
such legislation, rules and regulations.

Any reference herein to the holder of Notes in the form of Bearer SIS Notes or Uncertificated SIS Notes and
related expressions shall be construed as provided below.

Any references in these Terms and Conditions to "Coupons", "Talons" or "Receipts" shall not apply to
Uncertificated Notes or to Registered Notes.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (each as defined below) shall, whenever the
context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in
the applicable Final Terms (including, without limitation, Euroclear France and the Intermédiaires financiers
habilités authorised to maintain accounts therein (together Euroclear France), in relation to SIS Notes, SIX SIS
Ltd, the Swiss securities services corporation (SIS) or any other clearing institution acceptable to the SIX Swiss
Exchange Ltd (the SIX Swiss Exchange) and, in relation to Uncertificated Notes (other than Uncertificated SIS
Notes), the relevant securities depositary and clearing institution, and, in relation to Registered Notes
represented by a Rule 144A Global Note or Registered Notes represented by a Regulation S Global Note, DTC,
approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Fiscal Agent, the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes only),
Euroclear UK and Ireland (EUl) and, in the case of Notes listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

The final terms for this Note (or other relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final Terms that are
endorsed on, attached to, incorporated by reference in or, in the case of Uncertificated Notes, prepared in
connection with, this Note and which supplement these terms and conditions (the Terms and Conditions or the
Conditions). If this is an Uncertificated Note, the applicable Final Terms shall be deemed to apply to this Note.

The applicable Final Terms (or other relevant provisions thereof) supplement these Terms and Conditions and
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may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with
these Terms and Conditions, replace or modify these Terms and Conditions for the purposes of this Note
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Uncertificated Note). References herein to the applicable Final
Terms are to Part A of the Final Terms (or other relevant provisions thereof) and, if applicable, any schedules to
the Final Terms, which Final Terms are endorsed on, attached to, incorporated by reference in, or, in the case of
Uncertificated Notes, prepared in connection with and deemed applicable to, this Note.

As used herein, Tranche means Notes which are identical in all respects and Series means a Tranche of Notes
together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Notes which are (a) expressed to be consolidated and form a
single series and (b) identical in all respects except for their respective Issue Dates, Interest Commencement
Dates and/or Issue Prices.

Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Swiss Paying Agency Agreement (where applicable), the EUI Agency
Agreement (where applicable), the Guarantee, a deed poll made by the Issuer and the Guarantor (the Deed Poll)
and the Deed of Covenant (defined below) are available for inspection during normal business hours from the
head office of the Issuer and, if applicable, the Guarantor and from the specified office of each of the Paying
Agents. Copies of the applicable Final Terms are available for viewing at www.bourse.lu and copies may be
obtained from the head office of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents
save that, if this Note is a Private Placement Note (as defined below), the applicable Final Terms will only be
obtainable by a Noteholder holding one or more such Notes and such Noteholder must produce evidence
satisfactory to the Issuer, and, if applicable, the Guarantor or, as the case may be, the relevant Paying Agent as
to its holding of such Notes and identity. The Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders are
deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement, the
Swiss Paying Agency Agreement (where applicable), the EUlI Agency Agreement (where applicable), the
Portfolio Management Deed (where applicable), the Guarantee (where applicable), the Deed Poll (where
applicable), the Deed of Covenant and the applicable Final Terms. The statements in the Conditions include
summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Agency Agreement and, if applicable, the Swiss
Paying Agency Agreement and the EUI Agency Agreement. In this paragraph, Private Placement Note means
any Note that is not (i) offered to the public in the EEA for the purposes of article 3.1 of Directive 2003/71/EC (as
amended by Directive 2010/73/EU (the 2010 PD Amending Directive)) (the Prospectus Directive) (except as
specified under article 3.2 of the Prospectus Directive) or (ii) admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in the
EEA for the purposes of article 3.3 of the Prospectus Directive.

Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final Terms shall have the
same meanings where used in these Terms and Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless
otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of any inconsistency between the Agency Agreement and the
applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms will prevail.

In relation to Notes held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, the Noteholders, the
Receiptholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of the deed of covenant (the Deed of
Covenant) made by the Issuer. The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by the common depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

In these Terms and Conditions, the Guarantor shall mean Société Générale in its capacity as guarantor pursuant
to the Guarantee (as defined in Condition 3(b)).

1. FORM, DENOMINATION, REDENOMINATION AND TITLE

The Notes, except for Uncertificated Notes and Registered Notes, are Bearer Notes, and, in the case of Definitive
Bearer Notes, serially numbered, in the Specified Currency and the Specified Denomination(s) specified in the
applicable Final Terms. Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Notes of another
Specified Denomination.

Uncertificated Notes are in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form. No global or definitive Notes will be
issued in respect of Uncertificated Notes and these Terms and Conditions shall be construed accordingly.

Uncertificated Notes will be transferable only in accordance with the legislation, rules and regulations applicable
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to, and/or issued by, the relevant central securities depositary and clearing institution; provided that Uncertificated
Notes, or any interest therein, may not at any time be transferred to a transferee in the United States or a U.S.
Person. Title to Uncertificated Notes (other than Uncertificated SIS Notes) will pass by registration in the register
that the Issuer will procure to be kept by a central securities depositary and clearing institution on behalf of the
Issuer. Where a nominee is so evidenced it shall be treated as the holder of the relevant Uncertificated Notes.

A SIS Note is either a Bearer Note (a Bearer SIS Note) or an Uncertificated Note (an Uncertificated SIS Note)
which is, or is intended to be, deposited or registered with and cleared through SIS. SIS Notes may be
denominated in Swiss Francs or other currencies approved by SIS. The applicable Final Terms will indicate
whether SIS Notes are CHF SIS Notes, Other SIS Notes (each as defined below) or Uncertificated SIS Notes.

Bearer SIS Notes are represented by a Permanent Global SIS Note without Coupons that will be deposited by
the Principal Swiss Paying Agent with SIS or any other intermediary in Switzerland recognised for such purposes
by the SIX Swiss Exchange (SIS or any such intermediary, the Intermediary) on or prior to the original issue
date of the Tranche. Once the Permanent Global SIS Note representing the Bearer SIS Notes has been
deposited with the Intermediary and entered into the accounts of one or more participants of the Intermediary,
such Bearer SIS Notes will constitute intermediated securities (Bucheffekten) within the meaning of the Swiss
Federal Intermediated Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz) (Intermediated Securities). Bearer SIS Notes
denominated in Swiss Francs benefit from a limited exception to the certification in bearer form requirement of
the TEFRA D Rules, if such Bearer SIS Notes fulfil the relevant requirements set out below. Bearer SIS Notes
denominated in Swiss Francs which fulfil these requirements are hereinafter referred to as CHF SIS Notes.
Bearer SIS Notes denominated in Swiss Francs that do not fulfil these requirements and Bearer SIS Notes
denominated in a currency approved by SIS other than Swiss Francs are hereinafter referred to as Other SIS
Notes.

The following criteria must be fulfilled in order for the limited exception to the certification requirement of the
TEFRA D Rules to apply:

(a) the interest on, and the principal of, the CHF SIS Notes are denominated only in Swiss Francs;

(b) the interest on, and the principal of, the CHF SIS Notes are payable only in Switzerland;

(c) the CHF SIS Notes are offered and sold in accordance with Swiss customary practice and
documentation;

(d) the relevant Dealers agree to use reasonable efforts to sell the CHF SIS Notes within Switzerland;

(e) the CHF SIS Notes are not listed, or subject to an application for listing, on an exchange located
outside Switzerland;

() the issuance of the CHF SIS Notes is subject to guidelines or restrictions imposed by Swiss
governmental, banking or securities authorities; and

(9) more than 80 per cent. by value of the CHF SIS Notes included in the offering of which they are part are

offered and sold to non-Dealers by Dealers maintaining an office located in Switzerland.

Uncertificated SIS Notes will be entered into the main register (Hauptregister) of the Intermediary on or prior to
their issue date. Once the Uncertificated SIS Notes are registered in the main register (Hauptregister) of the
Intermediary, such Uncertificated SIS Notes will constitute Intermediated Securities.

In the case of SIS Notes, no printing of definitive Notes, Receipts or Coupons will occur (except as provided
herein with respect to Bearer SIS Notes only). No Holder of Bearer SIS Notes shall at any time have the right to
effect or demand the conversion of the Permanent Global SIS Note representing such Bearer SIS Notes into, or
the delivery of, Bearer SIS Notes in definitive form (Definitive Bearer SIS Notes) or uncertificated form. If (i) the
relevant lead manager (in the case of any Bearer SIS Notes that are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange) or the
Principal Swiss Paying Agent (in the case of any Bearer SIS Notes not listed as aforesaid) deems the printing of
definitive Notes, Receipts or Coupons to be necessary or useful, or (ii) the presentation of definitive Notes,
Receipts or Coupons is required by Swiss or foreign laws in connection with the enforcement of rights (including
in cases of bankruptcy, consolidation or reorganisation of the Issuer) (each such circumstance, in respect of
Bearer SIS Notes, a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange Event), the relevant lead manager (in the case of any Bearer
SIS Notes which are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange) or the Principal Swiss Paying Agent (in the case of any

Bearer SIS Notes not listed as aforesaid) will provide for the printing of such definitive Notes, Receipts and
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Coupons at the expense of the Issuer and without cost to the relevant Noteholders. The Issuer irrevocably
authorises the relevant lead manager (in the case of any Bearer SIS Notes that are listed on the SIX Swiss
Exchange) or the Principal Swiss Paying Agent (in the case of any Bearer SIS Notes that are not listed as
aforesaid) to provide for such printing on its behalf. If Definitive Bearer SIS Notes are delivered, the relevant
Permanent Global SIS Note will immediately be cancelled by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent or the relevant
lead manager, as the case may be, and the Definitive Bearer SIS Notes shall be delivered to the relevant holders
against cancellation of the relevant Bearer SIS Notes in such holders' securities accounts.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Index Linked Note, a
Fixed/Floating Rate Note, a Physical Delivery Note, a Dual Currency Note or a Partly Paid Note or a combination
of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest/Payment/Redemption Basis shown in the applicable Final
Terms, or such other type of Note as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Any reference herein to Physical Delivery Notes shall mean any Series of Notes specified as such in the
applicable Final Terms, which Notes are linked to the Underlying Asset(s) described in the applicable Final
Terms.

Definitive Bearer Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes in which case
references to Coupons and Couponholders in these Terms and Conditions are not applicable.

Subject as set out below, title to Bearer Notes, Receipts and Coupons will pass by delivery. Subject as set out
below, the Issuer, the Guarantor and any Paying Agent will (except as otherwise required by law) deem and treat
the bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt or Coupon as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and
notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all
purposes but, in the case of any Global Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next succeeding
paragraph.

For so long as any of the Bearer Notes (other than SIS Notes) or the Registered Notes is represented by a
Global Note held on behalf of, or in the case of Registered Notes, by a Common Depositary or in the case of New
Global Notes and Registered Global Notes held under the NSS, a Common Safekeeper, on behalf of, Euroclear
Bank S.A./N.V. (Euroclear) and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (Clearstream, Luxembourg), each
person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which
regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal
amount of Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in
the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor and any Paying Agent as the holder of
such nominal amount of the Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest
on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note or, as
applicable, the registered holder of the relevant Registered Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer, the
Guarantor and any Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and
subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note (and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and
related expressions shall be construed accordingly). In the case of Bearer SIS Notes, each holder thereof shall
have a quotal co-ownership interest (Miteigentumsanteil) in the Permanent Global SIS Note representing such
Bearer SIS Notes to the extent of his claim against the Issuer, provided that, for so long as the Permanent Global
SIS Note remains deposited with the Intermediary, the co-ownership interest shall be suspended and the Bearer
SIS Notes may only be transferred by the entry of the transferred Bearer SIS Notes in a securities account of the
transferee. Uncertificated SIS Notes may also only be transferred by the entry of the transferred Uncertificated
SIS Notes in a securities account of the transferee. The records of the Intermediary will determine the number of
SIS Notes held through each participant of the Intermediary. In respect of SIS Notes held in the form of
Intermediated Securities (Bucheffekten), the holders of such Bearer SIS Notes will be the persons holding such
Bearer SIS Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in their name, or, in the case of intermediaries
(Verwahrungsstellen), the intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen) holding such SIS Notes for their own account in a
securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in their name (and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes"
and related expressions shall be construed accordingly).
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For so long as The Depository Trust Company (DTC) or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Rule
144A Global Note or a Regulation S Global Note, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered
the sole owner or holder of the Notes represented by such Rule 144A Global Note or Regulation S Global Note
for all purposes under the Agency Agreement and the Notes except to the extent that in accordance with DTC's
published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be exercised by its participants or beneficial owners
through participants (and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be
construed accordingly).

Notes which are represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC will
be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be. References to DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg
and/or SIS shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or
alternative clearing system specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The Notes may also be held in registered uncertificated form (such Notes the EUI Notes) in accordance with the
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, including any modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being
in force (the Regulations). The EUI Notes are participating securities for the purposes of the Regulations. Title to
the EUI Notes is recorded on the relevant Operator register of corporate securities. The EUI Agent on behalf of
the Issuer shall, in relation to the EUI Notes, maintain a record of uncertificated corporate securities in
accordance with the records of Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (EUI) (formerly known as CRESTCo Limited) (the
Record) and shall procure that the Record is regularly updated to reflect the Operator register of corporate
securities in accordance with the rules and practices from time to time of the Operator. Subject to this
requirement, (i) each person who is for the time being shown in the Record as the holder of a particular number
of EUI Notes shall be treated by the Issuer and the EUI Agent as the holder of such number of EUI Notes for all
purposes (and the expression EUl Holder and related expressions shall be construed accordingly), and (ii)
neither the Issuer, the Guarantor nor the EUI Agent shall be liable in respect of any act or thing done or omitted
to be done by it or on its behalf in reliance upon the assumption that the particulars entered in the Record which
the EUIl Agent maintains are in accordance with particulars entered in the Operator register of corporate
securities relating to the EUI Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of any differences in information
contained in the Record and the register of EUI Notes in registered form kept at the Issuer's registered office, the
register kept at the Issuer's registered office shall prevail for Luxembourg law purposes.

No provisions of these Conditions amended in accordance with any applicable Final Terms shall (notwithstanding
anything contained therein) apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any respect inconsistent with (i) the
holding of title to EUI Notes (ii) the transfer of title to EUl Notes by means of a relevant system or (iii) the
Regulations. Without prejudice to the generality of the preceding sentence and notwithstanding anything
contained in these Conditions or the applicable Final Terms, so long as the EUI Notes are participating securities,
(a) any EUI Notes which are not for the time being in all respects identical to, or do not for the time being have
rights attached thereto identical in all respects to those attached to, other EUI Notes of the same Series shall be
deemed to constitute a separate Series of EUI Notes, (b) the Operator register of corporate securities relating to
the EUI Notes shall be maintained at all times in the United Kingdom, (c) the EUl Notes may be issued in
uncertificated form in accordance with and subject as provided in the Regulations; and (d) for the avoidance of
doubt, these Conditions and the applicable Final Terms in relation to any EUI Notes shall remain applicable
notwithstanding that they are not endorsed on any certificate for such EUI Notes.

As used herein each of "Operator register of corporate securities", "participating securities", "record of
uncertificated corporate securities" and "relevant system" is as defined in the Regulations and the relevant
"Operator" (as such term is used in the Regulations) is EUI (formerly CRESTCo. Limited) or any additional or
alternative operator from time to time approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the EUI Agent in relation to the
EUI Notes and in accordance with the Regulations. Any reference herein to the Operator shall, whenever the
context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any such additional or alternative Operator from time to
time and notified to the EUI Holders.

Any indication herein that the Operator "shall" do, or similar expression or phrase indicating that they are obliged
to or will carry out any role or obligation described in these Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms, as the
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case may be, is given without any assumption by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the EUI Agent or the Calculation
Agent, of responsibility or liability for the performance of the Operator.

References in these Conditions to "EUI Notes" shall include, where the context admits, Depository Interests (as
defined in the CREST Deed Poll) representing Notes, issued by CREST Depository Limited subject to and in
accordance with the Global Deed Poll.

References to the CREST Deed Poll are to the global deed poll dated 25 June 2001, as subsequently modified,
supplemented and/or restated.

The Issuer may (if so specified in the applicable Final Terms), on any Interest Payment Date as specified in the
applicable Final Terms, without the consent of the Noteholders, by giving at least 30 days' notice in accordance
with Condition 14, and on or after the date on which the European Member State in whose national currency the
Notes are denominated has become a participating Member State in the third stage of the European Economic
and Monetary Union (as provided in the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (the EU), as amended
from time to time (the Treaty)) or events have occurred which have substantially the same effects (in either case,
EMU), redenominate all, but not some only, of the Notes of any series into Euro and adjust the aggregate
principal amount and the Denomination(s) set out hereon accordingly, as described below. The date on which
such redenomination becomes effective shall be referred to in these Terms and Conditions as the
Redenomination Date.

The redenomination of the Notes pursuant to the above paragraph shall be made by converting the principal
amount of each Note from the relevant national currency into Euro using the fixed relevant national currency Euro
conversion rate established by the Council of the European Union pursuant to Article 140 of the Treaty and
rounding the resultant figure to the nearest 0.01 Euro (with 0.005 Euro being rounded upwards), provided that, if
the Issuer determines, with the agreement of the Fiscal Agent that the then market practice in respect of the
redenomination in euro of internationally offered securities is different from the provisions specified above, such
provisions shall be deemed to be amended so as to comply with such market practice and the Issuer shall
promptly notify the Noteholders, the stock exchange (if any) on which the Notes may be listed and the Paying
Agents of such deemed amendments.

If the Issuer so elects, the figure resulting from conversion of the principal amount of each Note using the fixed
relevant national currency Euro conversion rate shall be rounded down to the nearest Euro. The Euro
denominations of the Notes so determined shall be notified to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14. Any
balance remaining from the redenomination with a denomination higher than 0.01 Euro shall be paid by way of
cash adjustment rounded to the nearest 0.01 Euro (with 0.005 Euro being rounded upwards). Such cash
adjustment will be payable in Euros on the Redenomination Date in the manner notified to Noteholders by the
Issuer.

Upon redenomination of the Notes, any reference hereon to the relevant national currency shall be construed as
a reference to Euro.

Unless otherwise specified herein, the Issuer may, with prior approval of the Fiscal Agent, in connection with any
redenomination pursuant to this Condition or any consolidation pursuant to Condition 16, without the consent of
the Noteholders, make any changes or additions to these Conditions which it reasonably believes to be
necessary or desirable to give effect to the provisions of this Condition or Condition 16 (including, without
limitation, any change to any applicable business day definition, business day convention, principal financial
centre of the country of the Specified Currency, interest accrual basis or benchmark), taking into account market
practice in respect of redenominated euromarket debt obligations and which it believes are not prejudicial to the
interests of the Noteholders. Any such changes or additions shall, in the absence of manifest error, be binding on
the holders of Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons and shall be notified to Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 14 as soon as practicable thereafter.

Neither the Issuer nor any Paying Agent shall be liable to any Noteholder or other person for any commissions,
costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from the credit or transfer of Euro or any currency conversion

or rounding effected in connection therewith.
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2,

TRANSFERS OF REGISTERED NOTES
(a) Transfers of interests in Registered Global Notes

Transfers of beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be effected by DTC, Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, and, in turn, by other participants and, if appropriate,
indirect participants in such clearing systems acting on behalf of beneficial transferors and transferees of
such interests. A beneficial interest in a Registered Global Note will, subject to compliance with all
applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, be exchangeable for Definitive Registered Notes or for a
beneficial interest in another Registered Global Note only in the Specified Denominations set out in the
applicable Final Terms and only in accordance with the rules and operating procedures for the time being
of DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, and in accordance with the terms
and conditions specified in the Agency Agreement. Transfers of a Registered Global Note registered in
the name of a nominee for DTC shall be limited to transfers of such Registered Global Note, in whole but
not in part, to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or such successor's nominee.

(b) Transfers of Definitive Registered Notes

Subject as provided in paragraphs (e), (f) and (g) below, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in the Agency Agreement, a Definitive Registered Note may be transferred in whole or in part (in the
Specified Denominations set out in the applicable Final Terms). In order to effect any such transfer (i) the
holder or holders must (A) surrender the Definitive Registered Note for registration of the transfer of the
Definitive Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Definitive Registered Note) at the specified office of
the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, with the form of transfer thereon duly executed by the holder or
holders thereof or his or their attorney or attorneys duly authorised in writing and (B) complete and
deposit such other certifications as may be required by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant
Transfer Agent and (ii) the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent must, after due
and careful enquiry, be satisfied with the documents of title and the identity of the person making the
request. Any such transfer will be subject to such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and the Registrar
may from time to time prescribe (the initial regulations being set out in Schedule 11 to the Agency
Agreement). Subject as provided above, the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer
Agent will, within three business days (being for this purpose a day on which banks are open for
business in the city where the specified office of the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant
Transfer Agent is located) of the request (or such longer period as may be required to comply with any
applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations), authenticate and, in the case of Registered Global Notes,
effectuate, and deliver, or procure the authentication and delivery of, at its specified office to the
transferee or (at the risk of the transferee) send by uninsured mail, to such address as the transferee
may request, a new Definitive Registered Note of a like aggregate nominal amount to the Definitive
Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Definitive Registered Note) transferred. In the case of the
transfer of part only of a Definitive Registered Note, a new Definitive Registered Note or Registered
Global Note in respect of the balance of the Definitive Registered Note not transferred will be so
authenticated and, in the case of Registered Global Notes issued under the NSS, delivered or (at the risk
of the transferor) sent to the transferor.

(c) Registration of transfer upon partial redemption

In the event of a partial redemption of Notes under Condition 6, the Issuer shall not be required to
register the transfer of any Registered Note, or part of a Registered Note, called for partial redemption.

(d) Costs of registration

Noteholders will not be required to bear the costs and expenses of effecting any registration of transfer
as provided above, except for any costs or expenses of delivery other than by regular uninsured mail and
except that the Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp duty, tax or other
governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to the registration.
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(e) Transfers of interests in Regulation S Global Notes and in Non-U.S. Registered Global Notes

Transfers by the holder of, or of a beneficial interest in, a Regulation S Global Note to a transferee in the
United States or who is a U.S. Person will only be made upon receipt by the Registrar of a written
certification substantially in the form set out in the Agency Agreement, amended as appropriate (a
Transfer Certificate), copies of which are available from the specified office of the Registrar or any
Transfer Agent, from the transferor of the Note or beneficial interest therein to the effect that such
transfer is being made to a person that is a QP whom the transferor reasonably believes is also a QIB in
a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any applicable securities
laws of any State of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

Such transferee may take delivery through a Legended Note in global or definitive form.

Transfers of a Non-U.S. Registered Global Note or a beneficial interest therein may not at any time be
made to a transferee in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. Person and any
offer, sale, resale, trade, pledge, redemption, transfer or delivery made, directly or indirectly, within the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. Person will not be recognised.

(f) Transfers of interests in Legended Notes
Transfers of Legended Notes or beneficial interests therein may be made:

0] to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Regulation S Global
Note, upon receipt by the Registrar of a duly completed Transfer Certificate from the
transferor to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation
S and that in the case of a Regulation S Global Note registered in the name of a
nominee for DTC, the interests in the Notes being transferred will be held immediately
thereafter through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg; or

(i) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Legended Note where
the transferee is a person that is a QP whom the transferor reasonably believes is
also a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A, without
certification; or

(iii) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through Notes represented by a
Combined Global Note, from a holder of Notes represented by that Combined Global
Note:

(A) prior to the expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period only, upon receipt by
the Registrar of a duly completed Transfer Certificate from the transferor to
the effect that such transfer is being made either (x) to a person that is a QP
whom the transferor reasonably believes is also a QIB in a transaction
meeting the requirements of Rule 144A or (y) to a non-U.S. person in an
offshore transaction pursuant to Regulation S; and

(B) after the expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period, either (x) to a person
that is a QP whom the transferor reasonably believes is also a QIB in a
transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A or (y) to a non-U.S.
person in an offshore transaction pursuant to Regulation S but, in either
case, without certification;

(iv) otherwise pursuant to the Securities Act or an exemption therefrom, subject to receipt
by the Issuer of such satisfactory evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require,
which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that such transfer is in compliance with
the Securities Act, the Investment Company Act and any applicable securities laws of
any State of the United States,
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and, in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United
States or any other jurisdiction. Additional certifications may be required as set out in the
applicable Final Terms.

Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of Legended Notes, or upon specific request for
removal of the Legend, the Registrar shall deliver only Legended Notes or refuse to remove the
Legend, as the case may be, unless there is delivered to the Issuer such satisfactory evidence
as may reasonably be required by the Issuer, which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel,
that neither the Legend nor the restrictions on transfer set forth therein are required to ensure
compliance with the provisions of the Investment Company Act and the Securities Act.

(9) Exchanges and transfers of Registered Notes generally

Holders of Definitive Registered Notes may exchange such Notes for interests in a Registered Global
Note of the same type at any time.

(h) Issuer's Register

For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any provision to the contrary included in these Conditions, in
the event of discrepancies between the information contained in any register maintained in connection
with any Notes governed by the Conditions and the information contained in the register of Notes in
registered form kept at the Issuer's registered office (hereinafter the Issuer Register), the Issuer
Register shall prevail for Luxembourg law purposes. Under Luxembourg law, ownership in respect of
Notes in registered form is established exclusively by the relevant registration (inscription) in the Issuer
Register. Certificates representing Notes in registered form may be issued but they are not a proof of
ownership.

(i) Definitions
In this Condition, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

Combined Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Notes eligible for sale in the
United States to QIBs that are also QPs pursuant to Rule 144A and to non-U.S. persons outside the
United States in reliance on Regulation S. Combined Global Notes may not be cleared or settled through
DTC;

Distribution Compliance Period means the period that ends 40 days after the completion of the
distribution of the relevant Notes as determined by the relevant lead manager;

Investment Company Act means the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended;

Legended Note means Registered Notes (whether in definitive form or represented by a Registered
Global Note) sold in private transactions to persons that are both QIBs and QPs in accordance with the
requirements of Rule 144A;

Non-U.S. Registered Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Non-U.S. Registered
Notes;

Non-U.S. Registered Notes means Registered Notes sold exclusively outside the United States in
reliance on Regulation S and permanently restricted from sale, transfer or delivery in the United States or
to a U.S. person;

QIB means a "qualified institutional buyer" within the meaning of Rule 144A,;

QP means a "qualified purchaser" as defined in Section 2(a)(51) of the Investment Company Act and the
rules thereunder;
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Regulation S means Regulation S under the Securities Act;

Regulation S Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Notes sold outside the United
States in reliance on Regulation S other than Non-U.S. Registered Notes;

Rule 144A means Rule 144A under the Securities Act;

Rule 144A Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Notes sold in the United States
or to QIBs that are also QPs;

Securities Act means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended; and
U.S. Person means a "U.S. person" as defined in Regulation S.
() EUI Notes

All transactions in respect of EUl Notes (including transfers thereof) in the open market or otherwise
must be effected through an account at the Operator subject to and in accordance with the rules and
procedures for the time being of the Operator. Title will pass upon registration of the transfer in the
Operator register of corporate securities.

STATUS OF THE NOTES AND GUARANTEE
(a) Status of the Notes

Unsecured Notes will be direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer
and will rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and (subject to such exceptions as
from time to time exist under applicable law) at least pari passu with all other outstanding direct,
unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future.

Secured Notes will be direct, unconditional, secured, limited recourse and unsubordinated obligations of
the Issuer and will rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and (subject to such
exceptions as from time to time exist under applicable law) at least pari passu with all other outstanding
direct, unconditional, secured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future.

(b) Guarantee

The due and punctual payment of any amounts due by the Issuer in respect of any Series of Notes is
unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Guarantor as provided in the deed of guarantee dated
26 June 2012 (the Guarantee); provided that (i) the Guarantee shall not apply to any Series of Notes
issued on or after the date of the Guarantee to the extent that, at the Issue Date of such Series of Notes,
the sum of (A) the Aggregate Nominal Amount of such Series of Notes, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms (the Aggregate Nominal Amount) and (B) the sum of the Aggregate Nominal Amounts of
each Series of Notes outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement) on such Issue Date, in each
case, converted into euro at the relevant spot rate of exchange on such Issue Date, is equal to an
amount which exceeds €5,000,000,000 (the Guarantee Limit) and (ii) in the case of any Physical
Delivery Notes in respect of which the relevant guaranteed obligation of the Issuer is an obligation to
transfer the Underlying Asset(s) in respect of a Physical Delivery Amount (as specified in the applicable
Final Terms, a Physical Delivery Amount), the Guarantor shall, in lieu of such transfer, be obliged to
pay a cash amount in the relevant Specified Currency equal to the fair market value (as determined by
the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion, but in a commercially reasonable manner, on or about the
due date for transfer of the relevant Underlying Asset(s) in respect of the Physical Delivery Amount) of
the Underlying Asset(s) in respect of the Physical Delivery Amount. For the purposes of this Condition 3,
all references to "this Guarantee" and related expressions shall be to the Guarantee and to the French
language version of the Guarantee in respect of Series of Notes for which the French language is the
binding language (the French Guarantee) and in respect of which the nominal amount of the guaranteed
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4.

Notes under the French Guarantee shall, when added (i) to the nominal amount of the guaranteed Notes
under the Guarantee and (ii) to the Aggregate Nominal Amount of each Series of Notes outstanding, not
exceed the Guarantee Limit.

The Guarantee constitutes a direct, unconditional, unsecured and general obligation of the Guarantor
and ranks and will rank pari passu with all other existing and future direct, unconditional, unsecured and
general obligations of the Guarantor, including those in respect of deposits, but excluding any debts for
the time being preferred by law and senior to any subordinated obligations.

INTEREST

(@)

Interest on Fixed Rate Notes
(1) Unadjusted Fixed Rate Notes

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, each Unadjusted Fixed Rate Note
bears interest from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per annum equal to the
Rate(s) of Interest. Interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each
year up to (and including) the Maturity Date.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, if the Notes are Definitive Bearer
Notes, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect of the Interest
Period ending on such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount (the Fixed Coupon
Amount). Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the
applicable Final Terms, amount to the Broken Amount so specified (the Broken Amount).

Except in the case of Notes which are Definitive Bearer Notes where an applicable Fixed
Coupon Amount or Broken Amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms, interest shall be
calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest specified in the applicable
Final Terms (the Rate of Interest) to:

(i) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Uncertificated Notes or Notes represented
by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes of the
relevant Series (or, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up); or

(i) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Definitive Bearer Notes or Definitive
Registered Notes, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding
the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit (defined below) of the relevant Specified Currency,
half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise as specified in the applicable
Final Terms. Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note which is a Definitive
Bearer Note or a Definitive Registered Note is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount
of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the product of the amount
(determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by
which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any
further rounding.

(2) Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes

(i) Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, each Adjusted
Fixed Rate Note bears interest from the Interest Commencement Date
specified in the applicable Final Terms, and such interest will be payable in
respect of each Interest Period and in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s)
in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms; provided that (x) if there
is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an
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Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date
would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the
Business Day Convention specified is:

(A) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment
Date (or other date) shall be postponed to the next day which is a
Business Day; or

(B) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest
Payment Date (or other date) shall be postponed to the next day
which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date (or
other date) shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding
Business Day; or

(©) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment
Date (or other date) shall be brought forward to the immediately
preceding Business Day,

and the expression Interest Payment Date shall be construed accordingly.

(ii) The Fiscal Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the Adjusted Fixed
Rate Interest Amount) payable on the Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes for the
relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

(A) in the case of Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes which are Uncertificated
Notes or Notes represented by a Global Note, the aggregate
outstanding nominal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series (or,
if they are Partly Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up); or

(B) in the case of Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes which are Definitive Bearer
Notes or Definitive Registered Notes, the Calculation Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding
the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such
sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.
Where the Specified Denomination of an Adjusted Fixed Rate Note which is a Definitive Bearer
Note or a Definitive Registered Note is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the Adjusted Fixed
Rate Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note shall be the product of the amount
(determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by
which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any
further rounding.

The Fiscal Agent will cause the Adjusted Fixed Rate Interest Amount for each Interest Period
and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, the Guarantor and any
stock exchange on which the relevant Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes are for the time being listed
and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as possible after
the calculation or determination thereof (provided that, in the case of notification to any stock
exchange, such notice will be given by no later than the first day of the relevant Interest Period
or, if that is impossible due to the date fixed for such determination or calculation, as soon as
practicable on or after such date). Each Adjusted Fixed Rate Interest Amount and Interest
Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative
arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or
shortening of the Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock
exchange on which the relevant Fixed Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14. For the purposes of these Conditions, the
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(b)

expression Luxembourg Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on
which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in Luxembourg.

3) Definitions
(A) A Fixed Rate Note means a Note which bears a fixed rate of interest.

(B) An Unadjusted Fixed Rate Note means a Fixed Rate Note in respect of
which the interest amount and the Interest Payment Date remain, for the
purposes of this Condition 4 (and without prejudice to the provisions of
Condition 5(f) below), unchanged and are calculated as provided in Condition
4(a)(1) above.

(C) An Adjusted Fixed Rate Note means a Fixed Rate Note in respect of which
the interest amount and the Interest Payment Date are subject to
modification in accordance with Condition 4(a)(2) above.

Fixed Rate Notes may provide for a method of calculating interest which does not require any
Day Count Fraction as interest payable on each specified Interest Payment Date is determined
by applying the Rate of Interest to the Specified Denomination as it shall be set out in the
applicable Final Terms and/or Schedule thereto.

Interest on Variable Rate Notes
(i) Interest Payment Dates

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, each Floating Rate Note, Index
Linked Interest Note and other Note in respect of which the relevant interest is not determined
pursuant to a fixed Rate of Interest (together, the Variable Rate Notes) bears interest from the
Interest Commencement Date specified in the applicable Final Terms, and such interest will be
payable in respect of each Interest Period and in arrear on either:

(A) the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final
Terms; or
(B) if no Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final Terms,

each date (each such date, together with each Interest Payment Date
specified in the applicable Final Terms an Interest Payment Date) which
falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Period
in the applicable Final Terms after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in
the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement
Date.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and (x) if
there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest
Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall
on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified
is:

(A) in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with
Condition 4(b)(i)(B) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest
Payment Date (a) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a
Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (ii) below shall
apply mutatis mutandis or (b) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to
the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event (i) such Interest Payment Date shall be
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brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (ii) each
subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the
month in which the Relevant Interest Period ends; or

(B) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date (or
other date) shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or

(C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment
Date (or other date) shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business
Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event
such Interest Payment Date (or other date) shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding Business Day; or

(D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date (or
other date) shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business
Day.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, where the applicable Final Terms specifies that the
relevant Business Day Convention is to be applied on an unadjusted basis, the
Interest Amount payable on any date shall not be affected by the application of such
Business Day Convention.

In this Condition 4, Business Day means (unless otherwise stated in the applicable
Final Terms) a day which is both:

(A) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle
payments and are open for general business (including dealings in foreign
exchange and foreign currency deposits) in each Additional Business
Centre(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(B) either (x) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than
euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle
payments and are open for general business (including dealings in foreign
exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre(s) of
the country of the relevant Specified Currency (which, if the Specified
Currency is Australian dollars, shall be Sydney, if the Specified Currency is
Canadian dollars, shall be Montreal and, if the Specified Currency is
Renminbi, shall be Hong Kong) or (y) in relation to any sum payable in euro,
a day on which the TARGET2 System is open (a TARGET2 Business Day).
In these Terms and Conditions, TARGET2 System means the Trans-
European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET2) System.

Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of the Variable Rate Notes will be
determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms, which may be, without
limitation:

(A) ISDA Determination

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner
in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest
Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable
Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this subparagraph (A), ISDA
Rate for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be
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determined by the Fiscal Agent or other person specified in the applicable Final
Terms, under an interest rate swap transaction if the Fiscal Agent or that other person
were acting as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions (as defined below) and under which:

) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final
Terms;

(2) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final
Terms; and

(3) the relevant Reset Date is either (x) if the applicable Floating Rate

Option is based on the London interbank offered rate (LIBOR), or
on the Euro-zone interbank offered rate (EURIBOR), the first day of
that Interest Period or (y) in any other case, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

For purposes of this subparagraph, Floating Rate, Calculation Agent, Floating Rate
Option, Designated Maturity, Reset Date and Euro-zone have the meanings given
to those terms in the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc. (the ISDA Definitions) and as amended and updated as
at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series.

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in
which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, unless otherwise stated in the
applicable Final Terms, the Minimum Rate of Interest shall be deemed to be zero.

(B) Screen Rate Determination
Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the

manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each
Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

(1) the offered quotation; or

(2) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal
place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered
quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum), for the Reference Rate(s)
which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the relevant screen page
(the Relevant Screen Page) as at the specified time (the Specified Time)
indicated in the applicable Final Terms (which will be 11.00 a.m., London
time, in the case of LIBOR or 11.00 a.m., Brussels time, in the case of
EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms (the Interest Determination Date) in question plus or minus (as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined
by the Fiscal Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available
on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such
highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is
more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be
disregarded by the Fiscal Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic
mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if in the case of (1) above, no
such offered quotation appears or, in the case of (2) above, fewer than three
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such offered quotations appear, in each case as at the Specified Time, the
Fiscal Agent shall request the principal London office of each of the
Reference Banks (as defined below) to provide the Fiscal Agent with its
offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the
Reference Rate at approximately the Specified Time on the Interest
Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks
provide the Fiscal Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for
such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to
the fifth decimal place with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such offered
quotations plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), all as
determined by the Fiscal Agent.

If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference
Banks provides the Fiscal Agent with an offered quotation as provided in the
preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period
shall be the rate per annum which the Fiscal Agent determines as being the
arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with
0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the rates, as communicated to (and at
the request of) the Fiscal Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more
of them, at which such banks were offered, at approximately the Specified
Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified
Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the
Reference Rate by leading banks in the London inter-bank market (if the
Reference Rate is LIBOR), or the Euro-zone inter-bank market (if the
Reference Rate is EURIBOR) plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if
any) or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Fiscal Agent
with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified
Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the
Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the
offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that
which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, at
approximately the Specified Time on the relevant Interest Determination
Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of
the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent suitable for such purpose) informs the Fiscal
Agent it is quoting to leading banks in the London inter-bank market (if the
Reference Rate is LIBOR), or the Euro-zone inter-bank market (if the
Reference Rate is EURIBOR) (or, as the case may be, the quotations of such
bank or banks to the Fiscal Agent) plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin
(if any), provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in
accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of
Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination
Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the
relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest
Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period in place of the
Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

Reference Banks means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the
principal London office of four major banks in the London inter-bank market
and, in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone
office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market, in each case
selected by the Fiscal Agent or as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being other than LIBOR or, as the



Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes

case may be, EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be
determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms.

(C) Other Determination

Where a manner of determination other than ISDA Determination or Screen
Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner
in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each
Interest Period shall be determined in the manner so specified (including, if
so specified, by reference to the Technical Annex to the Terms and
Conditions).

(iii) Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Rate Multiplier

Subject to the provisions of Condition 4(b)(ii)(A), if the applicable Final Terms specifies a
Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in
respect of any such Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of
paragraph (ii) above is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such
Interest Period shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest.

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period,
then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of any such Interest Period determined in
accordance with the provisions of paragraph (ii) above is greater than such Maximum Rate of
Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Maximum Rate of Interest.

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Rate Multiplier for any Interest Period, then, the Rate
of Interest in respect of any such Interest Period shall be multiplied by the relevant Rate
Multiplier, subject always to the Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest as described
above.

If n/N or ny/Ny is specified as the Rate Multiplier in the applicable Final Terms, the following
definitions shall apply, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms:

n means the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period in respect of
which the Benchmark was equal to or greater than the Lower Limit and equal to or
lower than the Upper Limit, in each case as determined by the Calculation Agent.

N means the total number of calendar days within the relevant Interest Period.

n, means the number of Business Days in the relevant Interest Period in respect of
which the Benchmark was equal to or greater than the Lower Limit and equal to or
lower than the Upper Limit, in each case as determined by the Calculation Agent.

N, means the total number of Business Days within the relevant Interest Period.

Lower Limit means, in respect of the relevant Interest Period, the limit specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

Benchmark means, in respect of any calendar day (in respect of the definition of n)
or, as applicable, Business Day (in respect of the definition of ny) of the relevant
Interest Period, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms:

- if USD-LIBOR is specified as the applicable Benchmark in the Final Terms,
the rate equal to the Floating Rate for such day that would be determined by
the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if it were acting
as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an
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agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which the Floating
Rate Option is "USD-LIBOR-BBA" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) for a
period of the Designated Maturity as specified in the Final Terms (without
reference to any Reset Date). If on any Benchmark Day, such rate does not
appear on Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page, USD-LIBOR will be determined
by the Calculation Agent as aforesaid in accordance with the Floating Rate
Option "USD-LIBOR-Reference Banks" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions)
for a period of the Designated Maturity as specified in the Final Terms
(without reference to any Reset Date).

- if GBP-LIBOR is specified as the applicable Benchmark in the Final Terms,
the rate equal to the Floating Rate for such day that would be determined by
the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if it were acting
as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which the Floating
Rate Option is "GBP-LIBOR-BBA" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) for a
period of the Designated Maturity as specified in the Final Terms (without
reference to any Reset Date). If on any Benchmark Day, such rate does not
appear on Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page, GBP-LIBOR will be determined
by the Calculation Agent as aforesaid in accordance with the Floating Rate
Option "GBP-LIBOR-Reference Banks" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions)
for a period of the Designated Maturity as specified in the Final Terms
(without reference to any Reset Date).

- if EURIBOR is specified as the applicable Benchmark in the Final Terms,
the rate equal to the Floating Rate for such day that would be determined by
the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if it were acting
as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which the Floating
Rate Option is "EUR-EURIBOR-Reuters" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions)
for a period of the Designated Maturity as specified in the Final Terms
(without reference to any Reset Date). If on any Benchmark Day, such rate
does not appear on Reuters Screen EURIBOR01 Page, EURIBOR will be
determined by the Calculation Agent as aforesaid in accordance with the
Floating Rate Option "EUR-EURIBOR-Reference Banks" (as defined in the
ISDA Definitions) for a period of the Designated Maturity as specified in the
Final Terms (without reference to any Reset Date).

- if EUR-CMS is specified as the applicable Benchmark in the Final Terms,
the rate equal to the Floating Rate for such day that would be determined by
the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if it were acting
as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which the Floating
Rate Option is "EUR-ISDA-EURIBOR Swap Rate-11:00" (as defined in the
ISDA Definitions) for a period of the Designated Maturity as specified in the
Final Terms (without Reference to any Reset Date), and appearing on
Reuters Screen ISDAFIX2 Page as at 11.00 a.m. (Frankfurt time) under the
heading "EURIBOR BASIS — FRF" and above the caption "11:00 AM
FRANKFURT". If on any Benchmark Day, such rate does not appear on
Reuters Screen ISDAFIX2 Page, EUR-CMS will be determined by the
Calculation Agent as aforesaid in accordance with the Floating Rate Option
"EUR-Annual Swap Rate-Reference Banks" (as defined in the ISDA
Definitions) for a period of the Designated Maturity specified in the applicable
Final Terms (without reference to any Reset Date).
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- if USD-CMS is specified as the applicable Benchmark in the Final Terms,
the rate equal to the Floating Rate for such day that would be determined by
the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if it were acting
as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which the Floating
Rate Option is "USD-ISDA-Swap Rate" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions)
for a period of the Designated Maturity as specified in the Final Terms
(without Reference to any Reset Date), and appearing on Reuters Screen
ISDAFIX1 Page as at 11.00 a.m. (New York time). If on any Benchmark day,
such rate does not appear on Reuters Screen ISDAFIX1 Page, USD-CMS
will be determined by the Calculation Agent as aforesaid in accordance with
the Floating Rate Option "USD-CMS-Reference Banks" (as defined in the
ISDA Definitions) for a period of the Designated Maturity as specified in the
Final Terms (without reference to any Reset Date).

For the purposes hereof, (i) the value of the Benchmark on any calendar day of the
relevant Interest Period which is not a Benchmark Day shall be deemed to be the
value ascribed to the Benchmark on the first preceding Benchmark Day and (ii) the
value of the Benchmark on each of the last four TARGET2 Business Days of any
Interest Period shall be deemed to be the value ascribed to the Benchmark on the
fifth TARGET2 Business Day (or the Benchmark Day immediately preceding such
fifth TARGET2 Business Day if such fifth TARGET2 Business Day is not a
Benchmark Day) preceding the Interest Payment Date relating to such Interest
Period.

Benchmark Day means, if the relevant Benchmark is:

USD-LIBOR or GBP-LIBOR, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks
are open for business (including dealings in foreign exchange and deposit in USD) in
London;

EURIBOR or EUR-CMS, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which the
TARGET2 System is operating; and

USD-CMS, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are open for
business in New York.

Upper Limit means, in respect of the relevant Interest Period, the limit specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

(iv) Determination of Rate of Interest and calculation of Interest Amount in respect of
Variable Rate Notes

The Fiscal Agent, in the case of Floating Rate Notes, and the Calculation Agent, in the case
of all other Variable Rate Notes, will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the
Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest
Period. In the case of Variable Rate Notes except Floating Rate Notes, the Calculation Agent
will notify the Fiscal Agent of the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period as soon as
practicable after calculating the same (but in no event later than the first Business Day after
such calculation).

The Fiscal Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the Interest Amount) payable on the
Variable Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

(A) in the case of Variable Rate Notes which are Uncertificated Notes or Notes
represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of
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the Notes of the relevant Series (or, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the
aggregate amount paid up); or

(B) in the case of Variable Rate Notes which are Definitive Bearer Notes or
Definitive Registered Notes, the Calculation Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding
the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such
sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market
convention. Where the Specified Denomination of a Variable Rate Note which is a Definitive
Bearer Note or a Definitive Registered Note is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the
Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note shall be the product of the amount
(determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by
which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any
further rounding.

Variable Rate Notes may provide for a method of calculating interest which does not require
any Day Count Fraction as interest payable on each specified Interest Payment Date is
determined by applying the Rate of Interest to the Specified Denomination as it shall be set
out in the applicable Final Terms and/or Schedule thereto.

(v) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amount

The Fiscal Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amount for each Interest
Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, the Guarantor and
any stock exchange on which the relevant Variable Rate Notes are for the time being listed
and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as possible after
the calculation or determination thereof (provided that, in the case of notification to any stock
exchange, such notice will be given by no later than the first day of the relevant Interest
Period or, if that is impossible due to the date fixed for such determination or calculation, as
soon as practicable on or after such date). Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date
so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by
way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the
Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange on
which the relevant Variable Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 14. For the purposes of these Conditions, the expression
Luxembourg Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which
banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in Luxembourg.

(c) Zero Coupon Notes

Where a Zero Coupon Note becomes due and repayable and is not paid when due, the amount due
and repayable shall be the amount determined in accordance with Condition 6(h) and notified in
accordance with Condition 4(b)(v), mutatis mutandis.

(d) Physical Delivery Notes and Dual Currency Notes

The rate or amount of interest payable in respect of Physical Delivery Notes or Dual Currency Notes
shall be determined in the manner, and by the party, specified in the applicable Final Terms and notified
in accordance with Condition 4(b)(v), mutatis mutandis.

(e) Partly Paid Notes

In the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), interest
will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and/or otherwise as specified in
the applicable Final Terms.
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(f) Accrual of Interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will
cease to bear interest (if applicable) from the due date for its redemption unless payment of principal
(or, in the case of any Physical Delivery Note, transfer of the Underlyi